1. ALETTER

DEVIPUR,
February 17, 1947

My reply to your previous letter was still pending when | got
this second one from you. But there was nothing in your first letter
that needed immediate reply. At present there is great strain on me,
both physical and mental. My work here instead of getting easier is
becoming more difficult each day, as oppsition is increasing. All the
same, my faith and courage are steadily growing. After all, | am here
to do or die, am | not? There is no middle course here. . . .* It is not
certain when the third stage of my tour will begin. | have to reach
Haimchar on the 24th. . . .2 The further programme will depend on
how exhausted | feel. | shall be satisfied if God sustains me through
the programme even up to the 24th.

[From Gujarati]

Eklo Jane Re, p. 144

2. ADVICE TO A CONGRESS WORKER®

DEVIPUR,

February 17, 1947

Did you realize that by indulging in this vain display you would

acerbate communal passions? This display means nothing to me. . .*

but it will leave a legacy of ill-will behind which will continue to

poison the communal relations in this village for along time to come.

You are a Congressman. Did not it occur to you, knowing my strong

views on khadi, that ribbons and buntings made of mill cloth would
only hurt me?

| wouldn't have felt so hurt if, instead of floral decorations, you
had presented me with garlands of yarn. They are decorative, and

! Omissions as in the source

% Ibid

® A grand reception had been arranged for Gandhiji at Devipur. The village had
been decorated with flags, buntings, streamers and garlands of yarn. It jarred on
Gandhiji. As soon as his weekly silence was over, he sent for the principal worker.

* Omission asin the source
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afterwards can be used for making cloth also. So nothing is wasted. It
seems there is alot of money in this village. Otherwise you would
never have thought of making such costly ephemeral garlands in these
hard times. Y ou are mistaken if you have done this to express your
love for me. That does not show your love at all. It is enough if, out of
love for me, you do as | say. | just cannot imagine how after this
terrible massacre of your own people you could ever think of
spending anything over these flowers.*

The day’ s experience has set me thinking furiously. Would my
colleagues, too, if they ever became Ministers, betray the same
weakness for garlands and the like? | claim no extraordinary virtue
for my workers. But this much | do expect of them that even as
Ministers they would never forget the ideals that the Congress has
professed and fought for all these years. What | have seen today,
however, makes me wonder whether | am not living in a fool's
paradise. It seems that God has woken me up with a rude shock to
enable me to see where | stand.

Mahatma Gandhi—The Last Phase, Vol. |, Book II, p. 191; and Eklo Jane Re,
p. 146

3. SPEECH AT PRAYER MEETING?

DEVIPUR,
February 17, 1947

Gandhiji drew attention to two things that had been brought to his notice. The
first was that a complaint, in sending which he was unfortunately an instrument, had
been found on enquiry by the officers to be without foundation. The articles which
were reported to have been looted were mostly found in the very place from where
they were said to have been looted. This was a serious matter. It was the second case
that had come under his notice. Y esterday some Muslim friends had come to him and
admitted that the Muslims had undoubtedly gone mad in October last but though they
had not been so bad as the Hindus had been in Bihar, the Hindus were making up for it
by putting the Muslims to inconvenience by lodging false complaints against some
of them. They said that false complaints were far larger in number than true ones. That
was not the way to bring the two together. He said that all those who lodged false
complaints should be prosecuted and severely punished on conviction. If he was the
Superintendent of Police or a Minister, he would certainly institute proceedings and

! This paragraph is translated from Eklo Jane Re.
2 Extracted from “ Gandhiji’s Walking Tour Diary”
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bring the perjurers to justice. As for himself, as a citizen desirous of serving his
country he would only be able to do something if the names and addresses of perjured
complainants were given to him. So far he had received no such names. The only case
that was sent to him could not be supported when the complainant was requested to
support his complaint. Generally he would say that the Hindus who lodged false
complaints injured themselves, their co-religionists and the whole country.

The other thing he wished to draw attention to was a letter he had received from
a responsible person who was doing the work of bringing about peace between the
two, that a Hindu lad was molested by some Muslims and that the latter had threatened
the Hindus that they were to expect more drastic measures than last October’s after he
had left Noakhali or, which was the same thing, after his death. He would like to think
that this statement was untrue, but he feared it was not. But he did hope that the
poison was restricted to a few illmannered persons. Whether, however, it was
restricted to a few or whether it was a widespread trait, he ventured to think it was
wholly against Islam. This he said with apologies to Fazlul Hug but no less firmly on
that account. It would be an evil day for Islam or for any religion when it was
impatient of outside criticism. He did not believe himself to be an outsider. He
respected |slam as he respected every other religion as his own and therefore he
claimed to be a sympathetic and friendly critic. It was up to every good Muslim to
take up a firm and unequivocal stand against what he believed to be vicious
propaganda.

Harijan, 16-3-1947

4. ANOTE!

ALUNIA,
February 18, 1947

| was very much upset today. Such is my nonattachment. | felt
disgusted with myself. | even wonder whether | am really going to
pass the test of my ahimsa. It is God’s infinite kindness that He bears
with me and sustains me.

Bevigilant.
BAPU
[From Guijarati]

Eklo Jane Re, p. 148

! Gandhiji wrote thisin Manu Gandhi’ s diary just after the morning prayers.
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5. LETTERTO M. A. ABDULLA

NOAKHALI,
February 18, 1947

When all parties become displeased with one it is generally a
sure sign of one’s having done one’'s duty. May it be so with you.

Mahatma Gandhi—The Last Phase, Vol. 11, p. 399

6. LETTER TO HARI SINGH GOUR

KAZIRKHIL,
RAMGANJP.S.,

NOAKHALI DISTT.,
February 18, 1947

DEAR SIR HARI SINGH GOUR,
| have yours of the 5th February delivered to me only today.
Please do not ask me to make any public statement. With the support
of so many distinguished men whom you mention you should find no
difficulty. My own way of thinking always tells me that everything
which has intrinsic merit succeeds sooner than later because it islike a
straight line which is the shortest distance between any two points. If
you have the League support your project will have plain sailing. But
| see that you had not even an acknowledgement from Quaid-e-Azam
Jinnah at the time you wrote to me. | hope you will secure his

approval.

Your sincerly,

From a copy: Pyarelal Papers. Nehru Memorial Museum and Library. Courtesy:
Beladevi Nayyar and Dr. Sushila Nayyar

! The addressee, Superintendent of Police, who was transferred from Noakhali
to Murshidabad District, had, in his letter dated February 11, said: “. . . Some Calcutta
Muslims told me that the Chief Minister got annoyed with me because | did not take
action to prevent police and military zulum (oppression) upon the Muslims. . . .
Another source informs . . . that my differences . . . with some British officers were
thereal cause. . . . Government . . . gave different statements to different parties. . . |
do not bother . . . aslong as | am sure that my conscience is quite clear.”
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7. LETTER TO RUKMINI DEVI ARUNDALE*

KAZIRKHIL,

RAMGANJP.S.,

NOAKHALI DISTT.,

February 18, 1947

| have yours of the 6th instant delivered to me today. Much as |

should like to have you here you can have no idea of the trouble you

have to undergo in coming here unless you travel by air transport.

Even so | amin apart of the country where there are no motor-roads

worth the name. | am at a far distance from the nearest aerodrome

which isin Comilla. | am in no mood to shoulder any burden whilst |
am carrying the one in Noakhali.

| am in full agreement with you that the worthy project that Dr.
Arundale initiated has to be carried to fruition and that most of all by
you. Of course | love to see you, veena in hand, leading the people
into the way of truth and peace.

SHRIMATI RUKMINI DEVI
PRESIDENT
KALAKSHETRA

ADYAR

MADRAS

From a copy: Pyarelal Papers. Nehru Memorial Museum and Library. Courtesy:
Beladevi Nayyar and Dr. Sushila Nayyar

8. LETTER TO MANILAL B. DEXAI
February 18, 1947

CHI. MANILAL,

Y our letter of November 14, 1946 reached me only three or
four days ago. Such is the confusion here. You have, of course
relieved me of my worries and so | feel completely at ease.

I think amost all the questions in your letter have been
answered in my last letter to you. Jehangirji and Dr. Dinshaw must be
among the trustees, for they are completely loyal and were members

! Eminent dancer and wife of the English Theosophist George Sydney
Arundale; founder of Kalakshetra, Madras
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of the original Trust. It might be objected that they did not fully agree
with my views. But | think that cannot be helped. | am sure they will
not do or order anything there against my wishes. The other trustees
to be selected will be persons who will have to be there. | approve of
Gulbai's name. About Maganbhai also | have written to you. If you
can be sure that the well can be sunk for anything up to four or five
thousand rupees, the expense is worth incurring. But let me know first
if anybody is prepared to give such assurance.

| would approve of a partner-cultivator, but not of loaning him
money for buying bullocks and other requirements. We are not
property-owners, but trustees. A trustee can be appointed only for a
specific purpose. Our object is Nature Cure. we cannot incur such
expenditure in pursuit of that object. We may do what is possible with
our own labour. In either case, however, we will need water. If,
therefore, you can obtain an assurance that the scheme will succeed,
we will incur the expenditure. About crops, we may grow only what
we can with our own labour. We can raise the vegetables and fruits we
need. We cannot grow foodgrains. We do need milk, and therefore the
provision of cows is essential. We have got to incur the expense
necessary for that purpose. If and when a building is ready, we shall
have to spend some money for buying mattresses, etc. If Datar himsel f
undertakes to ook after the construction of the building, | shall take it
that the problem has been solved. There has, of course, been some
misunderstanding in regard to the woman whom Appasaheb has sent,
but if sheis otherwise good and ready for hard work, we have no
option but to overlook her not wearing khadi. You may gradually
persuade her to change over to khadi. If you want, | am prepared to
write to Appasaheb. But think over the matter carefully and let me
know. | will wait till I hear from you.

| understand about Paramanand.

Parasuram has left me. At present he is working for Harijan.
Sushila (Dr.) has gone to Sevagram to look into the affairs of the
hospital there. Sushila Pai, Amtussalaam, Abha, Kanu and Pyarela
have been working in different villages and | am camping at some
distance from them. Therefore, we are unable to meet one another
often. A map of my tour has been published in the newspapers there
too. | suppose you consult it from time to time. Manu sleeps with me.
She is as a granddaughter to me, for her grandfather is the son of my
father's elder brother. Sheis, therefore, really a granddaughter to me.
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She came to stay with me at Sevagram when she was just alittle girl. |
have written about this matter to Balkoba.* He knows her. If you have
any comments to make after reading that letter, you may write to me.
| want you to write frankly and say what you feel.

Blessings from
BAPU

From a photostat of the Gujarati: C. W. 2731. Courtesy: Manilal B. Desai

9. LETTER TO BALKRISHNA BHAVE
February 18, 1947
CHI. BALKRISHNA,

Y our letter of November 14, 1946, reached me only three days
ago. Such isthe confusion in the postal arrangements here. It is also
true, of course that | am, from the point of view of posta
communication, in arather inaccessible place. Y our health seems to be
sufficiently restored now. Do you experience any difficulty in
singing? If you do not, you should freely use your gift for the service
of the people. But of course not at the cost of your health.

Y ou will seethe letter | have written to Manibhai. The problems
there are quite complicated and you will be able to play an important
part in solving them.

Probably you do not know that Manubehn (Jaisukhlal's) sleeps
with me. This has pained Bhai Kishorelal, Narahari, Swami and others
and they have, therefore, stopped their connection with Harijan.
Sardar also is very angry with me. For me Manu's sleeping with meis
a matter of dharma, and | am resolved to drive home the lesson that a
person cannot give up what is a matter of dharmato him for the love
of those who are dear to him or out of fear of anybody. If in a
situation like this | give up what | believe to be my dharma through
fase regard for friends or fear or love, my yajna would remain
incomplete and bear no fruit. Thisis my side of the case. Kishorelal's
side, asfar as | can understand it, is the opposite. He thinks that | have
come to regard adharma as dharma and that, therefore, my practice
dishonours my brahmacharya and sets a bad example to people. The
thought that a man like me should set a bad example is intolerable to

! Balkrishna Bhave; vide the following item.
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them, and, therefore, these friends have started non-co-operation with
me. They are free to take whatever further step they choose. | do not
know what Vinoba thinks. But the friends named above have
corresponded with him and therefore | also have written to him and
asked for his opinion.* Either be guided by Vinoba's reply to my
letter or think for yourself and write to me what you think. | have
discussed this matter in three of my speeches. | send copies herewith.
Y ou need not return them. Show them to the friends there.

As regards Gokhale, | have aready written to him. | had
assumed that he had not joined the Uruli experiment and, therefore,
did not mention his name. | had no intention at all of ignoring him.
But thisis merely in reply to your query.

Blessings from
BAPU

From a photostat of the Gujarati: C. W. 820. Courtesy: Balkrishna Bhave

10. LETTER TO SARLA
February 18, 1947
CHI. SARLA,

| got your letter. The characters are well formed and the words
well spaced out, and the handwriting, therefore, is pleasing to the eye.
However, your composite letters are not correct. Y ou have misspelt
‘gram’.

| am glad you wish to come to me. But there are bound to be all
kinds of problems when | am daily on the move and moving from
one village to another. Touring through villages involves severa
inconveniences: insufficient accommodation, very bad water, and so
on. In such circumstances | simply don't have the courage to ask you
to come. 1, therefore, advise you to have some patience. God willing,
the time will come when you will be able to stay with me. | can see
from the account given by you that you are doing excellent work. Go
on with it and continue your progress. Master the art of weaving. If in
spinning also you acquire firstclass skill you can make yourself an
indispensable worker, for your services will then be in demand
everywhere. | am sure you will have improved your Marathi.

! Vide “Letter to Vinoba Bhave”, 10-2-1947
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Complete your study and learn everything about nature cure. Acquire
the highest proficiency in the Urdu script and language. Learn
Sanskrit. And all this you should do as if you were merely amusing
yourself. If you do so, you will not even know how time passes. Keep
up contact with me through letters. | am not happy that Shashi's' fever
has still not left him. If you study nature cure all over again—and it is
easy to study it—you yourself will be able to cure it. All that is
necessary is to be careful about his diet and give him hipbath and
frictionbath and treat him with mud-packs. If thisis done, he will soon
get well. He should of course remain calm.

Blessings from

BAPU

From a photostat of the Gujarati: C. W. 1052. Courtesy: Champa R. Mehta

11. SPEECH AT PRAYER MEETING *

ALUNIA ,
February 18, 1947

Q. Do you support evacuation of the Hindus from the affected areas if the
L eague Government or the majority community agrees to give us due compensation?

A. He had supported the proposition from the non-violent standpoint. It was
applicable to all Provinces whether the majority was Hindu or Muslim. What could
the Government do if the majority had become so hostile that they would not tolerate
the presence of the minority community? In his opinion it would be improper for
them to force the majority into submission, nor could they undertake to protect the
minority at the point of the bayonet. Suppose for instance that the majority would
not tolerate Ram

Harijan, 16-3-1947

1 Son of Ratilal Mehta
2 Extracted from " Gandhiji's Walking Tour Diary"
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12. TELEGRAM TO A. FAZLUL HUQ

[On or after February 18, 1947]*

THANKS FOR YOUR WIRE. DO OVERTAKE ME AT
ANY STAGE OF SETTLED PROGRAMME PUBLISHED AND
WE SHALL RENEW OUR OLD ACQUAINTANCE
AND IF YOU CONVINCE ME | SHALL DO
YOUR BIDDING.

The Hindu, 21-2-1947

13. LETTER TO MRIDULA SARABHAI

ALUNIA,
February 19, 1947
CHI. MRIDU,

| got your two telegrams, and that was yesterday. | am today
sending you atelegram in reply. You are worried but there is no cause
at all for worry. So far my life has been running its course smoothly.
More and more each day | see that it is all to the good. What | did at
Sevagram was by way of an experiment. An experiment may be
stopped any time. So for the sake of the colleagues, | had postponed
it. I did not publish the statement for your sake or Bapa’'s sake. Here
the situation is totally different. Sleeping with Manu is for me
aninseparable part of the yajna. Why it is so need not be explained
here. | shall explain when you come. Since this act of mine has caused
an uproar, a great deal of my timeis taken up with arguing with
colleagues and pacifying them. But inasmuch as | consider this act
part of the yajna, sparing that much time does not irk me. So you
should carry on your work without getting upset. If you want to come
only for this thing, | would urge you not to come. Kishorelalbhai by
himself should be sufficient to persuade me to desist. But you wanted
to come even otherwise, so | shall not stop you. Whatever it is, write to

me freely. Ask me anything you want.

Blessings from
BAPU

From the Gujarati original: C. W. 1260. Courtesy: Sarabhai Foundation

! The addressee, in a telegram, dated February 18, had requested Gandhiji for an
interview after February 23 and added: “Go to Bihar and bring about friendly relations
between the two communities and then hurry up to Delhi to save India.”
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14. TELEGRAM TO MRIDULA SARABHAI
[February 19, 1947]*

MRIDULABEHN

CONSTITUTION HOUSE

NEW DELHI

RECEIVED BOTH WIRES YESTERDAY. NOTHING LOST BY
PUBLICATION WHICH WAS INEVITABLE, FELT COMPELLED
WRITE FRIENDS BUT COME WHEN YOU CONVENIENTLY
CAN  AND DISCUSS. IF | PERCEIVE  THAT | HAVE ERRED

SHALL GLADLY RETRACE STEP. MEANWHILE DO NOT
FEEL UNEASY.

BAPU

From a copy: Pyarelal Papers. Nehru Memorial Museum and Library. Courtesy:
Beladevi Nayyar and Dr. Sushila Nayyar

15. SPEECH AT PRAYER MEETING?

CHARDUKHIA,
February 19, 1947

Q. What should a Hindu worker do when he is being deliberately
misrepresented by interested parties in Noakhali?

A. The answer in terms of ahimsa, generally, would be that acts should be
allowed to speak for themselves. Whilst this was good as a general proposition there
were occasions when to speak and explain was a duty and not to speak would amount
to falsehood. Therefore wisdom dictated that on occasions speech must accompany
action. Of course, one could conceive the possibility of mere thought taking the
place of speech and action. Such was the attribute of the Almighty and might be
almost possible for onein abillion, but he knew no such instance.

Q. You have advised® evacuation if the majority become irrevocably hostile.
But you have also maintained that a truly nonviolent man should never give up hope
of converting his opponent by love. Under these circumstances, how can a
nonviolent man accept defeat and evacuate?

! Vide the preceding item.
2 Extracted from “Gandhiji’s Walking Tour Diary”
® Vide the preceding page.
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A. Astothisquestion, it was perfectly correct that a non-violent man would
not move out of his place. For such a one there would be no question of
compensation. He would simply die at his post and prove that his presence was not a
danger to the State or the community. He knew that the Hindus of Noakhali made no
such pretension. They were simple folk who loved the world and wanted to live in the
world in peace and safety. Such persons would consult their honour if the Government
honourably offered them compensation in order to see the majority living in peace. If
the mere presence of the Hindus irritated the Muslims who were in the majority, he
would consider it to be the duty of the Government to offer compensation as it would
be of the Government in a Hindu majority province to offer compensation to the
Muslims if their presence irritated the majority community.

Q. Incase of evacuation, under advice from the Government, should the
evacuees ask for compensation for (a) all their movable and immovable property, (b)
loss of business? In other words, what would you consider to be adequate
compensation?

A. Gandhiji said that the Government would be obliged to compensate for
both immovable and movable property when the latter could not be or were not
carried away with him by the evacuee. Loss of business was a ticklish question. He
could not conceive the possibility of any Government shouldering the burden of such
compensation. He would understand the proposition that asked for a reasonable sum
for enabling the person concerned to start business in a new place.

Whilst he examined and admitted the possibility of evacuation, his experience
of all Indiatold him that the Hindus and the Muslims knew how to live at peace
among themselves. He declined to believe that people had said goodbye to their
senses so as to make it impossible to live at peace with each other as they had done
for generations. For he believed with the late poet Igbal that the Hindus and the
Muslims who had lived together long under the shadow of the mighty Himalayas and
had drunk the waters of the Ganges and the Jamuna had a unique message for the world.

Harijan, 16-3-1947
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16. EXTRACT FROM THE DIARY

February 19, 1947

On this day*, and exactly at thistime (7.35 p. m.) Ba quitted her
mortal frame three years ago®.

Mahatma Gandhi—The Last Phase, VVol. |, Book 11, p. 195

17. ALETTER®

BIRAMPUR,
February 19, 1947

Ba passed away on this day and at thistime at 7.35 p. m. The
recitation was attended by the guests who had recently arrived. |
vividly recalled this fact during the yajna today, one reason being
Manudi herself. She completed the recitation quickly, all by herself.
In the Aga Khan Palace, too, were we not alone? When, therefore, after
the Chapter VI | stretched myself and dozed off alittle, | felt asif Ba
was lying with her head on my lap.

[From Guijarati]
Eklo Jane Re, p. 154

18. LETTERTO M. A. ABDULLAH

NOAKHALLI,
February 20, 1947

According to the letter* under reply there is not much to choose
between the two districts. | suppose a police officer having to deal with
crimes, will naturally spot first the weakness of the society to which he
goes. It flatters me to think that you will miss my association in
Berhampore. | am sure that would be a temporary phase only, and in
any case it can be well made up by correspondence.

Mahatma Gandhi—The Last Phase, Vol. 11, p. 399

' Mahashivaratri Day, Magha Vad Chaturdashi, traditionally observed with
fast and worship of Lord Shiva. Gandhiji observed it as“aday of fasting and prayer”.

2 On February 22, 1944

® This was addressed to one of Manu Gandhi’s sisters.

“In his letter dated February 15, the addressee had said: “I miss here nothing
except your valuable and instructive association, which | enjoyed so long at
Noakhali.”
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19. LETTER TO E. STANLEY JONES

KAZIRKHIL,
RAMGANJP.S.,

NOAKHALI DISTT.,,
February 20, 1947
DEAR DR. STANLEY JONES',

It almost appears as if you had never gone to America. Trains
and steamers have very effectively reduced distances. Air transport
marks a further stage in that reduction. Nevertheless, | am not satisfied
that it has increased the real happiness of mankind.

Y ou have kindly referred to my tour in Noakhali. The result is
in God’'s hands. Y ou have mentioned Bihar in the same breath. | do
think that the Bihar crime was much greater than that of Noakhali in
magnitude. Man became brute, | hope temporarily only in both the
places. But | haven't yet seen the light leading me to Bihar. If | can
see that, | should have no hesitation in going there. | am in constant
touch with the ministers and the people of Bihar. So far as | can see
there is real repentance. But | cannot positively swear that | am not
being misled. Immediately | feel the call | should interrupt my work
in Noakhali and hasten to Bihar. All | can say today isthat | am on
the watch. One thing | would add. | have come here to put my Ahimsa
to test. | have no misgiving as to the effect of Ahimsa. But | am fully
conscious that I may not know the whole technique and may not even
be living up to what | do know. Therefore, | have submitted myself
for examination here. Hence, if that examination demands my
presence in Bihar | shall go.

| am glad you are organizing vigils of prayer. Asto the letter
you have enclosed’ | do not know that | can render any servicein the
shape of sending a contribution. | do not think that | can send
anything effective.

From a copy: Pyarelal Papers. Nehru Memorial Museum and Library. Courtesy:
Beladevi Nayyar and Dr. Sushila Nayyar

! American missionary, author of The Christ of the Indian Road, etc.
2 Vide the following item.
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20. LETTER TO ROBERT A. FANGMEIER

KAZIRKHIL,
RAMGANJP.S.,

NOAKHALI DISTT.,
February 20, 1947
DEAR FRIEND,

| have your letter through Dr. Stanley Jones. Please do not ask
me for any article at the present moment. Whilst | am shouldering the
present burden, | have neither the time nor the inclination to go
outside the present task. Remuneration would have been no

consideration for | never write for remuneration.

Your sincerly,

ROBERT A. FANGMEIER, ERSQ.
1236 11TH STREET, N.W.

WASHINGTON 1, D.C.

From a copy: Pyarelal Papers. Nehru Memorial Museum and Library. Courtesy:
Beladevi Nayyar and Dr. Sushila Nayyar

21. LETTER TO P. N. BANERJEE

ASFROM KAZIRKHIL,
RAMGANJP.S.,
NOAKHALI DISTT.,
February 20, 1947
DEAR FRIEND,

Dr. Amiya Chakravarty has handed me your affectionate letter'.
Much as | should like to give you a decisive answer | cannot do so
and, therefore, | would not trouble you to come to this part of the
country to fix up the programme and to appoint a convenient date.
My hands are tied up here and | dare not leave this place until real
peace is established which may never be during my lifetime. In that
case, as | have said repeatedly, | should finish the rest of my lifein the
attempt here. But of course man can only propose. God disposes. It is
just possible that | might have to go to Bihar so as to be better able to
do the work here. But | do not think ahead of the future. In the words

! In which the addressee had requested Gandhiji to preside over the Annual
Convocation of the University of Calcutta.
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of Cardinal Newman ‘one step is enough for me’.* Forthe rest Dr.
Chakravarty will be able to tell you all for | had along conversation?
with him.

Your sincerly,

From a copy: Pyarelal Papers. Nehru Memorial Museum and Library. Courtesy:
Beladevi Nayyar and Dr. Sushila Nayyar

22. LETTER TO GOPINATH BARDOLOI

ASFROM KAZIRKHIL,
RAMGANJP.S.,

NOAKHALI DISTT.,,
February 20, 1947

DEAR BARDOLOI®,

Y our letter of the 14th instant. Nirmal Babu who saw your letter
suggested that one of his pupils might be induced to do the work
mentioned by you. He will write to you as soon as he has heard from
his pupil.

| hope all your troubles will dissolve.

From a copy: Pyarelal Papers. Nehru Memorial Museum and Library. Courtesy:
Beladevi Nayyar and Dr. Sushila Nayyar

23. LETTER TO CHANDRANI

February 20, 1947

CHI. CHAND,

| had atalk with Dev* today. The subject was whether or not you
two may write to each other. He says that he would rather that | wrote
to you and gave him news of your health than that he should write to
you. Hence this letter. Otherwise | had no intention of writing to you
today.

Now please write to me what you feel about this matter. Give me
full news of your health. Y ou should never neglect your health. How
is your work progressing?

You should know well Gujarati, Marathi and Urdu. You do

! The verse by Newman in his hymn “Lead Kindly Light” runs thus: “One step
enough for me | do not choose to see the distant scene Lead Thou me on.”

2 Vide “Discussion with Amiya Chakravarty”, 20-2-1947

® Prime Minister of Assam

* Dev Prakash Nayyar
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understand the reason.

Sushilabehn will give you all the news from here. Dev is doing
all the work that Pyarelal used to do for me. He shares a room with
me.

| hope your sister is steadfast in her vow.

Blessings from
BAPU

From a photostat of the Hindi: Chandrani Papers. Courtesy: Gandhi National
Museum and Library

24. DISCUSSION WITH AMIYA CHAKRAVARTY*

February 20, 1947

Even if | fail, truth will not have failed. | must strive and carry
this issue towards light. | live or perish in the attempt. Noakhali and
Tipperah are not an isolated problem but it is a problem which India
must solve for herself and for humanity. Fortunately or unfortunately
I have had success in the most difficult ventures of my life. But | do
not know what will happen this time. The greatest trial is given to us
but it is never beyond our power to overcome it.

Truth is God. And He is discoverable only to non-violence and
all it means. Here will be decided the clear issue. Those who think of
separation must know where we stand. Let the facts be faced. If people
will not tolerate differences in religion, usage, food, dress or
individuality and will insist on boycott, then they cannot do so without
the help of the Government which represents the people.

If boycott is the policy of the Government, we must know about
it. A community cannot take action by itself. Bengal as well as other
provinces must understand this.

As to changeability of human nature to normality, if opportunity was given,
Mahatma Gandhi said:
If | did not believe so, | would not be here.

Amrita Bazar Patrika, 24-2-1968

! Professor at Calcutta University; at one time served as secretary to
Rabindranath Tagore
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25. SPEECH AT PRAYER MEETING®

CHARLARUA,
February 20, 1947

Q. If you think the Government may boycott, i. e., remove the minority
community after giving adequate compensation, may not people take time by the
forelock and go?

A. Asto this he said that those who felt that they would take time by the
forelock and form a Hindu corporation to take the Hindus away, he had nothing in
common with them. He could not be party to any such scheme. The burden lay
entirely on the majority community and the Government. He merely meant that when
they declared bankruptcy of wisdom, the minority should go if they were adequately
compensated. The other way was the way of violence, i. e., civil war, not of non-
violence.

Q. You have said castes should go. But then will Hinduism survive? Why do
you thus mix up Hinduism with the progressive religions like Christianity or Islam?

A. Hemaintained that caste as it was understood must go if Hinduism was to
survive. He did not believe that Christianity and Islam were progressive and Hinduism
static, i. e., retrogressive. As a matter of fact he noticed no definite progress in any
religion. The world would not be the shambles it had become if the religions of the
world were progressive. There was room for varna, as a duty. This was true of all
religions whether the name used was other than varna. What was a Muslim Maulvi or a
Christian priest but a Brahmin if he taught his flock its true duty not for money but
because he possessed the gift of interpretation? And this was true of the other
divisions.

Q. Asyou are an advocate of the abolition of caste, are we to take it that you
favour intercaste marriages? Many occupations are now the monopoly of specific
castes. Should not this be abolished?

A. Hewas certainly in favour of intercaste marriage. The question did not
arise when all became casteless. When this happy event took place, monopoly of
occupations would go.

Q. If thereisonly one God, should there not be only one religion?

A. Thiswas a strange question. Just as a tree had a million leaves similarly
though God was one, there were as many religions as there were men and women
though they were rooted in one God. They did not see this plain truth because they
were followers of different prophets and claimed as many religons as there were
prophets. As a matter of fact whilst he believed himself to be a Hindu, he knew that he
did not worship God in the same manner as one or all of them.

Harijan, 16-3-1947

' Extracted from “ Gandhiji’s Walking Tour Diary”
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26. LETTERTO E. W. ARYANAYAKUM*

February 21, 1947

You have given me a cutting from the Hindustan Standard
purporting to report the views of Maulana Abul Kalam Azad® on
education. Assuming the correctness of the report | say categorically
that it is inconsistent with the line followed by the Hindustani Talimi
Sangh. It isin the villages of India where Indialives, not in the few
Westernized cities which are the citadels of aforeign power.

I do not believe that the State can concern itself or cope with
religious education. | believe that religious education must be the sole
concern of religious associations. Do not mix up religion and ethics. |
believe that fundamental ethicsis common to all religions. Teaching
of fundamental ethics is undoubtedly a function of the State. By
religion | have not in mind fundamental ethics but what goes by the
name of denominationalism. We have suffered enough from State-
aided religion and State Church. A society or a group, which depends
partly or wholly on State aid for the existence of its religion, does not
deserve or, better still, does not have any religion worth the name. | do
not need to give any illustrations in support of this obvious truth as it
isto me.

The second point deserving attention in the report in question is
regarding the replacing of the Urdu and Nagari scripts by the Roman
script. However attractive the proposition may appear to be and
whatever is true of the Indian soldiers, in my opinion the replacing
would be afatal blunder and we would find ourselves in the fire out of
the frying pan. In this connection, | would like you to read my
statement* on the subject issued to the Press on January 21 last.

The third thing that pained me was the reference to military
education. | think that we have to wait along time before a nationwide
decision on the point is made. Otherwise, we are likely to become a
curse rather than a blessing to the world. Leaders are not made, they

! Secretary, Hindustani Talimi Sangh. This appeared under the title “ Religious
Instruction, Military Training and the Roman Script.”

2 Member, Education and Arts in the Interim Government. He was reported to
have said : “It is likely that under State supervision even denominational teaching
can be imparted in a more liberal spirit than under private control. The aim of all
religious teaching should be to make men more tolerant and broad-minded and it is my
opinion that this can be more effectively done if the State takes charge of the
guestion than if it is left to private initiative.”

4 Vide “ Statement to the Press’, 2-2-1947
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are born. Should the State be in a hurry over this matter even before
full independence is established? Therefore, | am surprised that the
Central Advisory Board should be party to such a sweeping
recommendation as they have made.*

Harijan, 23-3-1947

27. LETTERTO P. R. CHENGALVAROYA CHETTIAR

KAZIRKHIL, RAMGANJP. S.,
NOAKHALI DISTRICT,
February 21, 1947
DEAR CHENGALVAROYAN,

Many thanks for your letter. Real forgiveness accrues to him
who is truly penitent. Harilal? knows that when he has shed his evil
habits he will be welcome in Sevagram. All those good people who,
out of mistaken kindness, nurse [his] evil habits are his enemies.

Hereis aletter® for him.
Yours sincerely,

M. K. GANDHI
P. R. CHENGALVAROYA CHETTIAR
40 VENKATACHALA CHETTY STREET
TRIPLICANE, MADRAS
From a photostat: G. N. 102

! The recommendations of the Central Advisory Board of Education were as
follows : “The Central Board of Education has endorsed the view of the Working
Committee of the National War Academy that residential schools, where boys may
obtain adequate facilities for developing the character and powers of leadership,
should be started by provinces and States to act as ‘feeders’ for the National War
Academy. The Board is of opinion that the new type of schools contemplated in the
scheme of National Post War Education will provide the necessary training for the
leadership, character, intelligence, courage and physical fitness required by the
military authorities for the Army, Navy and Air Force. It directs the attention of
provincial authorities to the necessity of developing their schools on these lines
which will actually serve as the kind of schools which the military authorities havein
mind...."

? Harilal Gandhi, eldest son of Gandhiji

® The letter is not available
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28. LETTER TO MUNNALAL G. SHAH
February 21, 1947

CHI. MUNNALAL,
| got your long letter yesterday. Manu* read it out to me in the
evening.

What you say about cultivation is absolutely correct. We should
grow as much grain as we can and give it to the people. We did this
once at Sabarmati. Were you there at that time? We raised abajra crop
out of season and gave potfuls of it to the poor people. We did, of
course, charge them something. Vrajlal? used to spend the whole day
in distributing the grain to labourers. Something like that should be
done at Sevagram too, and that on a much larger scale. Money should
be no difficulty. Y ou may show this to anybody you like.

| was indeed very happy to learn about Kanchan®. May her
delivery pass off without difficulty. | cannot judge whether her plan
of going to Vyaraisright or not. Sushilabehn® is going there and she
might be able to guide you better. It is very good that Kanchan’s
sister has arrived there. It is as well that you are looking after the
building work. That work also had to be done by somebody. You are
an expert at the job.

My fate lies entirely in God’s hands. If | am able to accomplish
my mission here® and leave Bengal, | will certainly go there. But | do
not know whether | shall succeed. If | should die in my attempt here, |
would welcome such a death. Y our running down here will serve no
purpose. If you have learnt anything from me, build further on it. If
you happen to come to this side and call on me incidentally, that
would be another matter. | had an excellent letter from Kanchan, but
have had no time to reply to it. Now lying in bed | dictate letters to
Manu and to othersif the letters are in other languages. | am thus able
to give sufficient rest to the body and cope with the correspondence to
a certain extent. There are some newspaper correspondents with us
and they also help. Their help partly makes up for Parasram’s’

! Daughter of Jaisukhlal Gandhi

2 An Ashram inmate

¥ Addressee’ swife

* Sushila Nayyar

® Gandhiji had gone to Noakhali on November 6, 1946 and had been touring
on foot from village to village from January 2, 1947 to establish peace and
communal harmony.

® Gandhiji’s stenographer who accompanied him during part of the Noakhali
tour. Vide “ Statement to the Press’, 20-11-1946 and “ L etter to Parasuram”, 2-1-1947
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absence. | dictate Urdu letters to Dev* and Bengali letters to Nirmal
Babu?. Thus my correspondence work seems to be well arranged now
and | am able to spare both my hands and eyes. That | do not write to
Kanchan should not mean that she need not write to me.

Blessings from
BAPU

From a photostat of the Gujarati: G. N. 8628. Also C. W. 7210. Courtesy:
Munnalal G. Shah

29. SPEECH AT PRAYER MEETING®

KAMALAPUR,
February 21, 1947

Gandhiji congratulated the audience on having come from the surrounding
villages. He however sympathized with them for being exposed to the sun. He also
hoped that they were not afraid of the Indian sun, perhaps the greatest gift from God.
Happy was India which had clear blue sky for the larger part of the year.

He then referred to the fact that he had gone to Chandpur more than once whilst
India's grand old son Shri Haradayal Nag* was alive. He was then his guest. He knew,
therefore, what importance Chandpur had. He was glad that Chandpur had played its
part in looking after the refugees. But he deplored the disregard of the laws of
sanitation and cleanliness. If they rigidly carried out these rules they would not have
to live in constant dread of the plague and other diseases which were the brood of
insanitation.

He then told them that they must not harbour ill will against their Muslim
neighbours. He appealed to both the parties to live at peace with each other. But he
held that even if the Hindus alone harboured no ill will against the Muslims, or vice
versa, strife would abate. If however both harboured ill will, one against the other,
strifes were bound to be the result. There was a mantra in the Upanishads [which says]
that man became what he thought.® How true it was found in every walk of life! Let
them beware of harbouring an evil thought.

! Devprakash Nayyar

2 Nirmal Kumar Bose, a professor of Calcutta University, was touring with
Gandhiji as his“companion and interpreter”. Vide “ Silence-Day Note to N. K. Bose”,
18-11-1946 and “Statement to the Press’, 20-11-1946

¥ Extracted from “Gandhiji’s Walking Tour Diary”

* (1853-1942); participated in the non-co-operation movement and Salt
Satyagraha; devoted his life to constructive work

® “ According as one acts, according as one behaves, so does he become. The
doer of good becomes good, the doer of evil becomes evil. One becomes virtuous by
virtuous action. Others, however, say that a person consists of desires. Asis his
desire, so is hiswill; asis hiswill, so is the deed he does, whatever deed he does, that
he attains.” Brihadanranyakopanishad, 1V. 4.5
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He then came to the two questions before him. The first was:

Q. You advocate inter-caste marriages. Do you also favour marriages between
Indians professing different religions? Should they declare themselves as belonging
to no denomination, or can they continue their old religious practices and yet inter-
marry? If so, what form should the marriage ceremony take? Isit to be a purely civil
function or areligious function? Do you consider religion to be an exclusively
personal matter?

A . Though he admitted that he had not always held the view, he had come to
the conclusion long ago, that an inter-religious marriage was a welcome event
whenever it took place. His stipulation was that such a connection was not to be a
product of lust. In his opinion [if it was a product of lust]* it was no marriage. It was
illicit intercourse. Marriage in his estimation was a sacred institution. Hence there
must be mutual friendship, either party having equal respect for the religion of the
other. There was no question in this of conversion. Hence the marriage ceremony
would be performed by priests belonging to both faiths. This happy event could take
place when the communities shed mutual enmity and had regard for the religions of
the world.

Q. Should religious instruction form part of the school curriculum as
approved by the State? Do you favour separate schools for children belonging to
different denominations for facility of religious instruction? Or, should religious
instruction be left in the hands of private bodies? If so, do you think it is right for the
State to subsidize such bodies?

A . Asto this question he said that he did not believe in State religion even
though the whole community had one religion. State interference would probably
always be unwelcome. Religion was a purely personal matter. There were in reality as
many religions as minds. Each mind had a different conception of God from the other.
He was also opposed to State aid, partly or wholly, to religious bodies. For he knew
that an institution or group, which did not manage to finance its own religious
teaching, was a stranger to true religion. This did not mean that the State schools
would not give ethical teaching. Fundamental ethics were common to all religions.

Harijan, 16-3-1947

! From areport in Amrita Bazar Patrika
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30. LETTERTO H. S. SUHRAWARDY*

KAZIRKHIL,
RAMGANJP.S.,
NOAKHALI DISTT.,
FEBRUARY 22, 1947
DEAR FRIEND,

Sardar Niranjan Singh Gill> was with me yesterday having
returned from Bihar. He has prepared a memorandum which | have
glanced through. | suggested that he should submit it to you. Asit was
he had not shown it to the Prime Minister of Bihar. | told him that the
memorandum was incomplete without its being seen by the Prime
Minister. He perceived the appositeness of my remark and said that he
was going to send a copy to the Prime Minsiter. If he feels that any of
his inferences require correction he would make the correction and
pass it on to you.

There is one thing which he has recommended, namely, that |
should go to Bihar if only for a few days. As you will see
Dr. Mahmud also, if hisreport is correct, thinks likewise. I am in
constant correspondence with Dr. Mahmud. | want to check up the
statement with him. | am also writing to the Prime Minister. If he also
thinks likewise | will then interrupt my work here to go to Bihar.

| have seen in the newspapers a statement attributed to you
which reads like a jibe at me®. | would not expect that from you.
Therefore, | give you the credit for believing that | have the “Inner
Voice” to which | listen. My belief is that all mankind hasit. But the
outside din and noise have practically deadened it for the vast
majority of people. When that voice speaks | shall find myself in
Bihar without any further prompting.

Whilel am sending this to you | feel | ought not to omit
mention of the fact that things are not as good as they might be and
ought to be. | continue with some caution to worry the officials
immediately concerned.

BENGAL PREMIER

From a copy: Pyarelal Papers. Nehru Memorial Museum and Library. Courtesy:
Beladevi Nayyar and Dr. Sushila Nayyar

! An extract from this letter has been reproduced in “Letter to Amrit Kaur”,
22-2-1947

2 Of the Indian National Army, under whom a group of I.N.A. men were

working in Noakhali.
® The addressee had made a frivolous reference to Gandhiji’s “inner voice”
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31. LETTERTO AMRIT KAUR

KAZIRKHIL, RAMGANJP. S.,

NOAKHALI DISTRICT,
February 22, 1947

CHI. AMRIT,

Just as | am dictating to friend Rangaswamy* | get your letter
and | have interrupted the dictation in order to see your letter. | have
now read it and hasten to dictate my answer.

| have received all the letters referred to by you and | have sent
replies also. | can’'t recollect just now but | will seeif | can give you
the dates. | do hope that by the time this reaches you, you will have
recovered your voice fully.

Of course there is every chance of your getting back your Hindi
and Roman-Urdu dictionary. | don’t think | carry it with me. | will
enquire and send it to you, care of Sardar® as soon as | traceit.

Thereis no cold here but thereis still afreshnessin the air. Real
hot weather has not set in. Nights are quite cool and | use all my
blankets. But there is no need to worry about me. | am keeping good
health and have been able hitherto to go through my programme with
clockwork regularity.

The second stage of the pilgrimage ends in Haimchar on
Monday, the 24th instant.® It is Thakkar Bapa's* headquarters. | want
to watch myself for afew days in Haimchar before resuming the third
stage. It may also be that | might have to hurry to Bihar®. Sardar
Niranjan Singh Gill®, who was in Bihar for three days, gave me the
impressions of histour and had strongly recommended that | should
go to Bihar if only for a few days. | have put myself in

! Correspondent of The Hindu

% Vallabhbhai Patel, Member, Home and Information and Broadcasting in the
Interim Government

® The first stage of Gandhiji’s walking tour had begun at Shrirampur on January
2 and the second stage commenced from Srinagar on February 5.

* A. V. Thakkar (1869-1951); President, Gujarat Antyaja Seva Mandir;
Secretary, Harijan Sevak Sangh; Genera Secretary, Kasturba Gandhi National
Memorial Trust; established Bharatiya Adimjati Sevak Sangh.

® Where communal riots had broken out on October 25, 1946, which was
celeberated as Noakhali Day

® Of the Indian National Army, under whom a group of 1. N. A. men were
working in Noakhali
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communication with the Prime Minister of Bihar* and await his reply.

| begin the pilgrimage every day at 7.30 or 7.35 and the stages
are so divided as not to require me to walk more than one hour and
fifteen minutes at the most. The least | have been called upon to walk
is thirty minutes. Once and only once has it been one hour and thirty
minutes.

| seethat this dictionary business’ causes alot of worry and
takes away much of your time. Would you like to be relieved of that
work? If you would, | would then like to keep your dictionary for the
time being.

| am glad that the licensing clause in regard to khadi has been
removed. How | would love to think that you have carried conviction
to the Prime Minister® of the Punjab about vanaspati*; Pyarelal isin
hisvillage,® now about twenty miles from here, and doing excellent
work. Sushila has gone to Sevagram in order to put matters straight
about the maternity home and hospital. It is growing by leaps and
bounds and has become very popular. She may return to her village
work here as soon as she has finished her work in Sevagram. Renuka’
is here with me at the village. Her village is less than two miles from
here. In appearance she looks just as she was. She has had to take
great care of herself. But sheisall right otherwise. Only this morning
she enquired about you. | told her that | heard from you fairly
regularly but that you were trying to save my time as much as
possible. She asked me whether you were ever coming to this part of
India. | told her not whilst | was moving from day to day but that if |
stayed for any length of time in one place and if you are well and
available from your work in the Assembly or otherwise, | would like
you to come for afew days, and she was happy. She is doing her work
steadily with her little band of workers.

Manu | have reserved to the last. Everybody here knows
everything about her. Therefore | would love to say aword or two for

! Shrikrishna Sinha

> The reference is to the English-into-Hindustani dictionary published
fortnightly in Harijan, from September 1, 1946. It was originally intended to be the
joint effort of afew co-workers but had subsequently to be taken up by the addressee

® Khizar Hyat Khan Tiwana

* Hydrogenated vegetable oil

* The workers accompanying Gandhiji had spread themselves out in the
villages of Noakhali. Vide “ Statement to the Press’, 20-11-1946

¢ Renuka Ray

26 THE COLLECTED WORKS OF MAHATMA GANDHI



your information. But | must forbear for it is now towards one
o'clock and | must have a little bit of rest and grease on the soles of
my feet.

Love.
BAPU
[PS]
Keep both the shawls with you. Give them to me when we meet.
Have you given your consent to the Central Advisory Board's
recommendation® regarding military training?
Blessings from
BAPU
From the original: C. W. 4190. Courtesy: Amrit Kaur. Also G. N. 7826

32. LETTER TO SHRIKRISHNA SINHA

KAZIRKHIL,
RAMGANJP.S.,

NOAKHALI DISTT.,
FEBRUARY 22, 1947
SHRIKRISHNA SINHA,

| dictate thisto you in English in order that it might be easier
for you to make public use of my letter which I hope will never be
necessary.

Sardar Niranjan Singh Gill saw me yesterday and gave me a
report which he has prepared with reference to his summary visit to
Bihar. | suggested that he should send you a copy so as to enable you
to correct any mis-statement into which he might have been betrayed.
| advised him too to send a copy to the Prime Minister of Bengal,
advising him at the same time that he should mark the copy as
confidential till it has been checked by you and your corrections, if
any, had been accepted by him and the Memorandum accordingly
corrected. | hope you have got the Memorandum.

There is one thing in it which refers to me. Dr. Syed Mahmud
and others would like me to visit Bihar. Sardar Niranjan Singh Gill
endorses the suggestion. Do you feedl likewise? Please tell me
unhesitatingly what you feel.

Now that you have announced your Ministry’s decision to
appoint an impartial enquiry commission as soon as possible | remind

' Vide footnote 1, “Letter to P. R. Chengalvaroya Chettiar”, 21-2-1947
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you of the proverb “he gives twice who givesin time”.

BIHAR PREMIER

From a copy: Pyarelal Papers. Nehru Memorial Museum and Library. Courtesy:
Beladevi Nayyar and Dr. Sushila Nayyar

33. ALETTER

February 22, 1947

| say you cannot tread this path (the path of brahmacharya) if
you fight shy of the thorns, stones and pitfalls in the way. Maybe we
shall stumble, our feet will bleed, we may even perish. But we dare not
turn back.

* * *

If I am successful, the world will be enriched by my venture. If
on the other hand | am found to be a fraud or a misled fool, the world
will reject me and | shall be debunked. In either case the world will be
the gainer. Thisis as clear to me as two and two make four.

Mahatma Gandhi — The Last Phase, Vol. I, Bk. I, p. 223

34. LETTER TO PYARELAL

February 22, 1947
CHI. PYARELAL,

Itis 6.15 now and | must stretch myself. And if | feel sleepy, |
must sleep. That is why | am dictating this letter. | read your lessons
and | like them. It would not do your spoiling your handwriting and
then asking to be forgiven. Asking forgiveness every now and again
would be like following the English practice. That would not be
proper. Your handwriting should be such that you do not have to ask
forgiveness at al. You may write less. If you resolve that whatever you
write will be in a beautiful handwriting, writing Manu’s lessons in a
beautiful handwriting will not be burdensome to you. Duty should
never be a burden. And it is one’s duty to make one’ s handwriting
beautiful like beads. In spite of knowing this | myself do not follow
this. You should consider it afailing on my part, and not imitate me in
this.

| have sampled your other roti too. It was harder and there must
be something lacking in it. If you have started making roti and if you
have decided to do it, why not do it the way you formerly did? In
other words you had started mixing in it lime or tamarind juice or
tomato juice. If you do that, the roti will be lighter and easily
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morespongy. In case you do not do that, | have already
suggested bhakhri. It would turn out nice if you add sufficient oil in
the dough. Do not think that you have to send it to me. Y ou may send
it whenever it is convenient to do so.

Sushila’ s letter is enclosed. | am very much impressed by it. If
sheis able to act according to the wish she has expressed in it, | shall
consider it a great triumph in this yajna. Y ou must also encourage
her. Have | not told you that you, Sushila and Manu could play the
greatest role in the success of this yajna. And even there, Manu would
be undergoing the severest test. The indications so far are good. Its
complete success would no doubt depend very largely on my own
efficiency. On the one hand is the gravest doubt on the part of
Kishorelal and others and on the other my stubbornness. My mind is
oscillating between the two. But it bends more towards action.

Thereis only to act, not to think about the reward.

My letter to Parasram could go only yesterday. It was merely
negligence on my part. What could | do? Once the letter goesin the
file, it is immediately forgotten. The moral of the thing is that
everything should be promptly attended to. Whatever comes later,
should also be taken up later. The diary came into my hand only
yesterday. | am sending the previous one today.

At night, February 22, 1947

| have your second letter. | have already told Dev to send the
roti tin. I do not know if it has been sent or not. And Dev is not here
at present. | shall send William's letter. It would be a great feat on
your part if Kalu Mian recovers. It is of course good that you are
writing to him. | am writing about him to Kul Ranjan. He may be able
to suggest something. Y ou try applying mud-pack even on the eyes. |
am doing it everyday. | am not using a piece of cloth now but
applying the earth direct. Needless to say that the eyes must be kept
closed. Jaya' s letter is enclosed.
February 23, 1947

| amin agreat hurry. Hence, | am sending this without revising.
Now, send the papers about my subject.

Blessings from
BAPU

From the Gujarati original: Pyarelal Papers. Nehru Memorial Museum and
Library. Courtesy: Beladevi Nayyar and Dr. Sushila Nayyar
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35. SPEECH AT PRAYER MEETING

CHAR KRISHNAPUR,
February 22, 1947

At the outset Gandhiji said that he had received from a Muslim friend in
Baluchistan a printed sheet containing what he thought were the sayings of the
Prophet and the teachers. The whole selection was good but he was attracted by the
following from Prophet Mohamed’ s sayings:

When God made the earth it shook to and fro till He put mountains on it to
keep it firm. Then the Angels asked, O God, is there anything in Thy creation
stronger than these mountains? And God replied, iron is stronger than these
mountains for it breaks them.
And is there anything in Thy creation stronger than iron?
Yes, fireis stronger than iron, for it meltsit.
I's there anything stronger than fire?
Yes, water, for it quenches fire.
I's there anything stronger than water?
Yes, wind, for it puts water in motion.
O our Sustainer, is there anything stronger than wind?
Yes, agood man giving ams. If he givesit with hisright hand and conceals it
from hisleft, he overcomes all things. Every good act is charity. Y our smiling
in your brother’s face, your putting a wanderer on the right road, your giving
water to the thirsty, is charity. A man’s true wealth hereafter is the good he has
done to his fellowmen. When he dies people will ask, what property he had
left behind him? But the Angels will ask, what good deeds has he sent before
him?

Gandhiji then dealt with the following questions.

Q. Why should there be insistence on temple-entry? Of course, we understand
that in case of objection, thereis scopein it for satyagraha. No- caste dinners have a
limited value; for those who join do not shed untoucha- bility in their homes or
during social ceremonies. They look upon these dinners, organized by Congressmen
or other progressives, as special occasions when caste rules are held in abeyance;
something comparable to what one does when one goes to Jagannath Puri and
partakes of cooked rice offered to Jagannath without reference to one’s caste. Anti-
untouchability has not yet gone deep enough to affect the normal social life of
individuals. What can be done to break down barriers in private homes? Even with
regard to temple-entry there is one question. Do you think that priestsin public
servicein free Indiawill be drafted from among competent men and women without
any reference to their former castes?

A. Gandhiji said that it was an apt question in this part of Bengal where there

' Extracted from “ Gandhiji’s Walking Tour Diary”
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were the largest number of Namasudras. He welcomed the question doubly because he
had occupied the lowest rung of the Hindu ladder and because he did not believe in the
ladder of castes. He invited all to occupy that lowest rung. Then there would be no
occasions for such questions as were addressed to him. Meanwhile, he was bound to
deal with them. He entirely endorsed the proposition that untouchability would be
doomed and totally abolished when there was no prohibition applied against anyone
by reason of his caste. The only universal prohibition would be against insanitation,
degradation, etc. But he clung to the belief that temple-entry took the first place in
the programme of removal of untouchability and he made bold to say that social
public dinners would precede as they were preceding the final conquest over the demon
of untouchability. He prophesied that Hinduism would be destroyed if untouchability
was not destroyed, even as the British race would lose its name if British rule was not
destroyed in toto, asit was certainly being dissolved before their very eyes.

Q. You wrote about economic equality in 1941. Do you hold that all persons
who perform useful and necessary service in society, whether farmer or Bhangi,
engineer or accountant, doctor or teacher, have a moral right only to equal wages with
the rest? Of course, it is understood, educational or other expenses shall be a charge of
the State. Our question is, should not all persons get the same wages for their
personal needs? Do you not think that if we work for this equality, it will cut sooner
under the root of untouchability than any other process?

A. Asto this Gandhiji had no doubt that if Indiawas to live an exemplary life
of independence which would be the envy of the world, all the Bhangis, doctors,
lawyers, teachers, merchants and others would get the same wages for an honest day’s
work. Indian society may never reach the goal but it was the duty of every Indian to
set his sail towards that goal and no other if India was to be a happy land.

Harijan, 16-3-1947

36. A SLENCE-DAY NOTE
February 23, 1947

Difference between defensive and aggressive is wholly
unconvincing and meaningless. You can’t blow hot and cold. Either
have hate or love. | have already said how to deal with the want of
seeds and instruments.

M. K. G.

From the original: Pyarelal Papers. Nehru Memorial Museum and Library.
Courtesy: Beladevi Nayyar and Dr. Sushila Nayyar
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37. SPEECH AT PRAYER MEETING

CHARSOLADI,
February 23, 1947

Q. Namasudra girls are usually married off at the age of 12 or 13; formerly the
usual age was 8 or 9. The bridegroom has to pay a dowry of Rs. 150 for the bride. The
average difference between the two is about 12 to 15 years. As a result of this the
number of widows in the Namasudra society is rather large. Among one section of the
caste widow-marriage was prevalent. But in imitation of another section which was
looked upon as superior, the former are giving up that practice. What is your advice
regarding child-marriage and widow-remarriage?

A. Dealing with the question Gandhiji said that his opinion was definite. In
the first instance there should be no possibility of child-widows. He was averse to
child-marriages. It was an evil custom which unfortunately the Namasudras had
perhaps taken from the so-called higher castes.

Gandhiji was also against the system of dowry. It was nothing but the sale of
girls. That there should be castes even amongst Namasudras was deplorable and he
would strongly advise them to abolish all caste distinctions amongst themselves.
And in this they should bear in mind the opinion the speaker had often expressed that
all caste distinctions should be abolished, and there should be only one caste,
namely, Bhangis, and all Hindus should take pride in being called Bhangis and
nothing else. This applied to the Namasudras as well.

When child-marriages were abolished, naturally there would be few, if any,
young widows. As a general rule he was for one man one wife for life, and one woman
one husband for life. Custom had familiarized women in the so-called higher castes
with enforced widowhood. Contrary was the rule with men. He called it a disgrace, but
whilst society was in that pitiable condition, he advocated widow-remarriage for all
young widows. He believed in equality of the sexes and, therefore, he could only
think of the same rights for women as men.

Q. You say that you are in favour of inter-religious marriages® but at the same
time you say that each party should retain his or her own religion and, therefore, you
said, you tolerated even civil marriages. Are there any instances of parties belonging
to different religions keeping up their own religions to the end of their lives; and is
not the institution of civil marriage a negation of religion and does it not tend
towards laxity of religion?

! Extracted from “ Gandhiji’s Walking Tour Diary”. It being Gandhiji’s silence

day the questions and answers were read out.
% Vide “ Speech at Prayer Mesting”, 21-2-1947
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A. Gandhiji said that the questions were appropriate. He had no instances in
mind where the parties had clung to their respective faiths unto death because these
friends whom he knew had not yet died. He had, however, under his observation men
and women professing different religions and each clinging to his or her own faith
without abatement. But he would go so far as to say that they need not wait for the
discovery of past instances. They should create new ones so that timid ones may shed
their timidity.

As to civil marriages he did not believe in them but he welcomed the
institution of civil marriage as a much-needed reform for the sake of reform.

Harijan, 16-3-1947

38. LETTER TO JAWAHARLAL NEHRU

KAZIRKHIL, RAMGANJP. S.,
NOAKHALIDT.,
February 24, 1947

Today being silence day | am writing this. But it will be typed
for your easy reading.l have read Attlee's speech'. Lest | might
embarrass you by an untoward word or phrase | am not saying
anything just now.

Evidently | had anticipated practically the whole of it in my
speeches here, i. e., if | am interpreting the speech correctly. My
interpretation is this

Independence will be recognized of those parts which desired it
and will do without British protection.

The British will remain where they are wanted.

This may lead to Pakistan for those provinces or portions which
may want it. No one will be forced one way or the other. The
Congress provinces if they are wisewill get what they want.

Much will depend upon what the Constituent Assembly will do
and what you as the Interim Government are able to do.’

If the British Government are and are able to remain sincere the
declaration is good. Otherwise it is dangerous.

Now about Sardar Niranjan Singh Gill. He has been to Bihar
and has produced a report which somewhat reflects upon the Sinha

' In the House of Commons on February 20; for excerpts from it, vide
Appendix I.

® The addressee was Vice-President, Member-in-Charge, External Affairs and
Commonwealth Relations, in the Interim Government.
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Ministry.* You should see him and his report. It has gone to
Suhrawardy and Sinha under my advice. He and Sardar Jiwan Singh
have not hit it off. The whole thing is bad. I. N. A. seems to have split
up. Probably you know all this.

In view of the above report | might have to go to Bihar. God
knows. Y ou may show thisto friends.

Hope you are well.
Blessings from
BAPU?
[PS]
| take it that you have a cable from Durban about orders against
Drs. Dadoo and Naicker.® | trust you have taken prompt action. | have
cabled F. M. Smuts.
BAPU

From the original:Jawaharlal Nehru Papers (M. O. Mathai). Courtesy: Nehru
Memorial Museum and Library

39. LETTER TO J. B. KRIPALANI*

KAZIRKHIL,
RAMGANJP.S.,

NOAKHALI DISTT,,
February 24, 1947

Thisisavery personal letter but not private.

Manu Gandhi, my grand-daughter as we consider blood
relations, shares the bed with me, strictly as my very blood, not to give
me animal satisfaction but as part of what might be my last yajna.
This has cost me dearest associates, i.e,, Vallabhbhai, Kishorelal,
probably C.R. and others. Thisincludes Devdas. | have lost caste with
them. You as one of the dearest and earliest comrades, certainly
before Sardar and Kishorelal, should reconsider your position in the
light of what they have to say. Perhaps Sucheta will help you
somewhat. She knows something of this episode. Am | worthy of the

! Vide “Letter to Niranjan Singh Gill”, 8-2-1947

% The subscription isin Hindi.

® It had been reported that the Government of South Africa had refused
passports to Yusuf Dadoo and G. M. Naicker and impounded their certificates of
identity.

% (1888-1982); Principal, Gujarat Vidyapith, 1920-27; General Secretary,
Indian National Congress, 1934-45; elected its President in 1946 but resigned in
1947; Member, Constituent Assembly; resigned from Congress in 1951
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companionship of so many old associates? | have given the deepest
thought to the matter. The whole world may foresake me but | dare
not leave what | hold is the truth for me. It may be a delusion and a
snare. If so, | must realize it myself. | have risked perdition before
now. Let this be the redlity if it hasto be.

| need not argue the point. | have simply conveyed the intensity
of my thought.

| suggest your discussing with Sardar and Rajaji. And then come
to the conclusion and let me know. You have to think out your
relationship not merely as a friend but as President. Of course you can
share this with Jawaharlal and Maulana. Do not consider my feelings
in the matter. | have none. All | want isto do the truth at all cost, as |
seeit.

Blessings from
BAPU*

From a copy: Pyarelal Papers. Nehru Memorial Museum and Library. Courtesy:
Beladevi Nayyar and Dr. Sushila Nayyar

40. LETTER TO PYARELAL

February 24, 1947
CHI. PYARELAL,

Herewith is a copy of the letter to the Professor.? Y ou will learn
from it what is happening. My association with Harijan now seems to
have ended. | am not worried in the least. | am anxious about Manu’s
state of mind. All thisis an ordeal for me. May truth alone triumph.

Blessings from
BAPU
[P.S]

Send the papers about me.

From the Gujarati original: Pyarelal Papers. Nehru Memorial Museum and
Library. Courtesy: Beladevi Nayyar and Dr. Sushila Nayyar

! In Devanagari
? Vide the peceding item
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41. DISCUSSION WITH A. V. THAKKAR ,
February 24, 1947+
BAPA: Why this experiment here?

GANDHIJ: Y ou are mistaken, Bapa; it is not an experiment but an
integral part of my yajna. One may forgo an experiment, one cannot
forgo one’s duty. Now if | regard a thing as a part of my yajna— a
sacred duty — | may not give it up even if public opinion is wholly
against me. | am engaged in achieving self-purification. The five
cardinal observances are the five props of my spiritual striving.
Brahmacharya is one of them. But all the five constitute an indivisible
whole. They are inter-related and inter-dependent. If one of them is
broken, all are broken. That being so, if in practice | resile in regard
to brahmacharya to please Mrs. Grundy, | jettison not only
brahmacharya but truth, ahimsa and all the rest. | do not allow myself
any divergence between theory and practice in respect of the rest. If
then | temporize in the matter of brahmacharya, would it not blunt
the edge of my brahmacharya and vitiate my practice of truth? Ever
since my coming to Noakhali, | have been asking myself the question,
‘What isit that is choking the action of my ahimsa? Why does not the
spell work? May it not be because | have temporized in the matter of
brahmacharya?’

B. Your ahimsa has not failed. Do not miss the wood for the trees....> Just
think what would have been the fate of Noakhali if you had not come. The world does
not think of brahmacharya as you do.

G. If | accept your contention, then it would amount to this that |
should give up what | hold to be right for me, for fear of displeasing
the world. | shudder to think where | should have been if | had
proceeded like that in my life. | should have found myself at the
bottom of the pit. You can have no idea, Bapa, but | can well picture it
to myself. | have called my present venture a yajna—a sacrifice, a
penance. It means utmost self-purification. How can there be that self-
purification when in my mind | entertain a thing which | dare not put
openly into practice? Does one need anyone's approval or permission
to do what one holds with all one’'s being to be one’s duty? Under the
circumstances, there are only two courses open to friends. Either they
should have faith in me, in the purity of my motives and my bona

! From Anrita Bazar Patrika, 27-2-1947. The source, however, has “February

25”.
2 Omission asin the source
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fides, even though they are unable to follow or agree with my
reasoning, or they should part company with me. There is no middle
course. | dare not shrink from putting into action the logical
implications of my conviction when | am launched on a sacrifice
which consists of the full practice of truth. Nor must | hide or keep
my convictions to myself. That would be disloyalty to friends. Let X,
Y and Z, therefore, go the way they choose, but how can | run away
from the test? My mind is made up. On the lonely way to God on
which | have set out, | need no earthly companions. Let those who
will, therefore, denounce me, if | am the imposter they imagine me to
be, though they may not say so in so many words. It might disillusion
millions who persist in regarding me as a Mahatma. | must confess,
the prospect of being so debunked greatly pleases me. Thousands of
Hindu and Muslim women come to me. They are to me like my own
mother, sisters and daughters. But if an occasion should arise
requiring me to share the bed with any of them | must not hesitate, if |
am the brahmachari that | claim to be. If | shrink from the test, | write
myself down as a coward and a fraud.

B. What if your example is copied?

G. If there is blind imitation or unscrupulous exploitation of my
example, society will not and should not tolerate it. But if there is
sincere, bona-fide honest endeavour, society should welcome it and it
will be the better for it. As soon as my research is complete, | shall
myself proclaim the result to the whole world.

B. | for one cannot imagine anything base in you. After all, Manu isin place of
a grand-daughter to you — flesh of your flesh and bone of your bone. | confess, | had
my mental reservations in the beginning. | had come in all humility to press upon
you my doubts. | did not understand. Only after our talk today have | been able to have
a deeper understanding of the meaning of what you are trying to do.

G. Does that make any real difference? It does not and it should
not. Y ou seem to make a distinction between Manu and others like
her. My mind makes no such distinction. To me they are all alike—
daughters.*

Mahatma Gandhi — The Last Phase, Vol. I, Bk. I, pp. 224-6

' According to the source the conversation had an unexpected sequel. Manu
told Gandhiji that she saw no harm in conceding to Thakkar Bapa's request to suspend
the practice for the time being, provided Gandhiji agreed. Gandhiji readily agreed.
Vide also “Letter to Vinoba Bhave”, 10-3-1947
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42. SPEECH AT PRAYER MEETING!

HAIMCHAR,
February 24, 1947

This being the last stage of the second part of his pilgrimage, Gandhiji
thanked God for the happy ending of the second part. He referred to the intense wish
that Bapa, whom he described as the chief priest and servant of the Harijans, had
expressed that he should include Haimchar in his programme. He referred also to the
origin of the distribution of workersin the villages that had suffered and how Bapa
had instinctively selected the Haimchar area as the field of his service.

He then referred to the communications, telegraphic and otherwise, he had
received for his opinion on Mr. Attlee’s statement®. He said there were the Congress
and the League, not to mention other associations, which would express authoritative
opinions. He would however permit himself to say that the statement had put the
burden on the various parties of doing what they thought best. It had declared that
British rule would end before or during the month of June, 1948. It was up to the
parties to make or mar the situation. Nothing on earth could overturn their united
wish. And so far as he was concerned, he was emphatically of the opinion that if the
Hindus and Muslims closed their ranks and came together without external pressure,
they would not only better their political condition but they would affect the whol e of
India and probably the world.

It was an easy descent to what was uppermost in the mind of his audience
composed mostly of Namasudras. He warned them against considering
themselves as fallen or untouchables. Those so-called higher castes were the guilty
ones; they were responsible for what they had become. If they realized the fact, they
would never make the mistake of imitating the evil customs and habits of the higher
classes.

He was sorry to hear that there were child-marriages amongst them and that
child-widows were compelled in imitation of the higher castes to abstain from
remarrying. The result, he had learned, was that diseases which resulted from
promiscuity were prevalent among them. Their betterment would not come from the
legislatures or from any other outside agency. It depended on their own efforts. they
should remember what the late Malaviyaji® used to say, that children of God should
confine themselves to earning an honest cowrie and eat what it could procure. Then
there would be happiness for them and untouchability would be a thing of the past.

! Extracted from “Gandhiji’s Walking Tour Diary”

% Vide Appendix .

¥ Madan Mohan Malaviya (1861-1946); President, Indian National Congress,
1909 and 1918; Member, Legislative Assembly; founder of the Benares Hindu
University and its Vice-Chancellor from 1919 to 1939

38 THE COLLECTED WORKS OF MAHATMA GANDHI



The higher castes so called would be ashamed of their sin against them.

Bapu pointed out the destruction that had been wrought. He was sorry for it but
he would not shed atear for it nor harbour ill will against the destroyers. Let them not
bewail their lot. They were used to hard labour or should be. They might plead with
the Government to do justice and that in time. But they would not give in if that
assistance did not come. They must trust their hands and feet to set them up again in
life. God always hel ped those who helped themselves. Their reliance must be on the
living God and on the ever-toiling masses.

Harijan, 16-3-1947

43. FROM THE DIARY
February 24, 1947

After the morning prayer, tried to study the outline of Bengali
numeral one and to improve the outline of the second numeral. Next
struggled unsuccessfully for about ten minutes to understand the
distinction between nio and nao (future imperative and present
indicative respectively of the Bengali verb ‘take’). In the meantime
Manu brought orange juice. Put the same question to her. She too
failed to give a satisfactory explanation. That accounted for another
ten minutes. Sent for Nirmalbabu. Put the poser to him in turn. He
fared alittle better but in the end he, too, gave up perplexed. In
between he handed Sardar Gill’'s file. That started a conversation
about Gill. Thiswent on till 6-35. Wrote a letter to A. Then lay down
to rest for about ten minutes; got up at 7-25, inspected the trench
latrine and set out on the day’s march.

Mahatma Gandhi—Last Phase, Vol. I, Bk. II, pp. 200-1
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44, TELEGRAM TO KEDARNATH KULKARNI
HAIMCHAR,
[On or after Feburary 24, 1947]*
NATHJI
SHANTIKUNJNAIGAM
CROSSROAD, DADAR

BOMBAY-14

READ YOUR LETTER WITH ATTENTION. IT CONTAINS
MISSTATEMENTS. OBSERVE THAT WIDE DIFFERENCES
EXIST BETWEEN us. NEVERTHELESS COME IF
YOou CAN CONVENIENTLY AND WITHOUT INJURY
TO HEALTH OWING LONG AND TIRESOME
JOURNEY .2

GANDHI

From a copy: Pyarelal Papers. Nehru Memorial Museum and Library. Courtesy:
Beladevi Nayyar and Dr. Sushila Nayyar

45. TELEGRAM TO KISHORELAL MASHRUWALA

HAIMCHAR,
[On or after February 24, 1947])?

YOUR WIRE. SENT LONG WIRE NATHJI.
BAPU

From a copy: Pyarelal Papers. Nehru Memorial Muesum and Library. Courtesy:
Beladevi Nayyar and Dr. Sushila Nayyar

' Gandhiji was in Haimchar from February 24 to March 2, 1947.

% The addressee, along with Swami Anand, came to Bihar on March 14 and held
discussion with Gandhiji on March 15 and 16; vide “Discussion with Swami Anand
and Kedar Nath”, 15/16-3-1947

® Vide the peceding item.
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46. NOTE TO S. HAQ!

[After February 24, 1947]2

| have your note. | am a simple man, no reader of visions. “Fear
God and no other and love your neighbour as thyself” is my motto.?

From a photostat: C. W. 10231. Courtesy: Basant Apte. Also G. N. 11398

47. LETTER TO MAHENDRA PRATAP

KAZIRKHIL,
RAMGANJP.S.,
NOAKHALI DISTT.,
February 25, 1947
DEAR RAJA SAHEB,
| have your wire. You are probably almost right not for the
argument you have used but for deeper reasons. | have advisedly used
the adverbs ‘ probably’ and ‘almost’.
Yours sincerely,
RAJA MAHENDRA PRATAP
BRINDABAN

From a copy: Pyarelal Papers. Nehru Memorial Museum and Library. Courtesy:
Beladevi Nayyar and Dr. Sushila Nayyar

48. LETTER TO AMTUSSALAAM
February 25, 1947

DEAR DAUGHTER,
Y our two letters are lying with me. Owing to heavy work | was
not able to write to you. Even this | am writing very early in the
morning.
| have read your Bengali letter. | had a talk with Satis Babu’.

! The addressee in a letter in Bengali dated February 24, 1947, had written to
Gandhiji about adream in which he had seen Gandhiji preaching Islam.

> Thisisfollowed by the instruction “Render this into Bengali and | shall sign
it.”

$ Satis Chandra Das Gupta
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Y ou do not need money. Thisis not Borkamta.* Who are the spinners?
Are they Hindus or Muslims? Y ou have made no mistake in breaking
the fast.? God alone knows if you have not got a new birth. If you can
comejust for aday in ajeep, do come. | will explain to you what you
have to do. Satis Babu can bring you. | will be in Haimchar for six
days. Don’t be in a hurry. Come if you can stand the strain. | will
explain fully. But don’t mind if you do not like to travel by jeep. In
that case | will write and tell you what | wish to say. Jeep isalso a
temptation. | do not want to lure you into it.

Blessings from

BAPU
[PS]
The dhoti that you have sent is very good. | wore it
immediately. Today also | am wearing it. My blessings to the weavers.
BAPU

From a photostat of the Hindi: G. N. 579

49. QUESTION BOX
[February 25, 1947]°

Q. What is the difference between your non-co-operation and the non-
fraternization of the Allies?

A.The answer is obvious. My non-co-operation was purely non-
violent in conception as also in effect. This does not mean that its
practice was always perfect. Theory and practice hardly ever coincide
even as Euclid’' s line in practice never coincides with his theoretical
definition.

The non-fraternization policy of the Allies led to disastrous
results which he who runs may see, and the pity of it is that the disaster
is not yet completed. No one knows where it will lead to.

Harijan, 16-3-1947, and The Hindu, 27-2-1947

! The addressee had worked in the K asturba Seva Mandir, Borkamta from 1944
to 1946.

2 Amtussalaam who had been working in Noakhali from October 1946, had
undertaken a fast for the return of the sacrificial swords to Hindus. She broke her fast
on January 20, the twenty-fifth day of the fast, on Gandhiji’s advice. Vide “ Speech at
Prayer Meeting”, 21-1-1947

® From The Hindu
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50. TALK WITH DEB NATH DAS

February 25, 1947

Netaji* will remain immortal for all time to come for his services
to India.

The Hindu, 27-2-1947

51. SPEECH AT PUBLIC MEETING®

HAIMCHAR,
February 25, 1947

Unity between Hindus and Muslims is the first thing to be
achieved to facilitate the work of village reconstruction and no work
will be done without this.

Gandhiji said that instead of making schemes of great projects they should
start in a humble way the construction of good roads for peasants and destruction of
water hyacinths in tanks. Cleanliness was the one thing necessary in villages in
order to prevent diseases. If the officers engaged in village uplift task wanted to work
in co-operation with the people they must let the latter know that they were their
servants. Concluding, Gandhiji said that as he was a servant of the people he would be
glad to render all possible help in this regard.

Amrita Bazar Patrika, 28-2-1947

52. SPEECH AT PRAYER MEETING*

HAIMCHAR,
February 25, 1947

Gandhiji drew the attention of the audience to the meeting® he was invited to
attend by the Relief Commissioner, Nurannabi Chowdhury. He asked them to follow
the advice he had given without waiting to know what others would do. He said that he

' Secretary, Indian National Army Peace Committee. He met Gandhiji in the
morning and apprised him of the work done by the Peace Committee camps in
Tipperah and Noakhali.

2 Subhas Chandra Bose (1897-1945); General Secretary of Indian National
Congress, 1927, its President, 1938 and 1939; founded All-India Forward Bloc;
organized the Indian Independence L eague and the Indian National Army

® Held in the afternoon on the grounds of Haimchar Bazar, the meeting was
arranged by the Rehabilitation Commissioner, Chittagong Division.

* Extracted from “Gandhiji’s Walking Tour Diary”

® Vide the preceding item.
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wanted the Kingdom of God on earth. Surely we did not want to wait for anyone else to
do so.

Then he dealt with the questions that were addressed to him.

Q. Do you not think that a strict enforcement of the purdah system would
improve the moral condition of women?

A. He was warned by some Muslim critics against speaking on the purdah. He
had therefore some hesitation in speaking about it. But he took heart when he turned
round and saw that many Hindu women observed it and that numerous Malaya Muslim
women among whom he had many friends did not observe the purdah. He also knew
many distinguished Muslim women of India who did not observe it. Lastly, the real
purdah was of the heart. A woman who peeped through the purdah and contemplated a
male on whom her gaze fell violated the spirit behind it. If a woman observed it in
spirit, she was truly carrying out what the great Prophet had said.

Q. To those who had lost all their trade your advice is that they should
voluntarily turn themselves into labourers. Who will then look after education,
commerce and the like? If you thus dissolve the division of |abour, will not the cause
of civilization suffer?

A. The question betrayed ignorance of his meaning. If aman could not carry on
his original mercantile business, it was not open to him but obligatory on him to
take to physical labour, say, scavenging or breaking stones. He believed in the
division of labour or work. But he did insist on equality of wages. The lawyer, the
doctor, or the teacher was entitled to no more than the Bhangi. Then only would
division of work uplift the nation or the earth. There was no other royal road to true
civilization or happiness.

Spirit giveth life, the letter killeth. A Ganapati with an elephant’s head was a
monster but as a representation of Om" was an uplifting symbol. Ravana with ten
heads was a fabled fool but if it meant a man who carried no head about him and was
tossed to and fro by fleeting passions, he was a many-headed demon.

Q. How can the caste Hindus look after the interests of the untouchables? How
can they realize the feelings of the classes who have suffered so long at their hands?
Isit not then better to entrust the interests of the untouchables to men of their own
caste?

A. He was of the opinion that the caste Hindus owed a sacred duty to the so-
called untouchables. He must become a Bhangi in name and action. When that
happened the untouchables would rise at a bound and Hinduism would leave arich
legacy to the world. If that happened, the system of cleaning closets would undergo a
transformation. In England the real Bhangis were famous engineers and sanitarians.
That could not happen in India so long as society was sluggish and slothful.

Harijan, 23-3-1947

' The sacred syllable or Pranava
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53. LETTER TO JAWAHARLAL NEHRU
February [26]*, 1947

The last week of March next is at present for me a far cry. If
God wills He will find away for me to attend the Conference.?

Mahatma Gandhi—The Last Phase, Vol. 11, p. 89

54. STATEMENT TO THE PRESS

HAIMCHAR,
February 26, 1947

Referring to the news about the Union Government’s refusal of passports and
impounding the certificates of identity for Drs. Dadoo and Naicker, Gandhiji said:

The Union Government will not be able to sustain their anti-
Asiatic policy by such an action.

He added that the action was wholly unwarranted and arbitrary if the facts stated
in the cablegram he had received in this connection were correct.’

Gandhiji hoped that either there were some justifying peremptory reasons for
the refusal and impounding or that second thoughts would convince the Government
that it was a hasty step and therefore it would be cancelled.

Amrita Bazar Patrika, 28-2-1947

55. SPEECH AT PRAYER MEETING®

HAIMCHAR,
February 26, 1947

Q. When things are all going wrong at the Centre, what can common people do
to restore unity?

A. There was a law of science which enunciated that two forces were
simultaneously at work: the centripetal and the centrifugal. He wanted to apply the
law to life also. The centre, therefore, of the Government attracted us all to it and in
good government we would respond to that centripetal force. Similar was the
centrifugal force in obedience to which we, the villagers of Haimchar, attracted the

! The source has “6”, obviously a slip, since this letter was in reply to the
addressee’s letter dated February 24, soliciting Gandhiji’s presence at the Inter-Asian
Relations Conference which was to be held in New Delhi from March 23.

2 Gandhiji ultimately did attend the Conference on April 1 and 2.

% Vide footnote 3, “Letter to Jawaharlal Nehru”, 24-2-1947

* Extracted from “ Gandhiji’s Walking Tour Diary”
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centre. Thus, where these forces worked well there would be ordered and orderly
government at the centre and the circumference. When, however, the centre was going
wrong, it should be pointless to dominate the seven hundred thousand villages. On
the other hand, the villagers would live in perfect amity if they were wise in leaving
alone the centre to look after its so-called high politics?

Q. A man who sacrifices self-interest for the sake of his community is at least
unselfish to that extent. How can the heart of such a man be affected so that he will
sacrifice communal interests for the interest of the nation?

A. A man whose spirit of sacrifice did not go beyond his own community
became selfish himself and also made his community selfish. In his opinion the
logical conclusion of self-sacrifice was that the individual sacrificed himself for the
community, the community sacrificed itself for the district, the district for the
province, the province for the nation and the nation for the world. A drop torn from
the ocean perished without doing any good. If it remained a part of the ocean, it
shared the glory of carrying on its bosom a fleet of mighty ships.

Q. In free India whose interest shall be supreme? If a neighbouring Stateisin
want, what should free India do?

A. Gandhiji said that the first part of the question had been answered in the
above. A truly independent free India was bound to run to the help of its neighbours in
distress. He instanced Afghanistan, Ceylon and Burma and said that the rule also
applied to the neighbours of these three and thus, by implication, they became
India's neighbours too. And thus, he said, if individual sacrifice was a living
sacrifice, it embraced the whole of humanity.*

Gandhiji gave to hisideal society the name Ramarajya.

Let no one commit the mistake of thinking that Ramarajya
means a rule of the Hindus. My Rama is another name for Khuda or
God. | want Khudai raj, which is the same thing as the Kingdom of
God on earth.

The rule of the first four Caliphs was somewhat comparable to
it. The establishment of such a rajya would not only mean welfare of
the whole of the Indian people but of the whole world.

Harijan, 23-3-1947, and Mahatma Gandhi—The Last Phase, Vol. I, Bk. 11, pp.
189-90

! What follows is reproduced from Mahatma Gandhi — The Last Phase.
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56. TELEGRAM TO SUDHIR GHOSH

February 27, 1947
SUDHIR GHOSH
1 AURANGZEB ROAD
NEW DELHI

GOD BE WITH you.!
BAPU

Sudhir Ghosh Papers. Courtesy: Nehru Memorial Museum and Library. Also
Gandhi’s Emissary, p. 200

57. TELEGRAM TO SYED MAHMUD

Express February 27, 1947
MINISTER SYED MAHMUD

PATNA

YOUR WIRE. NEWSPAPER ANNOUNCEMENT UNAUTHORISED.
WROTE SHRI BABU* IF  YOU ALL CONSIDER MY  PRESENCE
NECESSARY IN INTERESTS INJURED PARTY PREPARED
COME EVEN EARLIER THAN EIGHTEENTH. WOULD

LOVE TO STAY WITH YOU UNLESS  YOU ALL DESIRE
OTHERWISE.®

BAPU

From a copy: Pyarelal Papers. Nehru Memorial Museum and Library. Courtesy:
Beladevi Nayyar and Dr. Sushila Nayyar

! The addressee had been appointed Public Relations Officer at the Indian High
Commission in London.

% Vide “Letter to Secretary, Muslim League’, 28-4-1947

® Late in February Gandhiji received areport from Dr. Syed Mahmud, Minister
for Development and Transport, Bihar saying that the situation in Bihar was indeed
serious and required his personal attention; vide also “ Speech at Prayer Meeting”,
28-2-1947
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58. LETTER TO LUDWIG BORSCH

KAZIRKHIL,
RAMGANJP.S.,
NOAKHALI DISTT,,
BENGAL,

February 27, 1947
DEAR FRIEND,

| have your letter of the 11th ultimo.® Distance lends
enchantment to the scene. | would, therefore, warn you against visiting
India for the enrichment of your life. Life, asitisfoundin India, is
wholly different from the life described in the best books on ancient
wisdom in the East. | wish | could give you definite guidance on the
selection of your diet. We in India, not excluding myself, have learnt
much from English and American literature on the diet question. The
ordinary Indian diet is unbalanced and is heavily spiced. Therefore, |
would advise you to consult the many American and English text-
books written on vegetarianism and more especially on the kind
ofdiet. You will gain much more than | could give from this literature
if you used discretion.
LUDWIG BORSCH, ESQ.
66 TENIMORE STREET
BROOKLYN
NEW Y ORK

From a copy: Pyarelal Papers. Nehru Memorial Museum and Library. Courtesy:
Beladevi Nayyar and Dr. Sushila Nayyar

59. LETTER TO PYARELAL

February 27, 1947

CHI. PYARELAL,
| have your two letters. If you send me the prescription for Satis
Babu and anything else that is required, | shall do the needful. Pay the
doctors feeif it must be paid. But you must know the way | feel, the
way | acted in Bihar. Let us render such help as we can and be
content. What you are doing for Kalu Mian is an ideal thing in my
view. We should provide him personal service, give him proper diet
and be content with that. For that purpose, a doctor is not needed. |

! In which the addressee had expressed his desire to visit India “to find and
learn about those things, which in the material-minded West one regarded with a sort
of pitying contempt” and sought Gandhiji’s advice on diet.
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followed this practice in Champaran from beginning to end. The
doctors and the teachers were Ba, Durga, Manibehn Parikh, etc. It was
very impressive and very rewarding. Thisisjust to suggest what in my
view would be the ideal thing.

| am convinced your good lies in controlling your desire to
come. A.S. and Kanu arrived yesterday. | shall send the letter you
have asked for. There is no hurry about it. Kanu and A.S. will also
read it.

What you have written about Harijan is correct. It all depends
on what Sardar finally does. It is hardly possible that he will now run
it independently. But if he does, we shall remove your name. We have
so far entirely depended on our sadhana, particularly mine. 1 am
without fear. | am unconcerned. But it irks me that | have not yet
cultivated non-attachment to the extent | should have. But in the end
there must be the grace of God behind human effort. Without that,
human effort is futile.

If Kalu Mian feels hot in the soles, | know the usefulness of a
mud-pack. | think it should be used.

Blessings from
BAPU
[PS]

| received another letter just while this was going. It is a
lovelyletter. | have not been able to read the account of your activities
and the lesson for Manu. | shall arrange to send the letter which you
are so eager to read. | had completely forgotten what you wrote about
Rajaji. If you write aletter about it and send it to me, | shall send it on
to him. You can write to anyone from among Rggji, Kishoreld,
Narharibhai, Jajuji, etc. Do not worry at all about my health. Should
not a person having faith in God be free from worry?

Blessings from
BAPU

From the Gujarati original: Pyarelal Papers. Nehru Memorial Museum and
Library. Courtesy: Beladevi Nayyar and Dr. Sushila Nayyar

60. TALK WITH FAZLUL HUQ

February 27, 1947

GANDHIJ: Oh, don’t stand up. Y ou were the Chief Minister when
| met you last !

HUQ: | shall be frank with you. It is no use saying one thing and having
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something else up your sleeve.
Gandhiji nodded complete agreement.

The Maulvi Saheb began: Gandhiji had not gone to Bihar; his place was in
Bihar rather than in Noakhali; Noakhali Muslims, far from being aggressors, were the
victims of police repression. Hindu police officers were harassing innocent Muslims
and implicating them in fal se cases—they should be withdrawn; Muslims were not
criminals, abductors of women, etc.; Islam never taught that.

Gandhiji again agreed so far as the teachings of Islam in the abstract were
concerned.

HUQ: Very few understand Islam. They call it the religion of the sword. The
minorities in the Muslim State were the special responsibility of the majority. The
non-Muslims were zimmis.*

The Maulvi Saheb’s last point was that far from the Hindus having cause to be
afraid of the Muslim majority in Noakhali, it was the latter, in fact, who were afraid of
Hindu domination. The Hindus should shed their fear and accept Pakistan. His
Majesty’s Government’s statement® of 20th February, 1947, would only bring civil
war to India

G. (In atone of light banter): So, if | come to Barisal, thereis
only the khal® for me, isit not?

HUQ: No, no, Mahatmaji, you are always welcome. That was only ajoke. |
never can let go ajoke—even at the expense of my father. That is my nature!

Gandhiji said that he had always asked Jinnah to convince him of the meaning
and implications of Pakistan. His formula® was before the Muslim League |eader and
the country and so far as he was concerned the offer still stood. As regards withdrawal
of criminal cases, it rested with the Bengal Government. Regarding Bihar, he
continued:

| may shortly go there. But it will not be to oblige you.

He was awaiting Dr. Mahmud' s’ reply, he told the Maulvi Saheb, but if the
latter could assure him that the majority community in Noakhali would stand
guarantee for the safety and security of the minority community, he would feel free to
leave Bengal immediately. Could he give that assurance?

To this the Maulvi Saheb gave no straight reply. Instead, he bagan to talk

! Who were required to pay atax called jazia for protection by the State

2\ide “Clement Attlee’s Statement”, 20-2-1947

% A canal. Fazlul Hug was reported to have said that as a non-Muslim, Gandhiji
should not preach the teachings of Islam, for, instead of Hindu-Muslim unity, he was
creating bitterness between the two communities. Had he been to Barisal, he would
have driven him into the canal. Vide “ Speech at Prayer Meeting”, 16-2-1947

* Presumably the Rajaji Formula. Vide “C. Rajagopalachari’s Formula’

® Syed Mahmud, Minister for Development and Transport in Bihar

50 THE COLLECTED WORKS OF MAHATMA GANDHI



about a coalition Government in Bengal as the only remedy for Bengal’sills!

At this point one of Fazlul Hug's companions broke in: “1 was a worker in the
Khilafat movement®; you were the first leader who taught me politics.”

. If you had taken your politics off me, you would have given a
much better account of yourself.

G. (TOHUQ): What is this quarrel between you and Suhrawardy? |
do not like it.

But the Maulvi Saheb again avoided the issue and talked instead of his
profession and his chronic trouble—lack of finance! Gandhiji thereupon twitted him
for his spendthrift nature and sent him away laughing.

Mahatma Gandhi—The Last Phase, Vol. I, Bk. I, pp. 250-2

61. SPEECH AT PRAYER MEETING *

HAIMCHAR,
February 27, 1947

Q. Can a man serve his immediate neighbours and yet serve the whole of
humanity? What is the true meaning of swadeshi?

A. Gandhiji said that the question had been answered by him on the previous
evening.® He believed implicity in the truth that a man could serve his neighbours and
humanity at the same time, the condition being that the service of the neighbours was
in no way selfish or exclusive, i.e., did not in any way involve the exploitation of
any other human being. The neighbours would then understand the spirit in which
such service was given. They would also know that they would be expected to give
their services to their neighbours. Thus considered, it would spread like the
proverbial snowball gathering strength in geometrical progression, encircling the
whole earth.

It followed that swadeshi was that spirit which dictated man to serve his next-
door neighbour to the exclusion of any other. The condition that he had already

' Which was launched in 1919 “against the threatened dismemberment of
Turkey and removal of the holy places of Islam from the Caliph’s control”

2 According to “Gandhiji’s Walking Tour Diary” from which this has been
extracted, Gandhiji offered prayers in a temple which was destroyed during the riots
and was rebuilt by the Government. The idol in the temple, however, eescaped
destruction because the resourceful priest had put it away in a safe place. Gandhiji
hoped that the old and rusty tins used in rebuilding the temple would be painted so as
to prevent further deterioration.

® Vide “ Speech at Prayer Meeting”, 26-2-1947
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mentioned was that the neighbour thus served had in histurn to serve his own
neighbour. In this sense swadeshi was never exclusive. It recognized the scientific
limitation of human capacity for service.

Q. The Government has been introducing schemes of industrializing the
country for the maximum utilization of her raw materials, not of her abundant and
unused man-power which isleft to rot in idleness. Can such schemes be considered
swadeshi?

A. Gandhiji remarked that the question had been well put. He did not exactly
know what the Government plan was. But he heartily endorsed the proposition that
any plan which exploited the raw materials of a country and neglected the potentially
more powerful man-power was lopsided and could never tend to establish human
equality.

America was the most industrialized country in the world and yet it had not
banished poverty and degradation. That was because it neglected the universal man-
power and concentrated power in the hands of the few who amassed fortunes at the
expense of the many. The result was that its industrialization had become a menace to
its own poor and to the rest of the world.

If Indiawas to escape such disaster, it had to imitate what was best in America
and the other Western countries and leave aside its attractive-looking but destructive
economic policies. Therefore, real planning consisted in the best utilization of the
whole man-power of India and the distribution of the raw products of Indiain her
numerous villages instead of sending them outside and rebuying finished articles at
fabulous prices.

After the questions had been answered, Gandhiji touched upon the fact that he
had a visit from some members of the Scheduled Classes. He had told them that his
mission was to teach people how to be really brave. They need not be afraid for their
lives because the so-called high-caste men had not yet returned to their places. If they
shed their fear they would have no enemies. The Muslims would be their friends when
they recognized bravery in them. Cowards were ever exposed to the enmity of all,
whether Muslims or others. The way to the attainment of that courage lay not in the
possession of the sword and the efficiency to kill one’s opponent, but in the refusal
to recognize in any other human being an enemy, along with the determination to lay
down one's life and yet not surrender at the point of the sword.

Gandhiji then referred in detail to some of the abuses current in local society,
like child-marriage, absence of widow-remarriage, etc., which resulted in the lowering
of the moral stature of the people. If they could shed these weaknesses, they would
gain the power to die for their faith and honour.

Harijan, 23-3-1947
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62. TELEGRAM TO SHRIKRISHNA SINHA

[February 28, 1947]*

DR. SYED MAHMUD AND OTHERS WOULD LIKE ME TO VISIT
BIHAR . . . ° DO YOU FEEL LIKEWISE? PLEASE TELL ME WHAT
YOU FEEL.

Mahatma Gandhi — The Last Phase, Val. I, Bk. I, p. 253

63. TELEGRAM TO C. RAJAGOPALACHARI

HAIMCHAR, TIPPERA DISTT.,
February 28, 1947

MINISTER RAJAGOPALACHARI
NEW DELHI

YOUR WIRE. NINETEEN HUNDRED BALES PER MONTH REQUIRED.
COUNTS  TWENTY TO FORTY. PROBABLY GOING BIHAR FOR
SHORT TIME.

BAPU

From a copy: Pyarelal Papers. Nehru Memorial Museum and Library. Courtesy:
Beladevi Nayyar and Dr. Sushila Nayyar

64. TELEGRAM TO SECRETARY, NATAL INDIAN
CONGRESS

February 28, 1947

SECRETARY
NICELY
DURBAN

HAVE MADE PUBLIC STATEMENT SUPPORTING STEP ABOUT ROYAL
VISIT.?
GANDHI

From a copy: Pyarelal Papers. Nehru Memorial Museum and Library. Courtesy:
Beladevi Nayyar and Dr. Sushila Nayyar

! This was sent the day after Fazlul Hug's departure, i. e., February 27. Vide
“Speech at Prayer Meeting”, 28-2-1947

> Omission as in the source.

® Vide Vol. LXXXII, p. 28.
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65. LETTER TO RAMDAS A MAZHABI SSKH FEDERATION

KAZIRKHIL,
RAMGANJP.S.,
NOAKHALI DISTT.,

February 28, 1947
DEAR FRIENDS,

| have your letter signed by eleven members of your group. The
names are typed instead of there being original signatures. | must
confess my ignorance of the existence of this group. | do not know
what | can do to remedy the difficulty you complain of. | feel
helpless.

Yours sincerely,

THE RAMDASIA MAZHABI SIKH FEDERATION
THROUGH THE PRESIDENT

MISTRI HARNAM SINGH
P.B. SAMRALA

DISTT. L UDHIANA

From a copy: Pyarelal Papers. Nehru Memorial Museum and Library. Courtesy:
Beladevi Nayyar and Dr. Sushila Nayyar

66. LETTERTO BUTT KRISTO PAUL & CO., LTD.

KAZIRKHIL,
RAMGANJP.S.,
NOAKHALI DISTT,,
February 28, 1947

GENTLEMEN,

| thank you for your prompt attention to my suggestions with
regard to the first-aid box. | have examined the contents of the few
box[es] sent by you. Whilst | was about to send you my considered
opinion Shri Satis Chandra Das Gupta was with me and so | handed
the box to him to examine it and give his expert opinion on the
contents and the make-up of the box. Naturally | cannot hurry him.
He is such a busy man. | will therefore advise you not to multiply the
new pattern and await my considered reply. | have some what | think
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valuable suggestions. But having taken advantage of Satis Babu's
presence | want to fortify myself with his expert assistance.

Yours sincerely,
BUTTKRISTOPAUL & CO., LTD.
CALCUTTA

From a copy: Pyarelal Papers. Nehru uemorial Museum and Library. Courtesy:
Beladevi Nayyar and Dr. Sushila Nayyar

67. LETTERTO A. J. MUSTE

KAZIRKHIL,
RAMGANJP.S.,

NOAKHALI DISTT,,
February 28, 1947

DEAR FRIEND,

Muriel Lester has sent me your letter of the 27th September |ast
which has remained on my file for some time. She has also given me a
brief description of your selfless labours. How | wish | could send you
some useful suggestions by way of help in what you very rightly term
ascrisis! The aftermath of the last war isin reality much worse than
the war itself if only because its bloodinessis so hidden from view that
man deceives himself into the belief that heis at last safer than when
the war was on.

| wish too that | could give you the assurance that India, when
she has come to her own completely, will not join the race for the
increase of armaments. | can only say that whatever | can do to
prevent any such misfortune will not be left undone.

Yours sincerely,
M. K. GANDHI

A. J. MUSTE, ESQ.

From a photostat: Pyarelal Papers. Nehru Memorial Museum and Library.
Courtesy: Beladevi and Dr. Sushila Nayyar
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68. LETTERTO T. HAYES

KAZIRKHIL,
RAMGANJP.S.,
NOAKHALI DISTT.,
BENGAL,
February 28, 1947
DEAR FRIEND,
| have your letter' of the 16th ultimo. | do not know that | can
send you anything useful beyond saying that you should glean my
writings on fasting in the columns of Young India later transformed
into Harijan. Mr. Richard Gregg (The Putney School, Putney,
Vermont, U.S.A.) might be able to help you in getting hold of copies
of thisweekly.
Yours sincerely,
ED. T. HAYES, ESQ.
7622 ROBIN ROAD
DALLAS9, TEXAS, U.SA.

From a copy: Pyarelal Papers. Nehru Memorial Museum and Library. Courtesy:
Beladevi Nayyar and Dr. Sushila Nayyar

69. STATEMENT TO THE PRESS

HAIMCHAR,
February 28, 1947
| have received a cablegram from the ex-Natal Indian Congress
which says that the Congress, the Transvaal Indian Congress, the
Coloured People’s Organization and the African National Congress
have decided on their part to refrain from taking part in or in any
manner assisting in the celebrations in honour of the Royal visit to the
Union of South Africa. They feel that in view of the disabilities
imposed upon the Asiatics and Africans and other coloured people it
would be improper on their part to share in the rejoicings of the white
people of South Africa. The cablegram asked me to endorse the
abstention which they describe by the name of “boycott”. | take this
opportunity of publicly endorsing the abstention as a natural and
dignified step by any self-respecting body of people.
The Hindu, 1-3-1947

' In which the addressee had requested Gandhiji to send him scientific or
spiritual treatise on fasting.
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70. SPEECH AT PRAYER MEETING *

HAIMCHAR,
February 28, 1947

Gandhiji took up the thread of his remarks of the previous evening about the
Namasudras. He had no time to refer to the question of education. The blame for the
neglect of education among them must lie solely upon the so-caled high-caste
Hindus. It was preposterous to expect that those who were deliberately suppressed by
Hindu society would themselves take to education. What he, however, deplored was
that there were men among them who taught them not to accept good things from the
so-called high-caste Hindus. He was of the opinion that it was mischievous
propaganda. Therefore, he expected the Namasudras to give definite assurance about
land [for school] and the attendance of boys and girls. In that case he had no doubt
that there were enough penitent Hindus who would gladly take up the duty of educating
these neglected children. He invited the Namasudras to send the required assurance to
Thakkar Bapa who might be trusted by them to do the rest and he hoped that there
were enough local Hindus who would offer their money and ability for the
performance of the honourable duty of educating these children.

He then referred to the prospect of his having to go to Bihar and to the
atrocities that had been committed by the Hindus of Bihar before which the
happenings in Noakhali or Tipperah paled into insignificance. He had enough
pressure put upon him by the Muslims in Bengal to go to Bihar. He had refused to
listen to the advice because he had the hope that he could work with equal effect
among the Bihar Hindus without having to go there. But he had a visit from the
secretary of Dr. Syed Mahmud. He had brought along letter from Dr. Mahmud. They
should know that Dr. Mahmud was a valued friend of his. He was himself Development
Member of the Bihar Ministry. In answer to his question, Dr. Mahmud had written to
him asking him to visit Bihar as soon as he could. He had said that all was not as rosy
asit should be and that his presence in Bihar would ease the situation and reassure the
Muslims that he was equally concerned about the welfare of the Muslims as of the
Hindus. He could not resist Dr. Mahmud’s | etter. He had, therefore, sent an urgent
wire? to Bihar and it was highly likely that he might have to hurry to Bihar. In that
case, he would have to interrupt the tour in Noakhali and Tipperah. But the message
he would leave for the Hindus and Mussalmans here, during the short period he
expected to be absent, was that they should live with one another as brothers. This
they could only do if they shed internal weaknesses and were prepared to lay down
their lives without retaliation for the defence of what they considered sacred.?

! Extracted from * Gandhiji’s Walking Tour Diary”
® Vide” Telegram to Shrikrishna Sinha’, 28-2-1947
® The following two paragraphs are reproduced from Anvita Bazar Patrika.
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Gandhiji said that he was in constant communication with the authorities
concerned on the Bihar situation and had been speaking unequivocally against the
madness of Bihar Hindus. He was sure that he was there where he could serve both the
communities. He had come to Noakhali to serve both the communities and not to
create bitterness between them.

He had come here to create fearlessness among the affected people. He asked
them not to despair and told them that his associates would be working here as usual.
People here must not quarrel among themselves. They must not antagonize Muslims
but they must not also yield to threats. They should rather lay down their lives.
Gandhiji emphatically said that he had decided to go to Bihar, not for the relief of
Muslims, but to effect a change of mentality among the Hindus of Bihar. He hoped
that Hindus and Muslims would live together in amity all over India.

Gandhiji then passed on to a question which had been referred to him that
evening. It was with regard to the partition of Bengal into two pro- vinces, one
having a Hindu and the other a Muslim majority. Bengalis had once fought against
and successfully annulled the partition of their province." But according to some, he
proceeded, the time had now come when such a division had become desirable in the
interest of peace. Gandhiji expressed the opinion that personally he had always been
anti-partition. But it was not uncommon even for brothers to fight and separate from
one another. There were many things which India had to put up with in the past under
compulsion, but he himself was built in atotally different way.

In a similar manner, if the Hindus, who formed the majority in the whole of
India, desired to keep everyone united by means of compulsion, he would resist it in
the same manner as before. He was as much against forced partition as against forced
unity.

Gandhiji then proceeded to say that whatever might have been the history of
British rule in the past, there was no shadow of doubt that the British were going to
quit Indiain the near future. It was time, therefore, that the Hindus and the Muslims
should determine to live in peace and amity. The alternative was civil war which
would only serve to tear the country to pieces. One did not know what the future had in
store for them. If the people really and sincerely, and with a pure heart, wished
unitedly for a particular thing, speaking in human language, it could be said that God,
being the servant of His servants, would Himself carry out that will.

Harijan, 23-3-1947, and Anrita Bazar Patrika, 2-3-1947

! The partition of Bengal in 1905 was annulled in 1911.

58 THE COLLECTED WORKS OF MAHATMA GANDHI



71. ANOTE
February, 1947

Let Nirmal Babu examine my replies for the style as well as the
manner. Are they satisfactory?

From afacsimile: Mahatma, Vol. VI, between pp. 384 and 385

72. NOTE TO DHIRUBHAI B. DESAI *
[February 1947]?

Where is Madhuri*?
It should be done immediately.

| have never forgotten Bhulabhai’'s' ability. | know that he
entered politics at my instance. The difference which arose
between us was one of love. There are innumerable people who drink.
There are many such in the Congress, too, and | could say nothing to
them. But Bhulabhai’s addiction pained me and | told him about it.
Afterwards he even wept before me. | could not bear his being aslave
to the drink habit. And it was with him that | first discussed the matter.
Let me tell you that | had a great share in his being taken up on the
Working Committee. | had to fight for hisinclusion. | was behind his
inclusion in the Constitution Committee also. Need | say more? | also
knew about the proposal to appoint you ambassador. Calm down and
acquit yourself well in your job with patience and self-control. Send
me Madhuri’ s book.

[From Gujarati]
Bhulabhai Desai Papers. Courtesy: Nehru Memorial Museum and Library

! Son of Bhulabhai Desai

2 The note is written on the reverse side of aletter dated “ February 1947”.

® Addressee’ swife

* (1877-1946); eminent lawyer; member, Liberal Party; joined Congressin
1930; Leader of Congress Party in Central Assembly
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73. LETTERTO H. S. SUHRAWARDY

KAZIRKHIL,
RAMGANJP.S.,

NOAKHALI DISTT,,
March 1, 1947

DEAR FRIEND,

| hope you heard from the S.D.O. Chandpur, Tipperah District
that I am endeavouring to leave for Bihar tomorrow. | wish | could
say that | am trying to go because of your pressing advice to Fazlul
Haq Sahib who spoke publicly the other day and repeated the same
thing, though very courteously, on Thursday last when he was good
enough to call on me. The memorandum of Sardar Niranjan Singh
Gill about which | wrote to you on February 22, had predisposed me
towards a temporary visit to Bihar. What decided me however was a
long letter from Dr. Syed Mahmud who has sent it with his Private
Secretary. In order to come to afinal decision | sent a peremptory
message yesterday through the good offices of Khan Sahib, the
S.D.O. of Chandpur, asking whether the Bihar Chief Minister had any
objection to my immediately proceeding to Patna. The reply may be
received any minute. If | go | would like you to give me hints as to
what | should see. The desire to go has arisen because suspicion has
been created in my mind that all is not well in Bihar so far as the
Hindu behaviour towards the Muslims of Bihar is concerned. The
cause in either case, in Bihar or Bengal, isidentical.

There was consternation among the Hindus yesterday when |
announced my intention of immediately proceeding to Bihar. They
said they were afraid of being molested as in October. | hope that the
fear will prove groundless and that you will do all you can to allay the
fear. It issaid that all aid in the shape of rations will be stopped from
the 15th instant. If this information turns out to be true there would be
widespread avoidable distress. The machinery provided for relief is
very slow.

Sufficient material for building is not there. Weavers have got
no yarn for weaving. Fishermen have got none for making nets.
Carpenters have got no tools. Agriculturists have no bullocks. There
are no seeds for sowing. Thakkar Bapa mentioned the difficuly of
merchants in Haimchar for aloan in order to enable them to start
business. He has prepared an application to be sent to you. It makes a
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business like proposition. | should have thought that people who have
lost their all would be entitled to adequate grants for starting business.
On the contrary, however, he offers even interest if it isrequired for
the loan he proposed. | hope there will be no delay in granting the
loan. | would strongly urge that interest should not be asked in such
Cases.

There is a strong belief that there is boycott by the Muslims of
Hindus so far as labour for them is concerned. Of course | have said
that no government can compel any community to labour for
another. Critics have no difficulty in agreeing to my proposition
against compulsion. They however suggest that boycott is approved,
even encouraged, by your Government. | hope that my information is
wholly wrong.

| am leaving a copy of this letter with Satis Babu of Khadi
Pratishthan who is at present stationed at Kazirkhil and who will
represent me during my absence which | hope will be only temporary
and will be attended by success. Though my absence will be
temporary, | cannot omit to mention that so far as | am personally
concerned, the whole of the official world has been courteous and
considerate to me and in this mention | include the police whom you
have put to guard my person.

H. S. SUHRAWARDY SAHIB
PRIMEMINISTER
BENGAL

From a copy: Pyarelal Papers. Nehru Memorial Museum and Library. Courtesy:
Beladevi Nayyar and Dr. Sushila Nayyar

74. LETTERTO ALI HUSAIN *

March 1, 1947

| am surprised at your asking me to condemn the Bihar Ministry

unheard. | am ashamed that at this time of day you should think of

the application of Section 93. There are many honourable ways of

exposing the corruption no matter where it exists. The application of
Section 93 is not among them.

Mahatma Gandhi — The Last Phase, Vol. I, Bk. II, pp. 248-9

' Thiswas in reply to the addressee’s letter dated February 18, 1947, which
read : “To save Bihar from further calamity | hope you will have the courage to declare
that the Bihar Ministry should be dismissed, Section 93 be applied, and the present
Governor may also be changed with this corrupt Ministry.”
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75. INTERVIEW TO WORLD YOUTH DELEGATION*
March 1, 1947
Gandhiji told the World Y outh Delegation that youth in India was influenced

by foreign ideologies too much. They had no living contact with the real life of India
The Hindu, 3-3-1947

76. SPEECH AT PRAYER MEETING?

HAIMCHAR,
March 1, 1947

Gandhiji said that he would try to cover Bajpati also on his return.’ He could
not fix the time. He was not leaving Noakhali or Tipperah without the establishment
of heart unity. There was time for satisfying all reasonable expectations.

| hope to leave for Bihar tomorrow afternoon. | will leave
Haimchar at about three in the afternoon. | will go to Calcutta and
from there proceed to Bihar.*

He did not expect to stay there long. He would not be able to hold the prayer
meeting [tomorrow] in Haimchar but would like to have it in Chandpur.

Q. You have referred to numerous social abuses prevalent among us. They are
there; but then if the men are unwilling to effect the necessary social changes what
can we women do about it?

A. Gandhiji said that there was no occasion for women to consider themselves
subordinate or inferior to men. It was proclaimed that woman was half of man and by
parity of reasoning man was half of woman. They were not two separate entities but
halves of one. The English language went further and called woman the better half of
man. Therefore, he advised women to resort to civil rebellion against all undesirable
and unworthy restraints. All restraints to be beneficial, must be voluntary. There was
no possibility of harm resulting from civil rebellion. It presupposed purity and a
reasoned resistance.

Q. Those who have lost their dear ones, or the homes which they built up

! The members of the delegation had asked Gandhiji the reason for differences
in the youth movement in India.

2 Extracted from “ Gandhiji’s Walking Tour Diary”

® People from Bajpati had complained that Bajpati had been dropped from
Gandhiji’ s programme.

* This paragraph is from Anrita Bazar Patrika.
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through years of patient care, find it extremely difficult to forgive and forget. How
can they get over that feeling and look upon the community from which the
miscreants came with a feeling of brotherhood?

A. The speaker said the one way to forget and forgive was to contem- plate
Bihar which had done much worse than Noakhali and Tipperah. Did they want the
Muslims to take dire vengeance for the Hindu atrocities there? They could not. From
this they should learn to forget and forgive, if they did not wish to descend to the
lowest depths of barbarity. Moreover, they must not harbour an inferiority complex.
They should be brave. And forgiveness was an attribute and adornment of bravery. Let
them be truly brave. True bravery refused to strike; it would suffer all infliction with
patient cheerfulness. That would be the truest way of disarming opposition.

Q. Speaking about the proposed partition of Bengal, one of the proposalsis
that there should be only two separate administrative divisions without any exchange
of populations taking place. This arrangement would keep each community in its
place in peace. What is your objection to such a proposal ?

A. Gandhiji considered two administrative divisions to be as impracticable as
exchange of populations. That would result in an armed neutrality which was bound to
kill all healthy growth. The leaders of both the communities must come together as
friends and reduce their differences and suffer them. Any other way was the way of
barbarism and subordination to a third power.

Harijan, 23-3-1947, and Anrita Bazar Patrika, 4-3-1947

77. LETTER TO SATISCHANDRA DAS GUPTA

CHANDPUR,
March 2, 1947

CHI. SATISBABU,!

| had along talk with Sardar Jiwan Singhjiz. If you think that his
men are really required for service wanted, you should discuss the
thing with him and do what you wish. If in your opinion they are not
really required, you should pay them out to date plus Rs. 30 each for
passage to their destination. Sardarji will show you the detailed
[expen]diture®. He himself proposes to render service in every case.
His case can be considered separately on my return or even by
correspondence.

Blessings from
BAPU*

From a photostat: G. N. 8717
! The superscription is in the Devanagari script.
2 Of the Indian National Army. Vide p. 36.

® The source is damaged here.
* The subscription isin Hindi.
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78. NOTE TO MANU GANDHI
March 2, 1947

Bapa was pleased with you in Haimchar. He spoke to me about
it. But what pleased me particularly was that, during my week’s stay
there, | could convince' him in regard to many things and he revised
many of hisviews. He is a man of great self-sacrifice and humility.
Didn’t you observe that during all these days he took some of my
time only on one day? On the other days he didn’t come at all to take
my time. Such is his consideration for others. He is a class by himself.
If he realizes that he has made a mistake, he corrects it immediately
without the slightest hesitation. | also felt happy that you could be of
some service to him. That iswhy | encouraged you in your attempt. |
have till to read the last two days’ entriesin your diary. Leave it with
me tomorrow. | will go through it in the morning after prayer.

[From Gujarati]
Eklo Jane Re, p. 181

79. SPEECH AT PRAYER MEETING?

CHANDPUR,
March 2, 1947

Gandhiji explained why he had to interrupt his work in East Bengal and hurry
to Bihar. He had turned a deaf ear to pressing requests made to him by the Bengal
Premier and Mr. Fazlul Hug to go to Bihar.

Their statements could not find an echo in my heart. | had
flattered myself with the belief that | would be able to affect the Bihar
Hindus from my place in Bengal. But Dr. Syed Mahmud has sent his
secretary to me with along letter which showed me that | should go to
Bihar for the sake of the Muslims of Bihar.

He expected to return to his chosen scene of service — Noakhali — as soon as

*Vide “Discussion with A. V. Thakkar”, 24-2-1947

% This was Gandhiji’s last prayer meeting in East Bengal and was attended by
over 30,000 people.

® The following paragraph is reproduced from Mahatma Gandhi — The Last
Phase.
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possible. Dr. Mahmud'’ s secretary had said they would not detain him for more than a
fortnight. Meanwhile Gandhiji hoped that the Muslims would belie the fears of the
Hindu refugees that they would not be allowed to live in peace.

Gandhiji, in conclusion, appealed to Hindus and Muslims to live in peace as
brothers and friends and exhorted the officials and the police to conduct themselvesin
such away that the public would look upon them as their friends and servants who by
their selfless service and tact helped the communities to act as friends.

The Hindu, 4-3-1947, and Mahatma Gandhi — The Last Phase, Vol. I, Bk. I,
p. 255

80. NOTE TO JIWAN SINGH*
March 2, 1947

| do not want to lose you personally.?
Mahatma Gandhi—The Last Phase, Vol. |, Bk. 11, p. 255

81. ANOTE

[March 2/3, 1947]*

Y ou should see to it that all who are on the steamer on our
account pay the legitimate fare and expenses. Either they pay the
Government or we collect and send. It looks ugly if we all travel free.*

Show it to Nirmal Babu. Let Mridulabehn® also see it.

From afacsimile: Mahatma, Vol. VII, between pp. 384 and 385

! According to the source Gandhiji’s party boarded the steamer at 9.30 p. m.
Col. Jiwan Singh was the last to take leave. His contingent of thel. N. A. could not
fit into Satis Chandra Das Gupta' s scheme. As Gandhiji scribbled out his orders that
he should send away his men, Jiwan Singh felt hurt and unhappy, thinking it was a
sort of dismissal for him. He was about to bid good-bye with a heavy heart when
Gandhiji wrote this note on another slip of paper. Vide also “Letter to Satis Chandra
Das Gupta”, 2-3-1947

® The addressee stayed on in Noakhali even after Gandhiji’ s death.

® From the reference to the steamer. Gandhiji boarded it at Chandpur on March
2 and reached Goalando the next day.

* What followsisin Gujarati.

® Mridula Sarabhai, daughter of Ambala Sarabhai
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82. LETTER TO VALLABHBHAI PATEL

ON THE STEAMER FROM CHANDPUR,
March 3, 1947

CHI. VALLABHBHAI,

| got your letter yesterday in Chandpur. | am not happy about
your ailment getting worse. It was possible to check it in the past and
it may be so still. If you do not think much of Dinshaw*, | have other
[naturopaths] in view. But who can persuade you? Y ou always do what
you like. Do you realize how many people are dependent on you?

| understand about Sudhir. There was awire from him. . . .2

| may not be able to convince you about the necessity of my
work here, but | am sureit is of the utmost importance.

| leave today for Bihar. There was a letter from . . .* and now
there is another from Dr. Mahmud. Both are shocking and so | am
going. You are all stalwarts there and carrying on the work. In these
parts | am something of a giant among pigmies. So let me remain
here. If anything is accomplished, it will benefit the country. If
nothing can be done, nothing will be lost.

| was pained to hear about Dr. Kanuga's illness. We should
learn to live as God ordains.

Blessings from
BAPU

[From Guijarati]
BAPUna Patro—2: Sardar Vallabhbhaine, p. 350

! Dinshaw K. Mehta
2 Omissions as in the source
% ibid
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83. TELEGRAM TO J. B. KRIPALANI

CALCUTTA,

March 3, 1947
ACHARYA J. B. KRIPALANI
PRESIDENT, CONGRESS
NEW DELHI

YOUR WIRE™. REGRET INABILITY. SEND MESSENGER
BIHAR.

BAPU

From the original: A. I. C. C. File, 1946-48. Courtesy: Nehru Memorial
Museum and Library

84. LETTER TO PYARELAL

March 3, 1947
CHI. PYARELAL,

| have your letter. You are unnecessarily worrying yourself. One
for whom Ramanama is the unfailing cure would not beget [problems
of] blood-pressure and would not hear the drumming noise in his
ears. However, if both these do occur, he would bear them patiently
and die while doing so. | have no doubt about the truth of this point. |
do get [high] blood-pressure and get buzzing in the ears. This shows
that 1 should depend on Ramanama rather than take medicines,
thinking that Ramanama is not serving any purpose. It is true that this
is not easily done. In the matter of the sacred task here, we should
have recourse only to Ramanama. Even so, | did take sarpagandha
yesterday. | do have doubts about its efficacy. My duty isto diein
peace if it is necessary to die. Why should you be disturbed when |
die? You should work harder in that event. | still hope to recover only
with the help of Ramanama. But if | have ceased to be of any use, it
would be best to go.

| liked your bhakhri very much.

| have instructed Dev to send you all the papers that he can. Still
| shall look into it.

" Which read : “We all consider your presence here next Working Committee
meeting sixth essential. Kindly postpone Bihar programme till ninth.”
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| shall be leaving for Patna today. | want to stay there only for a
few days. Dev, Hunar, Manu and Nirmal Babu will accompany me.

Blessings from
BAPU

From the Gujarati original: Pyarelal Papers. Nehru Memorial Museum and
Library. Courtesy: Beladevi Nayyar and Dr. Sushila Nayyar

85. INTERVIEW TO UNITED PRESS OF INDIA
[March 3, 1947]*

To a question whether Gandhiji’s stay in Noakhali had improved the situation
there, Gandhiji said:

This question should rather be addressed to the interested parties
— people who have suffered. | worked among the people and
preached my message of love and communal amity.? Personally | feel
the situation has improved and there is more self-confidence among
the people today, but the sufferers alone can tell you whether the
situation has really improved. It is they who matter most.

Asked about the duration of his stay in Bihar, Gandhiji said:

| cannot exactly say how long | shall be there. | am going to
Bihar after along time. | shall be working among the Bihar sufferers
and shall discuss the problem with the local leaders. | hope it will not
be too long.

Gandhiji expressed his resolve to go back to Noakhali.

| shall continue my work there after my return.

Amrita Bazar Patrika, 5-3-1947

! The Indian Nation, 6-3-1947, reported that the U. P. |. representative had
met Gandhiji in the “evening immediately on his arrival a Sodepur”. Gandhiji
reached Sodepur on March 3 at 9.30 p.m.

2 Gandhiji had visited 40 villages in Noakhali district and seven in Tipperah
during his walking tour, covering a distance of 116; miles.
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86. TALK WITH AMIYA CHAKRAVARTY*

SODEPUR,
[March 4, 1947]>

| am going to Bihar but my work lies unfinished in Noakhali
and Tipperah. | am going back to the Noakhali furnace and if | come
out alive | shall have something to tell Noakhali and Bihar and | can
think of nothing else. | am going to Bihar to find out what is
happening there. | shall come back as soon as | am satisfied.

The Indian Nation, 6-3-1947

87. FROM THE DIARY

SODEPUR,
March 4, 1947

About Manudi. . . .* She has still not ceased to be childish in
some ways. She must learn to behave like a mature girl. | am quite
hopeful she will do that before long. She is very simple-hearted. She
looks after me with the utmost devotion. She is wholly absorbed in
that work. But she is not careful about her food and rest, and as a
result her health suffers. | am very much pained by this. . . .4 But
otherwise | am quite satisfied with her work.

[From Guijarati]
Eklo Jane Re, p. 185

! Rabindranath Tagore's secretary, who, according to the source, met Gandhiji
in the morning

2 Gandhiji had reached Sodepur at 9.30 p. m. on March 3 and left for Patnain
the evening of March 4.

® Omissions as in the source

*Ibid
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88. LETTER TO ARUNA ASAF ALI

ON THE RAIN TOPATNA,
March 5, 1947

CHI. ARUNA®,

| have your letter.

| am glad. What was there to mind in your not accompanying
Asaf Ali*? Go on doing what you regard as true service.

Here | am learning the lesson of absolute non-violence. | do not
know how far | shall succeed. Let us see what happens.

Blessings from
BAPU

From the Hindi original: Brijkrishna Chandiwala Papers. Courtesy: National
Gandhi Museum and Library

89. INTERVIEW TO RAJENDRA PRASAD®

PATNA ,
March 5, 1947

Gandhiji told him that he was not yet ready with his plan. On one or two
points, however, he had come to a definite decision. He would alow Muslim
concentration under certain conditions but he would neither give arms nor Muslim
military and police. Instead, he would give them effective protection. Dr. Rajendra
Prasad agreed. . . .

Mahatma Gandhi — The Last Phase, Vol. I, Bk. I, p. 260

' (b.1909); Member, Congress Socialist Party; President, Delhi Pradesh
Congress Committee, 1947; joined Socialist Party in 1948; elected first Mayor of
Delhi in 1958

2 Addressee’ s husband, who on being appointed Ambassador to the United
States of America had left Karachi for Washington on February 8

¥ (1884-1963); joined Gandhiji in 1917 during the satyagraha in Champaran;
President of Indian National Congress, 1939 and 1947; Member, Food and
Agriculture in the Interim Government; President, Constituent Assembly; Minister,
Food and Agriculture, Government of India; President of India, 1950-62
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90. INTERVIEW TO C. P. N. SINHA!
March 5, 1947

SINHA: Well, now that you have come, our burden is lightened.

GANDHIJ: | have come to lighten it. | have also wired Badshah
Khan’ to come.

s. What did Badshah Khan think of the work that is being done here?

G. He said that the Ministry were agreeable to everything he told
them but the officers would not be able to cope with the problem.
People alone can do it. He further suggested that there should be a
committee for the purpose but it should be purely non-political. | also
feel the same way.

s. There are many Hindus who did good work during the disturbances. Where
there were such workers, very little damage was done. The Muslims still have faith in
them.

G. All this should never have taken place.
s. People forgot themselves for a while. Where some care was taken, nothing

happened. Congress workers did not check the disturbances at all places as they ought
to have done.

G. That is the truth. Advantage lies in admission. Then alone can
the remedy be applied.

s. At places Hindus did their best to protect the Muslims. But the problem calls
for whole-hearted active co-operation of all sections. They are ready to giveit.

Mahatma Gandhi — The Last Phase, Val. I, Bk. I, p. 257

91. DISCUSS ON WITH RAJENDRA PRASAD AND BIHAR
MINISTERS

March 5, 1947

We should make a public confession of our mistake. No
commission of inquiry has been appointed to date. If we are not quick

! Chandreshwar Prasad Narain Sinha, Vice-Chancellor of the Patna University

2 Abdul Ghaffar Khan (b. 1891), popularly known as “Frontier Gandhi”;
founder of the Red Shirt or Khudai khidmatgar movement; Member, Congress
Working Committees; was detained by Pakistan Government for demanding
Pakhtoonistan
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about the matter, it will lose its effect. If we do not appoint a
commission, we shall be held to have admitted the League’s case.

The Chief Minister, Shrikrishna Sinha, expressed the fear that the League
would make political capital out of it. Gandhiji admitted that that was not
improbable. But justice never paused to consider if it would be exploited.

[GANDHIJ:] My sixty years' experience has taught me nothing if
not that. That is also the lesson of my three months of travail in
Noakhali. | was groping in the dark but | said just what seemed to me
to be the truth. Those who regarded me as their enemy could exploit
it. But | had faith that sooner rather than later they would see their
mistake. Be that as it may, my only strength lies in my ahimsa. The
same appliesto you also. If you grasp that, you will get over your fear
and, undaunted by extraneous considerations, do justice.

Again and again Gandhiji tried to clear his old friend of unmerited suspicion.*
Dr. Mahmud’ s letter which had brought him to Bihar was in reply to his (Gandhiji’s)
peremptory inquiries; the Doctor had not acted disloyally towards his colleagues. Dr.
Rajendra Prasad explained that there was really no difference. The Bihar Ministers
were never opposed to Gandhiji’s coming earlier. But they had judged that the
situation might call for the employment of drastic measures; how could they call
Gandhiji in that context? The Chief Minister put in that they had never tried to
“minimize” the atrocities.

GANDHIJ: From what | have been hearing, it seems to me that the
Bihar massacre was like the Jallianwala Bagh massacre?. Dir.
Mahmud’s wife today brought some Muslim women to me. | had no
reply to their tears.

Dr. Rajendra Prasad . . . repeated what he had already told Gandhiji that many
Biharis thought that they had done well.

Gandhiji replied that it was to save them from that sin that he had come. He
had told Nawab Ismail® that he would “do or die” in Bihar.

RAJENDRA PRASAD: | have full faith we shall succeed. Give us orders.

GANDHIJ: In Champaran nobody ordered anybody.’ It was

! Dr. Syed Mahmud had incurred the displeasure of his colleagues by inviting
Gandhiji to Bihar without consulting them.

2 At Amritsar on April 13, 1919

¥ Muslim League Member in Bihar Assembly

* Gandhiji had launched satyagraha in Champaran in 1917 to get the
grievances of the peasants redressed. As a consequence the Tinkathia system under
which peasants were required to grow crops on 3/20 of their holdings at the will of the
landlords was abolished.
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spontaneous loyalty. You saw the miracle. If that happens here, we
shall win over even the League.

Mahatma Gandhi — The Last Phase, Vol. I, Bk. II, pp. 258-9

92. SPEECH AT PRAYER MEETING®

PATNA,
March 5, 1947

Gandhiji apologized for having come in a motor-car instead of walking to the
prayer meeting. Thiswas, he said, a reflection on the Biharis who should know the art
of welcoming people in a quiet and dignified manner instead of the present
embarrassing manner. They should have had consideration for his old age, he said,
and spared him the shouts, however well-meant they were but which were too much for
his ears.

He complimented the vast audience on their exemplary silence, but expressing
his regret over their half-hearted participation in chanting the Ramdhun, he said:

An earnest prayer is very effective. If God is a Power, which
indeed He is, then people must pray. Devotees of every religion pray
according to their practices in their respective places of worship. It
would be more beneficial if all of them prayed together in a common
congregation.

It would be terrible if people should ‘Victory to India and
work for her annihilation. Such action will bring no glory to India. If
we wish victory for India, we ought to work to that end. If we merely
repeat ‘Jai Hind’ or ‘ Staram’ without the appropriate sentiments it
would be mere parrot-like repetition. Please do not think that | do not
want victory for India. In fact | have staked everything | possess for
the sake of bringing glory to India.

| am visiting Bihar after many years. It is not as though | did not
wish to come earlier. It was Bihar that made me known to the whole of
India. No one knew me earlier. | had almost become a Negro after
staying in Africafor twenty long years. Then | came to Champaran
and the entire country woke up. Earlier | did not even know the
location of Champaran; but when | arrived here | felt as if | had
known the people of Bihar for centuries and they too seemed to know

' At the Bankipur Maidan where over one hundred thousand people had
assembled. All the Ministers were present.

The Urdu version of the speech has been collated with the report in Harijan
published under “ Gandhiji’s Bihar Tour Diary”.
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me.

This Bihar of ours has today committed a heinous crime. The
atrocities perpetrated on a handful of Muslims have no parallel, so say
the Muslims, in the annuls of history. | too have read some history. |
know that the world has witnessed greater brutality by man on man.
But it is no use repeating them here. We must not compete in doing
evil and that too against whom? Those who cry for avenging Noakhali
in Bihar do not know the meaning of vengeance. Is it manliness to
return barbarism for barbarism? We ought to overcome violence by
love.

At present | have no evidence to say that Congressmen have
committed these crimes. Tomorrow | may have to admit so. | must,
however, say that Bihar has sullied the fair name of India. When |
heard in Noakhali the reports of atrocities committed in Bihar, |
decided to undertake afast.! It had been reported to me that some
Congressmen had a hand in these crimes. It would be wrong even
today to say that there was not a single Congressman involved in the
mad upheaval. In India the Congress has to accept the responsibility
for the misdeeds of all communities and all individuals. | had claimed
in London? on your behalf that the Congress represented the whole of
India by right of service. Hence any sin committed by India comes to
the door of the Congress. Y ou who are listening to me may not have
done any evil, yet you have to accept the responsibility. | have
become hard-hearted now. | have not come here to shed tears or to
make you cry. | would rather wish to steel your hearts. | could make
you cry if | chose. But | do not wish to do so. We should not disown
responsibility by saying that our hands are clean. India consists of
many communities. We have the tribal people among us. We are
responsible for them as well. If we disown responsibility for them, we
have no right to claim that India belongs to us.

The way to achieve independence consists in all Indians saying
with one voice that unless they gave to the whole world all that was
good in them, their survival would be meaningless. Are we going to
compete in [making] atom bombs? Are we going to match barbarism

*In his appeal to Bihar is dated November 6, 1946 Gandhiji had expressed
his intention to go on a fast unto death unless the madness in Bihar ceased. His
appeal had an immediate effect on the situation in Bihar and the contemplated fast was
not undertaken. His partial fast, however, as a penance for the Bihar tragedy
commenced on November 6. Vide“To Bihar”, 6-11-1946

% At the Round Table Conference in December, 1931. Vide “ Speech at Plenary
Session of Round Table Conference”, 1-12-1931
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with even more barbarous acts? India has placed before the world a
new weapon. | adopted the way of non-violence in 1920-21. We have
been insisting that we will attain independence through non-violence.
| do not claim that all Indians have accepted non-violence as a matter
of creed. But even when we accept anything as a matter of policy, it
becomes our duty to act upon it.

Dr. Rajendra Prasad told me today that some people believed
that the Bihar riots had arrested the crimes in Noakhali, otherwise.
Hindus everywhere would have suffered a similar fate. This is not
correct. If Hindus had to suffer similar atrocities everywhere | would
say that they were a cowardly lot. Who can frighten a person who has
shed all fear? While touring in Bengal | used to tell the people that
Hindus as well as Mudims of Noakhali had admitted that the
miscreant was a coward and the victim who feared him a greater
coward. Those who are under the illusion that Bihar has saved other
people by committing these barbarities are talking nonsense. Thisis
not the way to attain freedom. If Muslims believe that they would
annihilate the Hindus or if Hindus believe that they would annihilate
the Muslims, | should like to ask them what they would gain thereby?
Muslims will not serve Islam if they annihilate the Hindus; rather they
would thereby destroy Islam. And if the Hindus believe that they
would be able to annihilate Islam it means that they would be
annihilating Hindu dharma.

| consider myself a follower of Idam, Chrigtianity,
Zoroastrianism and every other religion because | am atrue Hindu.
All religions are equal and they are founded on the same faith.
Variousreligions are like different leaves on the same tree, with slight
differences in shades and shapes. Scriptures have said that one who
condemns other religions, condemns one’s own religion. | consider
myself arepresentative of all the true religions.

We should not gloat over the massacre of Muslims by Bihar
Hindus. There can be no greater shame for India. Dr. Syed Mahmud
told me that this had brought humiliation to him and to all
Congressmen. He wrote to me to come and see the madness in which
the people of Bihar, who claim to follow me, were indulging and
asked me to stop their madness. Earlier | had wondered, what | could
do by coming here but Dr. Mahmud’ s letter compelled me to come
here. The Hindus of Bihar have committed a grave sin. They will raise
the head of Bihar much higher if they do honest reparations, greater

VOL. 94: 17, FEBRUARY, 1947 - 29 APRIL, 1947 75



in magnitude than their crimes. Thereis an English saying: “The
greater the sin, the greater the saint.” | went to Noakhali with the
determination to do or die. | have come here with the same resolve. If
our thoughts are not right our actions are bound to go wrong. As
soon as there is an opportunity, we commit a crime. Why should all of
us not unite? After all we are servants of the same God, by whatever
name we may call Him. We may call him Rama or Rahim, Krishna or
Karim.

| had also been summoned to Delhi. ‘ Come here’, they said,
‘what are you doing in Noakhali? We need you here’. But | did not
leave Noakhali. But when | received Dr. Mahmud’ s letter regarding
Bihar, | came over here. Muslim Leaguers used to abuse me and say
‘go to Bihar'. It had no effect on me. But how could | ignore Dr.
Mahmud's appeal ? | felt that | would become worthless if | did not go
to Bihar even now. When | came and saw the conditions here |
realized that we had, indeed, committed a great sin here. It is our duty
to atone for our sin and do reparations. Those who have committed
these misdeeds have done great harm to India. Those who think that
this massacre in Bihar has saved India are really mad. Thisis not the
way to free India; such methods would delay the day of India's
deliverance. May God grant us wisdom as Manubehn has just now
sung before you:

AR g WA |
Hereh! GHfa T wEH It

Gandhijike Dukhe Dilki Pukar — 1, pp. 1-6, and Harijan, 23-3-1947

93. SPEECH AT PRAYER MEETING?

PATNA,
March 6, 1947

Gandhiji began his post-prayer address by complimenting the audience as well
as Bari Saheb®, the President of the Provincial Congress Committee and his comrades

! Ishwar, Allah
both are your names,
Oh God, grant wisdom to us all.
% The Urdu version has been collated with he report in Harijan published under
“Gandhiji’s Bihar Tour Diary”.
® Gandhijike Dukhe Dilki Pukar has “7”, obviously aslip, for Holi, which
Gandhiji observed “will be celebrated tomorrow”, fell on March 7.
* Abdul Bari
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for the orderliness which had been successfully maintained during the evening.'
While the Ramdhun was being sung there were some beats out of time. His advice was
that they should practise more until both the tune and the time were in perfect unison.

A note had been handed to him reminding him that Holi was on the following
day and people would like to hear his opinion as to how it ought to be celebrated.
Gandhiji began by saying that he had no doubt in his mind that a religious ceremony
like the Holi should never be marked by wild revelry, but by a disciplined effort to put
oneself in communion with God.

Holi will be celebrated tomorrow. If we wish to celebrateitin a
religious spirit, we must meet and greet each and every Muslim in the
true spirit. With our overflowing love we should reassure the Muslims
that the Hindus are their brothers and that there can be no difference
between us.

Dr. Mahmud is a Congress Muslim; but | have been meeting
Muslims belonging to the L eague too. We meet one another with great
affection and talk in the most friendly manner. Houses of Muslims
have been burnt down and their fathers, brothers, sons, innocent
children, womenfolk and friends have been done to death. We should
not disclaim responsibility for these acts by saying that some other
people are responsible for them. Whoever might have actually done it,
we cannot escape the responsibility. Muslims say that they live in great
terror here. Hindus in Noakhali also used to say that they lived in
terror of the Muslims.

We should not terrorize each other. If at all, we should overawe
each other with our love and affection. Some Muslim friends say that
the Ministry here may allot some houses or lands to the Musliims
under political compulsion. But this will not do much good so long as
the Hindus and Muslims do not sincerely love or trust each other.
They say that Hindus and Muslims have been living together here for
centuries, used to refer to one another as paternal or maternal uncles
and attend wedding and funeral ceremonies. Today, however, they
have turned into sworn enemies. How could the Muslims live here if
this enmity persisted? | had to hand my head in shame when | heard
this from Muslim friends.

| have heard that Hindus here start shouting and threatening
when they see Muslims. They raise the slogans of Jai Hind Vande
Mataram. It is all very well to shout slogans; but we must make sure

! On the previous evening, in their eagerness to go near Gandhiji and have his
darshan a large section of the assemblage had become quite unruly.
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that they do not terrorize, or intimidate our upset other people. We are
guilty of agreat sin. Do we intend to announce through our slogans
that we are proud of these acts? Our that we regard them as right
actions? Hindus in Noakhali were also afraid of the slogan Allah O
Akbar raised by Muslims. The slogan merely means ‘ God is Great’
and no one need be afraid of this slogan. But when slogans are used
for awrong purpose, their meanings too are misunderstood and they
become curses instead of boons.

Jai Hind does not mean victory to Hindus and defeat for
Muslims. But nhowadays the Muslims take it in that light because we
have put it to wrong use and threatened them with it. When we hear
the slogans shouted by another person we think that the other fellow is
preparing for a fight, and we also start getting ready for it. If we go on
fighting like this and wreak vengeance for one place upon another,
rivers of blood will flow all over India and still the spirit of vengeance
will not subside. Hindus should behave so uffectionately that even if a
Muslim child comes into their midst, they should wash and clean him,
dress him well and shower him with such love that the child should
feel entirely at home. Only when this happens will Muslims realize
that Hindus have become their friends.

Gandhiji was firmly of the opinion that this could never be our fate if we were
determined to have it otherwise. His hope lay more in women who, he had ever
maintained, were the living embodiment of ahimsa and of self-sacrifice, without
which ahimsa could never be areality. Gandhiji want- ed everyone to celebrate the
Holi in such a manner that every single Muslim felt that the Hindus had not only
repented what had been done to them but had also gathered love for them to an extent
which outdid their previous sentiments. If the Holi was marked by this revival of the
old friendly relations then indeed it would be a truly religious celebration.

A gentleman remarked to me that they had always regarded
Hindus as a very noble people, incapable of kidnapping anyone's
wife or daughter, since it was immoral and barbarous to do so. But the
Hindus had stooped to such things. Many Muslim girls are missing.
That gentleman also stated that it was difficult to tell the exact number
of such girls, because whole families were missing. Muslims think that
many of their girls have been forcibly kept in Hindu houses. “If we
say this,” these friends say, “no one will pay any heed; but if you
make an earnest appeal, it may produce a serious response.”

| had made a similar appeal to Muslims in Noakhali and | repeat
it here to the Hindus. If any Muslim girl is held by any Hindu, he
should release her. If heis afraid of returning her to the court or to
the Police Station, let him take her to Dr. Mahmud or to his wife or to
me or to Dr. Rajendra Prasad. | can assure the abductors that no harm
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will come to them, if they approach me. In fact, they should not be
afraid of suffering punishment for their crime. He is brave who
confesses his crime and is prepared to suffer due punishment.

Another thing which the gentleman told me was that the
Muslims were afraid that the Hindus did not want the Muslim refugees
to return to their homes. | have heard the same story in Noakhali from
Hindus and now | am hearing it from the Muslims in Bihar. Our
behaviour should be so exemplary that even if an Englishman lives
amidst us we should not let him feel that we are his enemies.

| repeat here what | said in Noakhali. Aslong as the Hindus and
Muslims together do not assure me that their hearts have been
cleansed and that | could leave them without any anxiety, | will not
leave this place. | shall continue to stay here aslong as the Muslims do
not come to me and reassure me that the Hindus have become better
than what they were in the past. | use the word “better” on purpose.
Inaway, all of usarefilled with evil intentions. But every heart which
has evil traits also possesses noble impulses. And now we have to
overcome our evil traits with our nobler qualities.

Y ou should contribute liberally to the funds raised for Mus- lim
victims. But more than giving money, you have to cleanse your hearts.
We have to win over the hearts of Muslims. We must redize that
politics leads to all sorts of things. But even Muslim Leaguers have
conceded that had Jawaharlal not arrived in Bihar* the fate of Muslims
would have been much worse. They have undertaken to tell the whole
world that some Hindu Congressmen have at the risk of their lives
saved the Muslim Leaguers.

Gandhijike Dukhe Dilki Pukar—I, pp. 9-12, and Harijan, 23-3-1947

94. INTERVIEW TO NATIONALIST MUSLIMS

March 7, 1947

Gandhiji assured them that he would not leave Bihar until he felt that cordial
relations between the two communities had been restored.

The Hindu, 9-3-1947

! Jawaharlal Nehru and Vallabhbhai Patel accompanied by Liaguat Ali Khan and
Abdul Rab Nishtar had reached there on November 3, 1946.

? This was reported to the United Press of India by one of the members of the
deputation which had met Gandhiji in the morning and discussed matters concerning
relief and rehabilitation work.

VOL. 94: 17, FEBRUARY, 1947 - 29 APRIL, 1947 79



95. DISCUSSION WITH KHAKSARS—

PATNA,
March 7, 1947

Gandhiji told them that while the Bihar Government would naturally welcome
help from any organization which was willing to work on their terms, he could not
advise them to abdicate any of their functions in favour of a private organization.*
The Khaksar leader proceeded hyperbolically to praise their own past record of
selfless service which was without the “slightest communal bias’. Gandhiji told them
to spare themselves that trouble, for they were not meeting him for the first time; he
knew them well enough!?

Mahatma Gandhi — The Last Phase, Vol. I, Bk. 11, p. 327

96. TALK WITH MANU GANDHI*

PATNA,
March 7, 1947

Y ou did notice, didn’t you, that even a beggar made a specific
donation to the Muslim relief fund instead of using it for himself. In
my eyes his four annas are more valuable than four crores of rupees.
Thisistrue charity ! These are the people of Bihar. Today is only the
third day of my arrival here. A gesture of this kind so soon after my
arrival has deeply moved me. It is God’s grace that my voice has
reached so far. The more pure and true we grow — the more God
enables us to see these virtues reflected in others. Think deeply over
this incident.

[From Gujarati]
Biharni Komi Agman, pp. 15-6

! The Khaksars who had come to Bihar to render service to the riot victims
stipulated certain demands which included that (1) bona-fide refugees attested to by
them should be allowed a grant of Rs. 1,000 per man; (2) they should be empowered
to settle disputed matters with Chief Minister; (3) resettling refugees should be at
their discretion; (4) immovable properties belonging to settlers should be disposed
of a the discretion of Khaksar Relief Committee; (5) they should create an
organization of engineers and Bihar Government should pay for their services; and
(6) their proposal for levy of cess to make relief scheme effective should be
considered favourably by the Government.

% The source here adds : “ The subtle irony was lost on the sturdy soldiers. ...
Their leader jumped at the remark and said that as Gandhiji knew them, he was sure he
would stand guarantee for them and “compel” the Government to “accede” to their
demands. . . . They met him again afew days later.” Vide” Discussion with Khaksars-
", 7-3-1947

% A blind beggar had given four annas to Gandhiji for the Muslim relief fund.
Gandhiji, patting him on the back, had asked him to give up begging, for even a
blind person could do alot of work — he could at least spin.
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97. SPEECH AT PRAYER MEETING®

PATNA,
March 72,1947

Gandhiji began his address this evening by saying that just before starting for
the prayer-ground he had taken a brief rest.

Today aso | was wondering al the time whether we have
realized that we had committed a great crime, a sin, and whether we
had atoned for it. All my waking hours during the day have been
spent in listening to the reports brought in by many Muslim and
Hindu friends. All of them narrated the grievous wrongs done by us.
None of them has been able to assure me that things have now settled
down to complete normalcy. While | experienced the impact of these
reports on me, | also wondered about the nature and intensity of the
impact which these crimes and atrocities must have produced on the
hearts of those who witnessed them.

The ideal of the sthitaprajna (man of steadfast wisdom) described in the second
chapter of the Gita was always before him and he was ceaseless in his efforts to reach
that ideal. Whatever others might say of him, he knew he was yet far from it. When
one really reaches such a state, his very thought becomes charged with a power which
transforms those around him. But where was that power in him now? He could only
say that he was a common mortal, made of the same clay of which others were made,
only ceaselessly striving to attain the lofty ideal which the Gita held before all
mankind.

While speaking yesterday, | had quoted an English proverb. It
means the greater the sinner, the greater the saint he becomes if he
really repents and decides to reform himself. Bihar has committed a
monstrous sin. It must now make reparations of the same magnitude
and become nobler. Bihar is aland where the verses of the Ramayana
are always on the lips of the people. | have moved widely in Bihar and
I know the people here very intimately. They live a simple life and
their voice ever rings with the music of the Ramayana. Their misdeeds
are of terrible proportions; but their capability for making reparations
is also equally great. | have been a witness to this. Then why should

! The Urdu version has been collated with the report in Harijan published under
“Gandhiji’s Bihar Tour Diary”.

% From Harijan and The Hindu. Gandhijike Dukhe Dilki Pukar, however, reports
it under “March 6”.
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they not confess their sins and atone for them? | do not know whether
my voice does reach the people who have actually committed these
crimes. Those who are sitting here in the audience and who had no
hand in these crimes may also wonder how people could go berserk. |
don’t know whether or not | shall be able to reach those people who
had done wrong to their Muslim brethren. But | want to reach them.
They are unlettered; they do not read what appears in newspapers. |
think | must go to their homes and stay with them.

| have heard that these people shouted Mahatma Gandhiki Jai
while carrying out the massacre. | do not consider myself a Mahatma.
But | cannot understand how people who consider me a Mahatma
dragged in my name for committing such heinous crimes. | learnt of
these terrible riots in Bihar while | was trekking the villages in
Noakhali and attempting to unite the hearts of Hindus and Muslims.
Now that | have come to Bihar, | think | must visit the scenes of actual
massacre. | have not yet decided whether | should go to these places
by car or whether | should travel there asin Noakhali, on foot. In any
case, | must make myself heard by those people whom my words do
not reach and, even when they do reach, they do so in a distorted
form.

| said it yesterday and | repeat today that all those Hindus who
kidnapped Muslim women should return them. | am staying at the
house of Dr. Mahmud. It will indeed be a brave thing if the miscreants
come forward and openly confess their sins and are prepared to
undergo due punishment. But if such courage is lacking, they can at
least restore the girls to me without any fear of harm coming to them.
| shall not hand them over to the police.

There was however one thing more he would like them to do. It had been
reported that property worth about a crore of rupees had been looted or destroyed. It
did not matter what the exact figure was. For, if a man was deprived of a couple of
rupees when he had only that amount it meant that he had lost his all.

It isthe duty of everyone who has looted the properties of
Muslims to return the stolen goods. Many families have been
completely wiped out. But some of their relatives may be alive. And
even if no oneis left behind, the return of stolen goods will convince
the Muslims that the Hindus have undergone a change of heart and
they will begin to trust the Hindus.

| shall once again appeal to you that those of you who have
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understood my message, should certainly co-operate in this noble
work and convey my message to the culprits. | can say hothing more
at present. But | have resolved to go to each and every affected village
and to strive to reach the ears of every man.

Gandhijike Dukhe Dilki Pukar—I, pp. 6-8, and Harijan, 23-3-1947

98. DISCUSSION WITH KHAKSARS— 11
[After March 7, 1947]*

They said they wanted freedom to work in their “own way” —the Government
should provide the finance.

Gandhiji was, however, clear that they had to work under the Government and
carry out its policy. He reminded them that the Government had to consider other
parties as well. For instance they were bound to try to secure the co-operation of the
Muslim League in the first place. If the League refused to co-operate then only could it
negotiate with other parties.

The Khaksars talked of the desirability of raising an “auxiliary force” drawn
from the refugees for affording protection to those who returned. Gandhiji was
opposed to this also. Nor was he agreeable to the proposal for forming a trust of the
properties of those who had left the province. He would instead advise the
Government to declare their terms. Such refugees as returned should have all the
protection and help which they needed, but the Government could not undertake any
responsibility in respect of those who chose to stay away. [Gandhiji said:]

If in thisway only five return and they are well treated, they are
bound to draw another five after them. If the Government implements
itstrust fully, I am sure, all the refugees would return.

Mahatma Gandhi—The Last Phase, VVol. |, Bk. |1, pp. 327-8

99. INTERVIEW TO MOHAMMAD YUNUS

March 8, 1947
Mohammad Y unus agreed that those who had prompted or taken part in the
disturbances could be no friends of the Congress even though they might carry the

Congress label.
GANDHIJI: Could Jinnah be left out of the picture? Was it not up

! Vide footnote 4, “Interview to Nationalist Muslims”, 7-3-1947
2 Chief Minister of Bihar before the Congress accepted office in 1937
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to those Muslims who thought that he was going the wrong way to try
to correct him?

MOHAMMAD YUNUS: Alas! That cannot be. Either you follow Jinnah or you
get out of the Muslim League.

G. Then the future is dark indeed for Islam and for India —
more for Islam than for India.

In reply to the question as to how long he expected to be in Bihar, Gandhiji
said that he had set no time limit. Islam had not yet forgotten the Karbala', where
brother’s arm was raised against brother, although it had happened 1,300 years ago.
How could he forget his Karbala that was Bihar?

Mahatma Gandhi—The Last Phase, Vol. |, Bk. |1, pp. 262-3

100. SPEECH AT PRAYER MEETING?

PATNA,
March 8, 1947

Gandhiji said at the prayer meeting that he hoped the audience would forgive
him for speaking always and exclusively on the them which had brought him to
Bihar. It had become his duty to listen to the tales of woe that the Muslim sufferers
unfolded before him from day to day. One of them had come to him and complained
that even so recently as two days ago, things were pilfered from the Muslim houses. If
such was the case it was most unfortunate and it betrayed a lack of the spirit of
repentance without which there was no possibility of concord between the two
communities in Bihar, indeed, in the whole of India.

Whenever any new matter comes to my knowledge in
connection with the work | have undertaken these days, | state it
frankly before the public. Y esterday | referred to one matter. Today |
heard something more about it. | shall report it to you frankly. “We
had imagined that your arrival would put a stop to all mischief,” | was
told, “but it is now four days since you came here and yet the
mischief goes on unabated.” | am witnessing here what | saw in
Noakhali. No one should say: ‘Why should we not do what they are
doing there? We are in agreater majority here.’” Even if we have been

! A town in Irag, which was the scene of battle between the Sunni and the Shia
Muslimsin A. D. 680. As a consequence, Imam Hussain, the leader of the Shia sect,
and his followers were put to death.

% The Urdu version has been collated with the report in Harijan published under
“Gandhiji’s Bihar Tour Diary”.
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wronged, does it mean that we should try to compete with each other
in goondaism?

We behave decently not for the sake of anyone else. An English
scholar has said that one who does good deeds only performs his
duty. If we do a good deed, we do nothing extraordinary. We do only
what we ought to, and we shall be failing in our duty if we do not do
S0.

We have our newspapers here. It is their duty and that of the
Chief Minister to remind the people constantly that they have com-
mitted a shameful crime, that Hindus and Muslims have to live
together and all of us are Indians. Everyone of usis equally guilty of
what anyone of us has done. We can achieve freedom only if we act in
this spirit.

Riots are raging in the Punjab." The administration in that
province is being run under Article 93. Thisis no fault of the British
that it is under the Governor’s rule. They have to run the government
as long as they are here and no one else is prepared to undertake the
responsibility. It is India's misfortune that we cannot co-operate
amongst ourselves and act unitedly. It would be wrong for a Bihari to
excuse himself on the pleathat others have perpetrated greater crimes.
Let us admit that we are the greater sinners. Only then can we hope to
reform ourselves.

Let ustry to tread the straight path. | have received a telegram
from a Hindu brother. It says that | must not condemn the Hindus in
Bihar. It warns me that due to my influence over them | may mislead
them and prevent them from taking revenge. Look at the cheek of this
gentleman who is trying to teach me my duty! He calls himself a
Hindu but does not act like one. | claim to be a sanatani Hindu and
therefore represent the best things of all the religions created for the
worship of God. Every one of you, if you are honest, must feel
likewise. We have committed a dirty crime and | have come here to
cleanse the dirt and brighten the image of Hinduism. Am | going to
flinch from my duty if someone beats me up or abuses me for doing
it? It is my duty to speak out the truth and if | withhold it, | shall be
disloyal to Hindus, to Muslims and to India. | shall therefore advise
you not to listen to those who incite and misguide you.

' Following the resignation of the Coalition Ministry, Hindus and Sikhs
staged “ Anti-Pakistan” deomonstrations in Lahore on March 4 and communal riots
broke out in the province. The Governor of the Punjab promulgated Section 93 in the
province on March 5.
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I wish to tell you one thing more. It is now four days that | have
been here. | have been collecting money for Harijans every day and |
have already collected alot. But today an idea crossed my mind. The
Hindus in Bihar have committed a grave error, they have been very
unjust to Muslims. Hence they should do their duty by contributing to
afund for the relief of Muslims by way of repentance. No one should
think that he need not lift his little finger since there is already a
Congress ministry with a Congress majority here, which will do
everything that needs to be done. The ministers have to work under
great stress in making use of public finances. Y ou should realize that
thisis your responsibility. If you donate money to me, you will be
giving it to a miser who has been on thisjob for the past sixty years. |
have collected lakhs of rupees; but no one can say that |
misappropriated the funds. Otherwise no one would have entrusted his
money to me. | shall therefore appeal to you to donate the money not
for my use, not for any other cause, but for the sake of the Muslim
sufferers. Give with an open heart. A wealthy landlord has promised
to give land as well as money for the Muslims. He will look after all
the Muslims who would be placed under his care. Many more people
should come forward with such offers.

| did not beg for money in Noakhali because | received
unsought about three lakh rupees. Today | thought | should hold out
the begging bow! here and awaken the conscience of the people. |
should take everyone’'s help. What can | do by myself? And thisis
indeed your work; | can only remind you of your duty. | cannot
perform your duty. Hence you must contribute generously to the
Bihar fund. A Muslim child must feel entirely safe in a Hindu locality
and the Muslims should be convinced of this change of heart. A
friend came to me and asserted that there was a time in Bihar when
Hindus and Muslims lived together and called each other uncles.
Today it is no longer like that. We must atone for this.

Gandhijike Dukhe Dilki Pukar —I, pp. 136, and Harijan, 3031947

101. INTERVIEW TO UNITED PRESS OF INDIA

PATNA,
March 9, 1947

When the United Press of India’s special representative read out a message
from New Delhi regarding Mahatma’ s contemplated fast, Gandhiji burst out laughing
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and said:

Of course, thereisjust alittle bit of truth in it.

But he strongly disapproved of the practice of making a mountain out of a
molehill.

Gandhiji told him that there was no present intention of fasting but
circumstances might arise of which he had no present knowledge, which might
compel him to undertake a fast.

The Indian Nation, 10-3-1947

102. DISCUSSION WITH BINODANAND JHA!

March 9, 1947

Binodanand Jha protested that the Government was falsely accused of
slowness in dealing with the situation. Immediately after the riots broke out, the
Chief Minister had sent him to Gaya and then to Bhagal pur. The disturbances were the
result of a“joint conspiracy” between the political opponents of the Congress, . . .
and the British officials in the services. In proof he produced a pamphlet issued by the
Hindu Mahasabha and another by the zamindars. Still another pamphlet asked people
to organize themselves and take revenge for Bengal as the Congress seemed to be
unconcerned about the insult to Hindu women in Noakhali and Calcutta. In Bhagal pur,
the Minister complained, the disturbances were precipitated by the Muslim League’'s
propaganda. It was they who after getting the Muslims to congregate in large
numbers had set the ball rolling. The Government had information that the arms they
had allowed for Muslim defence had reached the Muslim National Guards.

GANDHIJ: | am against the giving of arms.

After theriots, the Minister continued, the League had deliberately implicated
important Hindus. The League did not want things to settle down.

G. In the same way in Noakhali the Muslims complained that the
Hindus were accusing wrong persons. | told them we should not be
afraid of false cases. But we should not hide true ones. | do not want a
single criminal to remain unpunished. The people should themselves
come forward and confess their faults.

J. It was all areaction against the happenings in Bengal.

G. We should not allow anything to deflect us from doing our
duty.

Mahatma Gandhi—The Last Phase, Vol. I, Bk. I, pp. 2634

! Minister, Local Self-Government and Medical in Bihar
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103. DISCUSSION WITH P. C. C. MEMBERS

PATNA,
March 9, 1947

Gandhiji told them that the more he heard of the Government spokesman’s
apologia, the more he felt the need for turning the searchlight inward. He wondered if
behind his earlier determination to stay on in Noakhali was not “sheer obstinacy” on
his part.

ONE MEMBER: Tell us how we can wash off our sin. What are your orders?

Gandhiji replied that he was ever averse to issuing orders. In Noakhali he could
not. In Bihar he could but did not want to. The very nature of the work precluded it.
What he wanted was to awaken their conscience and win their reasoned co-operation.
Since the advent of power, Congressmen had forgotten the path of duty. In away
Muslims had come to believe Jinnah’s charge that the Congress did not belong to all,
that the Muslims that were with the Congress were there as mere puppets of the
Congress with an axe to grind to the detriment and ruin of Islam. If the Hindus were
sincere and brave, even the few Muslims that were with them could give the lie to that
calumny and enable the Muslim masses to see that they were being misled, and
perhaps save them from being so misled.

He had served Bihar before. He had now come to them on what might be his
last pilgrimage. If he died striving there, he would have done his duty. All things
hung on truth, courage and knowledge. If none of these virtues was there, the future
was dark indeed for Bihar and for India.

A Congressmen got up to say that some Congressmen had taken part in the
riot. He was interrupted by another Congressman who emphatically declared that no
Congressman had taken any part in the riot. Gandhiji felt hurt. The gentleman, he cut
in, did not seem to know what he was talking about. Even their own colleagues had
admitted that some Congressmen had taken part [in theriot]. If their confession was
half-hearted they would not gain anything by it. He had said enough. They were all
responsible people. They should search their hearts.*

The Chief Minister explained the genesis of the trouble and how his
Government had tried to do all they could before, during and after the outbreak. They
were caught unprepared. The Governor® was absent. The Chief Secretary and the
Inspector-General of Polie, both Englishmen, had let them down. British officers
were having their revenge for 1942. He was sure, the inquiry would fully vindicate the
Bihar government. Of course, they could not act with the strength of Pandit Nehru,
who gave a thorough shaking to the officers. If it could be proved that the
Government had intentionally allowed a single Muslim to be killed, said Chief
Minister, they would have no right to remain in office.

! After this all except the Chief Minister and afew others left.
2 Sir Hugh Dow
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Then, put in Gandhiji, it had to be admitted that there had been lack of
foresight. They should not bring in the Governor or the English officers. The popular
Ministers had to act as if the Governors did not exist. Granting that they (the
Ministers) had not been guilty of any wilful neglect of duty, still something was
owing for what had actually happened. That needed intelligence, courage and purity of
heart. Never had he been confronted with such a stupendous task in his life.
Everything turned on what he could do with Bihar and the Biharis. If he succeeded in
Bihar, India would be saved, the situation in the Punjab would be controlled, and the
Frontier Province, Sind and Baluchistan would come into their own.

Mahatma Gandhi—The Last Phase, Vol. I, Bk. I, pp. 264-5

104. SPEECH AT PRAYER MEETING*

PATNA,
March 9, 1947

It is good that | have one day of silence in the week. How
beautiful it would be if everyone could spend at least afew hoursin
the day in silent introspection if it were not possible for them to spend
awhole day in complete silence. If people were accustomed to such
spiritual exercise, then their hands could never have been stained by
deeds which have actually taken place in Bihar. But thisis not the
occasion for dilating upon the benefits of the practice of silence.

Today | wish to indicate in brief the duty of those who did not
personally participate in the shameful killings which took placein this
province. Their first duty is to purify their own thoughts. When
thoughts are not pure, one’ s actions can never be purified. Pure action
can never come from imitation. If one tries to become good by
merely imitating the good conduct of others, such conduct never
succeeds in radiating any influence upon others; because it is after all
not the true stuff. But one whose heart has become really pure along
with his actions, can at once sense the true character of the thoughts
which influence the behaviour of his neighbours. When thoughts and
actions have both become pure there can be no repetition of the deeds
which have marred the fair face of Bihar. But the world never
progresses in a straight line. The thoughts and actions of men never
follow a parallel and uniform course. For all men these two can never
be completely purified at any single point of time.

Therefore, | would wish to indicate this evening only that ideal
' 1t being Gandhiji’ s silence day, his written speech was read out.
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of duty, which the workers should keep before themselves. If workers
are available in sufficiently large numbers, it should be their first duty
to explain clearly to the miscreants the full consequence of their
misdeeds. It should be explained to the wrongdoers that such deeds
can never be of any good to them personally, nor can they serve the
cause of Hinduism or that of the country in general. It should be
explained to them that they have not been able to serve those whom
they intended to serve. They should also be induced to come forward
and make a clean breast of their misdeeds before the public. They
should also restore looted property and abducted women to the
proper quarters.

A change of heart can never be brought about by law. It can
only be effected through conversion of one’'s thought. When that is
accomplished, there is no longer any need of compulsive laws.

| had asked you to help in the relief of Muslim brothers and
sisters who have suffered during the last riots. Y esterday you did not
come prepared for that purpose. | expect of you today to contribute
to your fullest extent in this noble cause.

The Indian Nation, 11-3-1947

105. FROM THE DIARY

PATNA,
Sunday, March 9, 1947

Explained to Manudi her duty quietly. She must learn to do
everything in an orderly fashion. | would never abandon her as long
as| am alive. Thisisthe assurance | gave her at Shrirampur. But sheis
at liberty to leave me. It seems sinful to me that she should neglect her
health for the sake of my work. On who desires to follow the path of
service must first look after one’s own health. It was 1 a. m. by the
time she finished counting the fund money, and yet she did not sleep
awink in the afternoon. This hurt me and | had to make her cry.

[From Guijarati]

Biharni Komi Agman, p. 24
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106. ALETTER

PATNA,
Monday, March 10, 1947

CHI....

| have just received your pathetic letter?. Luckily today is my
silence day. Why should you cry? It is your duty to resist. Crying
should be totally forbidden. Fight as hard as . . . did. | have already
said that . . . is not putting up atough fight and is feeling miserable.
Why this misery? Let ... abandon me if | have come to regard
adharma as dharma. If there is the slightest room for doubt, let me
have the benefit of your opinion and see what happens. | am not big,
nor are you small. We are all fellow-workers working in the same
field. . .. My ideas are becoming firmer. How can | know whether it is
[my] good sense or bad sense? In my view it is good sense. But it is
similar to “appearance of silver in the mother of pearl”.

To conclude, do not despair. Carry on your work without giving
any room to despair. By all means, leave me. Right now | am in the
midst of the sacred fire. | would either be burnt or saved. Though you
are far away from me, pray for me that | may have good sense. May
you all be well.

Blessings from
BAPU

[From Guijarati]

Biharni Komi Agman, pp. 28-9

! Omissions in the |etter are as in the source.

2 Dated February 22

® A verse by Tulsidas which means: “Appearance of silver in the mother of
pearl and that of a sheet of water in the mirage, though non-existent at all times, are
yet perceived. Such isthisillusion which none can dispel.”
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107. LETTER TO HARSHADABEHN

PATNA,
March 10, 1947

CHI. HARSHADABEHN,
| got the cheque for Rs. 55 sent on the occasion of
Hemendrabhai completing 55 years. My blessings to you both. The
way you celebrated Ba's anniversary was but expected. Send the yarn,
etc., at your convenience. These days | am wandering from place to

place. With God to protect me, what more do | need?
Blessings from

BAPU
SHRI HARSHADABEHN
RASK VILLA
15TH ROAD
KHAR
BOMBAY
From a photostat of the Gujarati: C. W. 10431
108. LETTER TO VINOBA BHAVE
PATNA,

March 10, 1947

CHI. VINOBA,

| have your frank letter.* Somehow | am not convinced by your
argument. Nowadays Manu does not sleep in my bed. It is her own
wish and is due to a pathetic letter from Bapa.? But according to my
view it does not make any difference in the situation even if | am
practising adharma. But at the moment | am not going to take any
more of your time. In my daily prayers | earnestly pray to God to
lead me from untruth to truth. Isn’t the same idea conveyed in “Lead
kindly light”*?

Carry on your Bhangi work at Surgaon.

Take care of your eyes. Let someone read out [Dr] Agrawal’s
book to you. Haven't you heard of it?
Blessings from
BAPU

From a copy of the Gujarati: C. W. 10546. Courtesy: Vinoba Bhave

* Vide “Letter to Vinoba Bhave”, 10-2-1947
2 \ide also “Discussion with A. V. Thakkar”, 24-2-1947
® A hymn by Cardinal Newman
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109. LETTER TO ANAND T. HINGORANI

March 10, 1947
CHI. ANAND,

| read your letter addressed to Dr. Mahmud. Don’t worry if you
have not been able to write to me.

Gangi* will not be able to do anything here. It is enough if she
looks after you and does whatever she can from there. | think | have
already written to you.

May you both be happy.

Blessings from
BAPU
SHRI ANAND HINGORANI
7 EDMONSTONE ROAD
ALLAHABAD

From a microfilm of the Hindi. Courtesy: National Archives of India and

Anand T. Hingorani

110. LETTER TO CHANDRANI

PATNA,
March 10, 1947

CHI. CHAND,
| got your letter only today. Dev is all right and does a lot of

work. He is not physically strong but he will become so. He is
learning quite a few new things.

Do you get any news from Amritsar? Are Father and M other
till there?

Mehboob? is to be married on the 15th. He is still like a fakir.
He wanted to invite you but | told him you would not be able to come,
though he could send you an invitation if he so desired.
| am all right so to say. Touring is inescapable even here.
Blessings from
BAPU

From a photostat of the Hindi: Chand Rani Papers. Courtesy: Gandhi National
Museum and Library

! Addressee’ swife
% Syed Mehboab, eldest son of Dr. Syed Mahmud; vide also “ Blessings to Syed
Mehboob”, 14-3-1947
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111. SPEECH AT PRAYER MEETING®

PATNA,
March 10, 1947

As the audience took some time to settle down during this evening’s prayer,
Gandhiji remarked at the beginning of his address that it would be difficult for him to
tell them all that he wanted to if they continued to behave in that manner. He expected
that they had come to the prayer-ground with an earnest desire to pray and then do the
work of God, not for mere sight-seeing.

| have been accused of utilizing the prayer meetings for the
propagation of my political ideas. My detractors will continue to
criticize me and those who have made it a habit to abuse me will
continue to indulge in their pastime. | speak of political mattersin a
religious spirit. A person who leads areligious life cannot divide it in
to different compartments. As unscrupulous person who accumulates
huge wealth through fraud and deceit, and thinks that he can wash off
his sins by chanting the name of God at home, is deceiving himself.
God is not such a simpleton.

Indeed, it might even be said, continued Gandhiji that the Law which held
together the universe was indistinguishable from the Law-maker. Speaking in human
language, one might even go so far as to say that God Himself was subject to the
wheel of the Law. We were used to the saying that “the king can do no wrong”. But in
God'’ s universe even such a distinction was hardly permissible. One could only say
that ‘there could be no wrong in the Law, for the Law and the Law-maker were one and
the same’. There was no scope for even the least little blade of grass to be free from
the operation of God's laws.

God is Himsdlf the Law and the Law-giver. He does not
transgress the Law laid down by Himself nor does He allow others to
transgress it. Y ou should understand that in our prayers we do not
merely remember him but also undertake to do His work. If you
realize this, then the meaning of my words will be easy to grasp.

A friend has written to me a frank and honest letter and that is
why | like it. He wonders why | cannot see that the quarrel between
Hindus and Muslims is not on account of religious differences but is
essentially political in origin. The Hindus want a united India. The
Muslims want Pakistan so that Muslims will rule in Pakistan and
Hindus in Hindustan. | really do not understand its implications. One
thing is very clear. Religious or political differences should not lead to

! The Urdu version has been collated with the report in Harijan published under
“Gandhiji’s Bihar Tour Diary”.
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atotal war.

But what he wanted to impress upon the audience was that supposing it were
only a so-called political struggle, did it mean that all rules of decency and morals
should be thrown to the winds? When human conflicts are divorced from ethical
considerations, the road can only lead to the use of the atom bomb where every trace
of humanity is held completely in abeyance.

It is wrong to imagine that, in political warfare, one could
slaughter men, women and children, innocent and guilty alike, without
compunction. This is sheer brutality. Will forty crores of human
beings descend to the level of beasts? Will such brutality secure us
freedom? This is absolutely impossible.

We do not know what is actually happening in the Punjab. As
long as we do not get full and reliable reports, let us hope that they
have not descended to the beastly level of slaughtering innocent
women and children. But even at present we must admit that brutality
is very much in evidence in the Punjab. But to what extent, will be
known later on. Brutality can neither secure Pakistan nor preserve
India. It will destroy both Pakistan and India, leaving abject slavery
behind. | used to regard Punjabis as a brave people. | can no longer
regard them as such. Those who are burning houses, looting
properties and slaughtering the innocent, do not even know why they
are perpetrating these crimes and atrocities. In a regular war both the
sides know what they are fighting for. We are all slaves and our civil
war will harm only ourselves. We should realize the teachings of our
religions and act according to them. Our politics also should be
consistent with our religion.!

Y ou should contribute generously for the relief of Muslims. |
shall stand up myself and collect the money. If you ask me whether
Muslims in Noakhali contributed funds for the sake of Hindus, | have
to confess that | did not get much. The reason is | am now looked
upon as an enemy by the majority of the Muslims. Even then, some
Muslims and Christians in Comilla had contributed more than Rs. 800
along with a box containing vermilion and conch-shell [bangles] for
distribution among women who had been forcibly deprived of these
auspicious symbols.

Gandhijike Dukhe Dilki Pukar—I, pp. 18-20, and Harijan, 30-3-1947

! At this stage the audience near the dais became rather noisy and Gandhiji had
to cut short his speech.
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112. ALETTER

PATNA,
Tuesday, March 11, 1947
| listened to your long letter to the end. I liked it, but it pained
me none the less. We must be hard and sharp with ourselves but
generous with others. Let us not take the view that all three. . .* of
them are at fault. No one is without fault; so who can blame whom?
Should | write to them about those faults of theirs which you have
mentioned? It is your duty to talk with these people politely. Look
within. When pride enters the mind of a sadhaka?, his progress is
hampered. Thisiswhat | fear from the way you have written. Go deep

into the matter and write to me. Thiswill do for the present.

[From Gujarati]
Biharni Komi Agman, p. 32

113. ALETTER
PATNA,
Tuesday, March 11, 1947
...2 | have your affectionate letter. | would have been happier if
| had found in it as much knowledge as affection. My relationship
with Bawas not merely physical. For me, Bais alive even today. Sheis
by my side. Ba was aware of everything | did. Nobody could have
known Baasintimately as| did. . . .
[From Gujarati]
Biharni Komi Agman, p. 32

114. ALETTER

PATNA,
Tuesday, March 11, 1947

| have your letter. Now you and Shantilal have to worry about
Panchgani. | don’t think | can leave this place in the near future. |
must do or die. God alone knows the final result. | understand about
Bhangis. As regards village industries consult Kumarapp&'.

[From Gujarati]

Biharni Komi Agman, p. 33

' Omission asin the source

2 Seeker

® Omissions as in the source

4 |bid

® J. C. Kumarappa, Secretary, All India Village Industries Association
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115. ALETTER

PATNA,
Tuesday, March 11, 1947
| have your letter. Why should | feel hurt when you have stated
facts? Write if you know something more. . . .2
[From Hindi]

Biharni Komi Agman, p. 33

116. LETTER TO B. G. KHER

PATNA,
March 11, 1947
BHAI KHER?,

| don’t think | can leave this place in the near future. It is either
“do or die”.

What are you doing about Hindustani? | hope the Government
will clarify its policy regarding it. Today we are falling from our
stand. Someone ought to remain steady in the circumstances.

Blessings from
BAPU

From the Hindi original: B. G. Kher Papers, File No. 26. Courtesy: Nehru
Memorial Museum and Library

117. TALK WITH MUSLIM LEAGUE MEMBERS

PATNA,
Tuesday, March 11, 1947

In your own interest please do not exaggerate. | admit that
whatever has happened here is really deplorable. But in Noakhali also
[the Hindus] are full of fear. Volunteers amongst you should go there
and convince the people that we haven't yet attained independence
and ask them why they are fighting with each other. Y ou should go
and declare that even a little Hindu girl or boy is just like your

! This was addressed to a student who had complained against a girl studying in
his college who was known to Gandhiji.

> Omission as in the source

® (1888-1957); Chief Minister, Bombay, 1937-39 and 1946-52; member
Constituent Assembly; High Commissioner in Britain, 1952-54; Chairman, Gandhi
Smarak Nidhi, 1956-57
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daughter or son and that they [Hindus] should not worry at all. If you
go and do this much, peace will automatically return to the Punjab
and Bihar. At the same time your name will shine forth in the world.
Everyone is liable to make mistakes; but if they are rectified in time
with a sincere heart, they will be forgotten.

[From Guijarati]

Biharni Komi Agman, p. 35

118. SPEECH AT PRAYER MEETING*

PATNA,
March 11, 1947

Gandhiji began his address by saying that that was perhaps his last evening
prayer for the time being in the city of Patna, because his tour was going to begin on
the following day. For the next few days, he would tour with the city as the centre and
return to it every night for rest, the prayers being naturally held elsewhere. He
expected, however, that the spirit in which the previous evening’s contributions to
the fund for the Mudlim sufferers had been made would continue unabated. The
collections had amounted to nearly Rs. 2,000, besides some ornaments which yet
remained to be auctioned. He was glad that women had given their ornaments, and he
reminded them in this connection that the true ornament of woman was a pure heart,
the place of which could never be taken by any physical adornment.

A friend said to me today that what the Hindus had done was no
doubt very wrong, but that they had acted under great provocation.
How could they remain peaceful after such incitement and
provocation? Well, we should not try to minimize our guilt. The above
argument would mean that if someone abuses or beats you, you will
also return the abuse and hit back. Is it good to do the very thing
which angers you? Y ou in your turn will provoke further anger. The
world has reached the stage of atomic warfare in returning violence
for violence. Let us pray to God that He may save us from this atom
bomb mentality. | have been persuading everyone to observe silence
in reply to abuse or violence.

The whole world tries to suppress the coward. Even God does
not help the coward. He says, ‘A person who is afraid of anyone
except me, lacks faith in me.” The brave man who has learnt the
lesson of non-violence does not return abuse for abuse, nor does he
slaughter innocent children and women under any provocation.

! The Urdu version has been collated with the report in Harijan, published
under “Gandhiji’s Bihar Tour Diary”.
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If | am starving and you feed me, the contentment in my eyes
will brighten your face too. But take another instance. Suppose | am
starving and demand food from you by abusing you. Y ou will drive
me away, saying: ‘Go and starve yourself to death.” My abuses will
not get me food. They will, however, make me feel that | am a brave
man. Again, if you ask your gate-keeper to beat me up for my abuses,
that will sow the seeds of hatred against you in my heart. | will say,
“You may deny me food if | abuse you; but why did you beat me?’
The next day | shall gather a few friends and retaliate. Or, if you
manage to kill me, it will create among my relations and friends a
feeling of revenge against you. This will aggravate the quarrel. | look
upon dl this as cowardice. Even if the Mudims had incited the
Hindus, they should have remained peaceful.

An evil returned by another evil only succeeded in multiplying it, instead of
reducing it. It was a universal law, he said, that violence could never be quenched by
superior violence but only by non-violence or non- violent resistance. But the true
meaning of non-violent resistance had often been misunderstood or even distorted. It
never implied that a non-violent man should bend before the violence of an
aggressor. While not returning the latter’ s violence by violence, he should refuse to
submit to the latter’ s illegitimate demand even to the point of death. That was the true
meaning of non-violent resistance.

I shall now discuss Pakistan. Jinnah Saheb is my friend. | have
gone to his house many atime. If Jinnah Saheb says to me: ‘ Concede
Pakistan or | will kill you,” I will reply: ‘Y ou may kill meif you like;
but if you want Pakistan, you should first explain it to me. If you
convince me that Pakistan is aworthy ideal and Hindus are maligning
it for no reason, | shall proclaim to the Hindus from the house-tops
that you should get Pakistan.’

But if the demand was backed by force, then the only course open to the non-
violent man was to offer non-violent resistance against it as long as he was not
convinced of its justice. One was not to return violence by violence but neutralize it
by withholding one's hand and, at the same time, refusing to submit to the demand.
This was the only civilized way of getting on in the world. Any other course could
only lead to arace for armaments interspersed by periods of peace brought about by
exhaustion, when preparations would be going on for violence of a superior order.
Peace through superior violence inevitably led to the atom bomb and all that it stood
for. It was the complete negation of non-violence and of democracy which was not
possible without the former.

The non-violent resistance described above required courage of a superior order
to that needed in violent warfare. Forgiveness was the quality of the brave, not of the
cowardly. Gandhiji here related a story from the Mahabharata: one of the Pandava
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brothers' was accidentally injured while living in disguise in the home of King
Virata. The brothers not only hid what had happened, but for fear that harm might
come to the host if a drop of blood touched the ground, they prevented it from doing
so by means of a golden bowl. It was this type of forbearance and courage which
Gandhiji wished every Indian to develop, whether he was a Hindu, Mussalman,
Christian, Parsi or Sikh. That alone could rescue them from their present fallen
condition.

A friend has written to me eulogizing the sword. The Muslims
came here, says he, hurling abuses and unfurling Muslim League
flags. We tried to disuade them, continues the friend, but they did not
listen. When, however, we pulled out the swords, asserts the friend, they
came to their senses and became our friends. | tell you this was no
true bravery. The persuasion was backed by the threat of the sword.
Threats do not produce true friendship. If you were honest, you
should have told the Muslims: ‘Look here, you are only a handful
and we are in avast majority. You are abusing us. Y ou want to unfurl
your flag. And yet we shall not say anything to you nor return your
abuses. But we shall not allow you to unfurl the flag nor shall we
salute the Pakistani flag.” If the Muslims had seen that, in spite of
your vast majority, you do not wish to fight them, but that on the
other hand you wish to be friendly with them, their conscience would
have awakened and they would have become your true friends. The
weapon of non-violence is mightier than the weapon of violence. The
last Great War also proves this truth.

The lesson of non-violence was present in every religion but Gandhiji
believed that perhaps it was here in India that its practice had been reduced to a
science.

Hindu religion prescribes great tapashcharya® for the realization
of ahimsa. It is said that innumerable Hindus had shed their blood in
the cause of ahimsa until the Himalayas became purified in their
snowy whiteness by means of that sacrifice. The Hindus of today pay
only lip service to ahimsa. Y ou must demonstrate true ahimsain this
land of Ramachandra and King Janaka. True bravery consistsin true
ahimsa. At the moment you are guilty of committing very cowardly
acts.

Gandhijike Dukhe Dilki Pukar —I, pp. 20-2, and Harijan, 30-3-1947

' Yudhishthira
2 Penance
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119. CABLE TO “ CAVALCADE" *

Unrevised March 12, 1947
RECEIVED WIRE. REGARD DECISION WITHDRAWAL
BRITISH POWER AS PERFECTLY SOUND.? NO
ORGANIC PEACE POSSIBLE WITHOUT COMPLETE
INDEPENDENCE INCLUDING WITHDRAWAL OF
BRITISH TROOPS  AND INFLUENCE FROM INDIA. IMPOSED
PEACE DISTURBED HUMAN  RELATIONS. HENCE  ESTABLISHMENT
OF ORGANIC PEACE IN INDIA INEVITABLY INVOLVES
SENSELESS STRIFE AS IN BENGAL, BIHAR AND
NOW PUNJAB. THIS WILL END QUICKER WHEN
NO PARTY IS ABLE TO LOOK TO BRITISH
POWER FOR PROTECTION. FORCED EMASCULATION
OF A  GREAT NATION WAS  BOUND TO HAVE THIS
SAD RESULT. NO DOUBT MUCH WILL DEPEND
UPON INDIAN WISDOM FOR MINIMIZING MISCHIEF.
WHILE CONNECTION [REMAINS]® HONESTY AND SAGACITY OF BRITISH
STATESMEN AND BRITISH RESIDENTS IN INDIA
[EQUALLY]? NECESSARY. MUST REGRETFULLY
SAY THAT DISTRUST OF BRITISH STATEMENTS AND
PROMISES HAS GONE TOO DEEP AND THAT
PERHAPS LEGITIMATELY. THEREFORE BRITISH
DEALINGS HAVE TO BE STRICTLY FRANK
AND ABOVE SUSPICION AT THIS CRITICAL MOMENT.
GIVEN THESE CONDITIONS | EXPECT NO DIFFICULTY
ABOUT HEALTHY ECONOMIC AND CULTURAL
RELATIONS BETWEEN TWO COUNTRIES. PLEASE
REGARD THIS AS MY INDIVIDUAL OPINION.
ENDS.

GANDHI

From a photostat: C. W. 10560. Also a facsimile: Mahatma, Vol. VII, between
pp. 416 and 417

! The British news magazine had sent a cable asking for Gandhiji’ s message.
% Here follow the words “When perfect severance British”, which appear to
have been struck off.

® Illegible in the source
* Ibid
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120. SPEECH AT PRAYER MEETING!

PATNA,
March 12, 1947

Gandhiji referred, in the beginning of his address, to the decision of the
British Government to quit India. The British were a nation with a strong sense of
reality: and when they realized that it did not pay to rule, they did not hesitate to
withdraw their power over a country. This had been the course of British history in
the past. If the British were going, as they surely were, what should be the duty of
Indians at the same time, asked Gandhiji. Were we to return blow for blow among
ourselves, and thus perpetuate our slavery, only to tear up our motherland, in the end,
into bits, which went by the name of Hindustan and Pakistan, Brahministan and
Achhutistan? What greater madness could there be than what had taken place in
Bengal and Bihar, or what was taking place in the Punjab or the Frontier Province?

Today | visited a village where Hindus had caused great
damage. An old Muslim showed me his own house and those of his
relations with broken door-frames where bricks were removed from
the door-sill. | was shocked and shaken to see that the Hindus had
caused these depredations. | had wept when | saw the ruins caused by
Muslims in Noakhali. Today also | might have wept. But my tears
cannot render any succour to the sufferers. What | witnessed today
does not behove human beings. We are all responsible for this
vandalism so close to the city of Patna. Even if you did not participate
personally in the loot, you cannot escape the charge of abett-ing the
marauders. A mosque was also damaged in the village Kumarahar.
Thisalso | consider to be a devilish deed. It is no justification to argue
that the Hindus damaged the mosgue because the Muslims were
desecrating the temples. Hindus worship idols, while the Muslims do
not. But every human being does worship something or other.

God resides everywhere; not only in the Bible and the Koran, in
amosque or atemple, but in the nose, ear, nail or even a single hair of
the body of man. | have been taught ever since my childhood that
God resides everywhere. He is subtler than the air. It is one and the
same thing whether one worships Him in a mosque, atemple or a
church. | am as much an idol-worshipper as an idolbreaker. Still when
| goto atemple, | am happy if | find it neat and clean.

Those who desecrated the mosque were not men but devils;
because mosques, temples or churches are all houses of the Lord. |
have come here today to convey to you my grief. You may perhaps

! The Urdu version has been collated with the report in Harijan published under
“Gandhiji’s Bihar Tour Diary”.
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be smiling and thinking that whatever happened was all very good.
But | assert that thisis potent injustice. | am grieved when | hear that
Muslims have desecrated a temple. Should | retaliate by damaging a
mosque? How can such damage save the temple or benefit the Hindu
religion? If Muslims are about to desecrate a temple, it becomes my
duty to prevent them from their vandalism, irrespective of my not
being an idolworshipper. | should hug the idol and request them not
to demolish the temple. | should lay down my life to protect the idol
but refuse to hand it over to them. My entreaties will impress them,
they will realize that | mean no harm to them and then they will
become my friends.

Mudims are demanding Pakistan. They should therefore
explain its advantages. No one will oppose it if he sees its advantages.
But if they want to establish it forcibly, it will be a Napakistan
(impureland) instead of Pakistan (pureland).

Badshah Khan is sitting by my side. He is afakir by nature. But
people, out of affection, call him Badshah' because he rules the hearts
of his people through love. He comes from a tribe whose tradition is
to return a blow for a blow, and blood feuds are handed down from
sire to son. But Badshah Khan has full faith in nonviolence. | asked
him how an expert swordsman like him came to believe in
nonviolence. He said that they had come to realize nonviolence. He
said that they had come to realize non-violence as the only road to
their national freedom. If the Pathans do not give up the policy of
blow for a blow and do not adopt nonviolence, he said they would
perish in their internecine feuds.

When he took to nonviolence, he realized a kind of transformation coming
over the Pathan tribes. It did not mean that every Pathan had undergone the
transformation or that Badshah Khan had himself reached the highest goal of
nonviolence. As far as he, the speaker, knew, he (Badshah Khan) was every day
nearing the goal because he realized the truth of it. It was this type of brave
nonviolence which Gandhiji wished the audience to imitate.

If we continue to fight among ourselves, the shackles of slavery
will never be removed. The British are bound to quit this country.
They are a nation of businessmen. They calculate the profit and loss
from every transaction. They have realized that it is no longer
profitable to rule India. But what good will that freedom be to usif we
continue to fight among ourselves after the British leave?

Gandhiji continued that he had come to Bihar in order to make the people
realize the extent of the madness to which they had stooped. His object was to induce
them to repent and thus undo the wrongs which had been perpetrated.

' Emperor
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| have been told that a storm is still raging in the hearts of the
citizens of Patna. | wish to remind you today that Bihar is the
hallowed land of Lord Buddha and King Janaka. Lord Ramachandra
had also once walked on this soil. It will be a great shame if this sacred
land continues to witness the devilish dance of violence. You can
retrieve the ancient glory of Bihar by means of nonviolence. | do not
want the bravery of swords or words. Today we need that nonviolence
which was exemplified by the people of Champaran in 1917.

Gandhiji added that, in his opinion, the departure from the straight path of
nonviolence they had made at time in 1942 was very probably responsible for the
aberration to which he had referred. He instanced also the spirit of general
lawlessness which had seized them inasmuch as they dared to travel without tickets,
pulled chains unlawfully or in senseless vindictiveness, burnt zamindari crops or
belongings. He was no lover of the Zamindari system. He had often spoken against
it; but he frankly confessed that he was not an enemy of the zamindars. He had no
enemies. The best way to bring about reform in the economic and social system,
whose evils were admittedly many, was through the royal road of selfsuffering. Any
departure from it only resulted in merely changing the form of the evil. Violence was
incapable of destroying the evil root and branch.

Lastly, Gandhiji referred to a letter he had received from the Harijans, asking
him to visit their quarters and to live with them. He would have loved to do both the
things; but he had to restrict himself to the mission that had brought him to Bihar.
But having made himself a Bhangi in thought and deed, he could never forget the
Harijans. He was sorry to say that the latter were still suffering from disabilities and
that they did not get ready redress of their grievances.

Gandhijike Dukhe Dilki Pukar—I, pp. 23-5, and Harijan, 30-3-1947

121. LETTER TO K. M. MUNSHI

PATNA,
March 13, 1947

CHI. MUNSHI*

| got your note. | was sure that you would be able to win over
Panditjiz. He admires hard work and intelligence. Y ou have both in
good measure. And you have got work in which you can shine.* May

' (1887-1971); lawyer, educationist and man of letters; member Constituent
Assembly; Food Minister, Government of India, 1952; Governor, Uttar Pradesh,
1953-58; resigned from Congress in 1960 and joined Swatantra party; founded
Bharatiya Vidya Bhawan

2 Jawaharlal Nehru

® The addressee was on the Experts Committee appointed by the Congress
Working Committee in July 1946, to prepare the material and draft proposals for the
Constitutent Assembly.
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your heath be preserved and may you go on serving all your life.
Blessings from
BAPU
[PS]

| cannot say how long | shall have to stay here. According to
me, the Bihar and Bengal problems are really one problem. It is going
to be“do or die”. Let God'swill prevail.
Blessings to you both from
BAPU
[PPS]

This paper is made from linseed reeds.

From the Gujarati original: C. W. 7702. Courtesy: K. M. Munshi

122. LETTER TO BRIJKRISHNA CHANDIWALA

March 13, 1947
CHI. BRIJKRISHNA,

| have your long letter. It is good that you wrote in detail. What
shal | write to you? | don’t have full information of what is
happening in the Punjab. In my view what | am doing isright. | am
trying to transform both [the communities] from beasts to human
beings. It isin God’s hands to grant success. We have to do our duty.
| have no time to write more.
How isit that you have written nothing about your treatment?
| have not received your earlier letter.
Blessings from
BAPU
From a photostat of the Hindi: G. N. 2505

123. SPEECH AT PRAYER MEETING

PATNA,
March 13, 1947

Today too | was a witness to heart-rending scenes. This seems to
be my destiny. We have indeed committed a great sin. We had lost our
sanity. Even now we are not aware of its root cause. Y ou can ask me
whether you should not retaliate for what happened in Calcutta or
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Noakhali. But | have told you that thisis not a healthy reaction. We
should never think in terms of retaliation. If the sequence of
retaliations goes on snowballing, Indiawill be in ruins. Why should
Muslims in Bihar be killed because some Bihari Hindus were killed in
Calcutta?

If we seek freedom, it should be for the whole of India. It is not
proper to seek separate freedom for Hindustan, Pakistan, Achhutistan
or Sikhistan. For, such a mentality may even lead a person ultimately
into demanding freedom for his own village above everything else.
This tendency is wrong. We are al Indians and an evil deed
committed anywhere in India is the concern of every Indian. | shall
stick to my pledge of “Do or Die” so long as the whole of India does
not become free.

We should not spread poison; on the other hand we should try
to prevent it from spreading. If someone commits murder, we should
be sorry because the murderer after all is our own brother. There must
be something wrong in us; that is why our brother could stoop to such
a sin. We should not become murderers to put an end to the murderer.
If our hearts are filled with ill will, we must not hide that fact. We must
openly confess it. We should think over our sins and repent for them.
Sincere penitence reduces the incidence of sin. If we do not realize
this truth, freedom of Indiawill recede still further.

The British are leaving India; but if we continue to hate one
another even after they leave us, then that freedom will bring us no
benefit; someone else will come and snatch the freedom from us. If
we look upon everyone as our brother, then only can we reap the full
gains of freedom. Whatever is happening in the Punjab or the Frontier
today is a matter of grave concern and regret. But we should not try to
imitate the gangsterism of the Punjab. People say that Bihar has made
enough amends for its sins and the Government here is also very alert
and that | should now go to the Punjab. But what shall | do? | can go
to the Punjab only when the Hindus and Muslims of Bihar tell me with
one voice that they need me no more and that | may safely go to the
Punjab. That will also give me strength enough to tackle the Punjab. It
lies with you to strengthen my hands. If you do not give me strength,
how can | go? Y ou will yourself accuse me of running away from my
pledge of “Do or Die”. God is the source of al strength. If He
commands me, | shall go to the Punjab. | am only an humble
instrument in His hands. If my voice can reach the Hindus, Muslims
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and Sikhs of the Punjab, | would tell them that the happeningsin their
province are doing good to no one. If the wild fire that israging in
the Punjab is not controlled, it will vitiate the climate in the whole of
India

Today | visited the ruined and deserted villages in the
neighbourhood. | hung down my head in shame. The people who
perpetrated these crimes should also feel ashamed. Those who have
looted Muslim properties should return them. If they dare not
surrender to any authority, let them come to me or to Dr. Mahmud.
They should not apprehend punishment. We will not tell the police.
But one should not be afraid of undergoing punishment for one’s sin.
It would be praiseworthy indeed if you confessed your guilt even
when there is fear of punishment. Those who have caused damage to
others should pay compensation for the same.

While | was returning from my tour today, the villagers of
Siparah stopped my car and presented me with a purse. The purse also
contained a letter which stated that the villagers were sorry for what
they had done. They assured me that they would try to resettle their
Muslim brothersin the village. | appeal to all of you to atone for your
sins as honestly as the brothers at Siparah. The amount which that
small village has contributed and the manner in which they have
expressed their sentiments deserve praise. It will be yet more
commendable if they come forward to return the looted property.

| shall report to you something which | saw in a village today.
One of your Ministers, Anugraha Babu*, is sitting here. | wish to
report to him also and to ask him why there is so much delay in
atoning for that sin. Why are these villages still wearing a forlorn
look? Y ou will say thisis ajob which the Government ought to do. |
am asking you, why should the Government do this job? Did you seek
Government’s permission while ruining the villages? It is your
responsibility to rebuild the villages. Y ou must remove the debris and
clean the villages. The Government will be thankful to you and will
send you experts who can guide the work of sanitation. Thisis ajob
wherein even women and children can participate. You should help
the Government and the Government will help you.

The village | visited today was more unclean than the one |
visited yesterday. Rains will make it even worse. Someone has

! Anugraha Narayan Sinha, Minister, Finance, Labour, Supply and Price-
Control
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recorded that Indiais strewn with excrement. One cannot contradict
him if one visits the villages. Every corner in the village we visited was
dirty. The lanes were very filthy and the roads were in a shabby state.
| would call upon you to clean up these villages so that they reflect the
cleanliness of your hearts. Besides contributing money you should be
prepared for the work of sanitation. If you do not clean up the
villages, how can | ask the Muslims to return to their homes? It is your
duty to start the cleanliness drive from today. If your hearts are clean,
the Muslims will surely return. | myself wish to undertake sanita tion
work. | have done this work in my time; but now | do not have the
physical strength to do it. You must make your villages clean and
beautiful. Y ou should grow flowers and main tain a garden where
women and children can walk about. The lanes should be spotlessly
clean. The roads even if they are narrow, should be so well-maintained
that even a blind man should be able to walk on them. This alone can
turn the villages of Indiainto heaven on earth.

[From Urdu]
Gandhijike Dukhe Dilki Pukar—I, pp. 27-9

124. LETTER TO PRESIDENT, SAIVA PARIPALAN SANGAM

PATNA,
March 14, 1947

DEAR FRIEND,

The draft you have sent will be used as suggested by you.
Though | am in Bihar at present, the headquarters for Noakhali

continue to be Kazirkhil, Noakhali.
Yours sincerely,

M. K. GANDHI
PRESIDENT
SAIVA PARIPALAN SANGAM
BADULLA, CEYLON

From a photostat: G. N. 779
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125. LETTER TO SATISCHANDRA DAS GUPTA

PATNA,
March 14, 1947

CHI. SATISBABU,

There has been no letter from you and none from Pyarelal or
others. What is the reason? How is everything going on there?

| gather from Rajagopalachari’ s letter* that we will not be able to
get yarn from that source. How are you managing at present? What
will you do about obtaining yarn?

Blessings from
BAPU
From a photostat of the Hindi: G. N. 8963

126. LETTER TO GANGI A. HINGORANI

PATNA ,
March 14, 1947

CHI. GANGI,

I have your letter and also Anand’s telegram. Y ou and Anand
can come over just to see me but you will not be able to go with me
wherever | go. In this tour the fewer the people the better it is. So my
advice to you is not to come. | shall not bein PATNA after Monday.
What is the use of just meeting me?

Blessings from
BAPU

From a microfilm of the Hindi : Courtesy : National Archives of India and
Anand T. Hingorani

! C. Rajagopal achari, who was member Industries and Supply, in the Interim
Government, in his letter dated March 5, 1947, had written: “Y our telegram about
1,900 bales per month came as a surprise. It is unlikely that we shall be able to secure
more than about 100 to 200 bales of yarn for this purpose. It would be possible for
the Government of Indiato arrange for aregular monthly quota of yarn to Noakhali.”
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127. LETTER TO AMTUSSALAAM

PATNA,
March 14, 1947

DEAR DAUGHTER,

| am unable to forget the last day of our meeting*. | do not find
any mistake in my observation. If thereis, tell me.

There is no letter from you. How is the work going on? How is
your health ?

| am well. The task is a difficult one.

Blessings from
BAPU
From a photostat of the Hindi : G. N. 580

128. BLESSINGS TO SYED MEHBOOB?

March 14, 1947
| would give you anything you like just for the asking.
The Hindu, 16-3-1947

129. SPEECH AT PRAYER MEETING®

KHUSROPUR,
Mach 14, 1947

| wish that whatever | tell you now should touch your hearts.
The scene | witnessed today after my tour of two days was very
painful. I do not suggest that my visitsto villages earlier were not
painful. Large houses of Muslims have been razed to the ground.
Women and children had been slaughtered. | just cannot describeitin
detail. Although | have hardened my heart, | am incapable of
describing all the details even if | wish to do so. Muslims were your
brothers and they are so even now. | have been hearing that Muslims
in Bihar were particularly gentle. There used to be occasional disputes

February 26. Vide “Letter to Amtussalaam”, 25-2-1947

2 On the eve of the addressee’ s marriage Gandhiji presented him with two yarn
garlands, one for him and the other for his bride.

® The Urdu version has been collated with the report in Harijan published under
“Gandhiji’s Bihar Tour Diary”.
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between Hindus and Muslims. But such disputes are bound to occur as
long as the world lasts. But they should not tear heart from heart.
Unfortunately this has happened now. | am fated to witness worse
scenes than what | have seen during the last three days. What is
happening in the Punjab is heartrending. God alone knows how long
such riots will continue. The people who are fighting in the Punjab do
not even know what are the likely consequences of their action. If we
go on fighting among ourselves in this manner, a third party may
impose itself on us as an arbiter, and all sorts of witnesses, honest or
dishonest, may come forward. It is better to have an arbitrator from
among ourselves rather than allow an outsider. But the best thing is
that the need for arbitration should not arise at all. | wish that Hindus
and Muslims should cleanse their hearts and live like brothers.

Those who have committed crimes should come forward and
confess their guilt with God as witness. No one should do so in a spirit
of bravado. If someone has misbehaved in imitation of others, he too
should own his mistake. | want a genuine feeling of repentance and an
honest atonement for the atrocities committed by thousands of Hindus
on a handful of Muslims.

Referring to the method of violence, Gandhiji said that some sort of
peace might perhaps be established in the province by means of force. He
would hope, but it could never be said with confidence, that the evil would not
spread throughout India, as it happened in the case of 1857. Similar things, as we
know, had happened during the Sepoy War when it was quelled by means of superior
arms. Outwardly, things quieted down but the hatred against an imposed rule went deep
underground with the result that we were even today reaping the harvest of what was
then sown. The British Government took the place of the East India Company. They
established schools and law courts and Indians took to these with enthusiasm; they
even co-operated in the diffusion of Western culture; but, in spite of all this, they
could never bear the insult or the degradation involved in political subjugation.
Similarly, but in a worse manner, if the Punjab quietened down by reason of superior
force used against the people of the Punjab, the seed of further conflict and bitterness
between brothers that the Hindus and the Muslims were, would go still deeper.
Violence, continued Gandhiji, thus could never be ended by counter-violence. The
only effective answer to it was the way of non-violence.

People had adopted ahimsain Champaran at my instance. | how
feel that it was the ahimsa of the weak. The British, who were our
adversaries, were a mighty power. That is why we seem to have
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adopted non-violence in facing them; but we could nor remain non-
violent in our dealings with one another. We should feel sorry
that we resorted to violence in dealing with our brothers. The
mothers and sisters of Muslims are like our own mothers and sisters.
If we have behaved with them like devils, it is our duty to atone for
that sin.

Hindus and Muslims in Bihar should come closer than ever
before. The followers of the two religions should never be afraid of
one another. We should be afraid only of being overpowered by one
another’s love and affection. It is for you to consider whether you
prefer to live in amity or wish to convert the whole of Indiainto a
boiling cauldron like Bihar or the Punjab.

Women have had a great hand in the growth of ahimsa. They
can, if they choose, play abig role in Bihar. The eventsin Noakhali,
Bihar and the Punjab are most unfortunate. If you have made up your
mind to torture Gandhi, | cannot complain. In spite of my servicesto
the country and to you, you have every right to say that Gandhi has
cheated you and, but for him, you would have slaughtered al the
Muslims — although you could not have done so. | would plead with
you to pay attention to what | have to say. | do not wish anyone to be
swayed by my personal influence; | want you to think calmly and act
on my advice only if it appeals to your head and heart.

The Secretary of the Provincial Muslim League who had been good enough to
come to him had complained that although the Government had made arrangements
for repatriation, the mental attitude of the Hindus was not sufficiently reassuring.
Gandhiji firmly said that the reality had to be faced and a determined effort made by
every one of them to root out the least trace of the feeling of hostility and make it
possible for their Muslim neighbours to live in brotherly love once more.

Hindus, Muslims and Sikhs are all engaged in a bitter feud in
the Punjab. Sikhs have always claimed that one Sikh is equal in fight
to alakh and quarter of men. They arm even their children with
kirpans. Many people are embracing Sikhism, lured by the kirpan. If
you sincerely think that the way of the Punjab is the proper answer to
the challenge of the times, you are free to follow it. | plead with you
in all earnestness to tell me frankly that you do not approve of my
way. | will not be hurt by your honesty.

Gandhiji would rather not live than see the day when the weapon of
nonviolence was given up. It did not matter where he laid down his life for achieving
his cherished aim; anywhere in India would still be Indiafor him. But he still hugged
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the hope that nonviolence would surely be crowned with victory in the end; for in the
example which Bihar might set in this line today lay the hope of peace and progress
for our unhappy land.

| shall not say that Bihar has ignored my past services. | do not
want you to do anything for my sake. | want you to work in the name
of God, our Father. Confess your sins and atone for them with God
alone as withess.

Gandhijike Dukhe Dilki Pukar —1, pp. 31-4, and Harijan, 30-3-1947

130. LETTER TO DR. B. S MOONJE

PATNA,
March 15, 1947

DEAR DR. MOONJE,
| got only today your letter of the 17th ultimo. You will
appreciate my difficulty when | tell you that at present | have no time
to read anything outside the scope of my present activity. But | have
no hesitation whatsoever in saying that if we succeed in driving [out]
the twin demons of untouchability and the socalled caste, we shall
have gone a long way towards removing the third demon, i.e,

communalism.

From a copy : Pyarelal Papers. Nehru Memorial Museum and Library. Courtesy
Beladevi Nayyar and Dr. Sushila Nayyar

131. DISCUSSON WITH RELIEF COMMITTEE MEMBERS

March 15, 1947

QUESTION: Will you advise Muslims to return to their villages in the
prevailing disturbed conditions ?

ANSWER : If you have the courage and if you have the
requisite faith in God, | shal advise you to return to your
villages. | do redlize that it is a difficult task. If | had under
gone such harrowing experience, perhaps | myself would not have
been able to go back; it would have made me araving lunatic. The
memory of murdered men and women would have haunted me.
But | aspire to reach a stage when | shall have such abiding faith in

! Some members of the Muslim League Relief Committee had met
Gandhiji and asked him several questions on behalf of the Muslim refugees of
Phulwari Sharif.
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God that | would go and stay in the midst of people who had become
my enemies.

Q. If thereis no change of heart in the majority community, what should the
suffering minority do ? Should they live in small pockets or leave the province for
ever ?

A. If you do not return and since it was the fault of the Hindus,
the Government is bound to compensate you for the loss of your
property. But | do not understand your demand that the Government
should allot land somewhere else. Well, if you can arrange mutual
exchanges, no one can prevent you. But if the Government arranges
this, it will not lead to a purification of hearts. Many people are
talking of pockets. | simply do not understand this. If those villages
where the Muslims are in majority welcome you, who can prevent you
from going there? Similarly, no one can prevent you from leaving
the province if you decide to go in spite of my promises of affection.
Thereisalaw in the U.S.A. that anyone wanting to migrate from that
country has to obtain Government’s permission. | do not approve of
such alaw.

Q. Should or should not those who have committed murder, rape, arson and
other heinous crimes receive appropriate punishment? If you think they should, how
will you advise the Government of Bihar?

A. Of course, those responsible for devilish deeds must be
punished. The Government of Bihar has not abjured the principle of
punishment. Thereis no such government anywhere in the world
today. When such a government comes into being, | shall listen to
their argument. But a government which believes in the theory of
crime and punishment but does not punish the criminal has no right
to call itself a government.

Q. Should the Government of Bihar make adequate Provision for the relief of
orphans and widows who have no one to support them? If some organization has
undertaken such work, what will you advise the Bihar Government on this?

A. They are the responsibility of the State. If some
organization wants to render relief in its own manner, it will not be
justified in expecting assistance from the Government. This work has
to be done either by the Government itself or in a manner approved
by the Government.

Q. How will it be possible to make good the historical, cultural, social and
religious damage done by the madness of the majority?
A. This has been a cruel and terrible tragedy. Such holocausts
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have shaken the world earlier and will do so even in the future. Only
when we are reformed and tolerant enough to realize that all religious
lead to the same God called by various people by various names, will
the world change for the better. Till then the earth not be a habitable
place. Till that change comes about, it isimpossible to prevent such
barbarity and the irreparable losses resultant from it.

Q. What should be done with those officers who openly helped the rioters and
deliberately helped one side against the other?

A. Those officers against whom such charges can be proved can
have no place in the government.

Q. What do you propose to do to prevent the repetition of riots at place where
the Muslims have suffered? Even now the houses and properties of Muslims are being
damaged.

A. | am doing my best to prevent arepetition. | shall continue to
stay heretill |1 succeed in my effort. | have already declared that |
shall do or die. God will either grant me success or put an end to my
life. | believe that a change of heart is essential if | am to succeed. As|
have been telling the Hindus in Noakhali, thisis not a work where the
army or police can be of much help. Y ou must gather courage and
fear on one except God. | shall advice the Ministers to frame a law
making Hindus responsible for the safety of the Muslim minority.
Such laws will not in fact be needed where hearts have been purified.

Q. Can the cruelties and injustices meted out to us detain you for long in
Bihar? Y our prolonged presence is needed for the help of the refugees.

A. You need not worry on that account. | shall not |leave Bihar
so long as Hindus and Muslims do not jointly allow me to do so on
the basis of their brotherly feelings.

Q. Will you call them Congressmen who organized and led the recent riots? If
not, what action will be taken against them to preserve the prestige of the Congress?

A. How can those who participated in riots be caled
Congressmen? Before condemning them, | must listen to their
versions of the story. | am a devotee of truth and shall lay down my
lifein serving truth.

[From Urdu]

Gandhijike Dukhe Dilki Pukar— I, pp. 35-8
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132. SPEECH AT PRAYER MEETING

PATNA,
March 15, 1947

| have been absent from here for the last three days. During
these three days | visited a few villages. The villagers there have
contributed their mite for the relief of Muslims. They gave more
small coins than notes. Rich and wedathy people live here. You
donated one thousand rupees on the first day and two thousand on the
next day. When the gathering is large, it becomes very difficult to
collect the donations.

When Gandhiji began his address he first referred to his visit* and said that
people might naturally be interested to learn why be had gone there. For him it was a
courtesy call because he could not go expecting any favours or services from the
Governor as of yore. Under aresponsible government, which theirs was, services
and favours he could expect only from the Ministers who were the representatives of
the people. The Governor had undoubtedly powers with reference to the minorities
but these too he could exercise only with great restraint. What they discussed it was
for the Governor to communicate to his Ministers. One thing, however, the speaker
was free to tell them. To his agreeable surprise, the Governor had said that those who
were responsible to the people had to begin with themselves. If they did not begin
with their individual lives and show relative perfection, they could not be rea
reformers or servants of the people.

Gandhiji wanted the people also to disabuse themselves of any thought that
they had usurped any power from the British. Nonviolent noncooperation did not
admit of any such assumption. What they performed was a simple duty. The result
undoubtedly was that the British naturally and voluntarily divested themselves of
much authority and power and it was up to the people to do their duty along the lines
of non-violence, if they were to have complete power as and for the people.

We have only partly recovered what we had lost through our
folly. Thereis on doubt that we shall regain the power in full measure.
| have already explained to you the way to complete freedom.

The recent events in Bihar were a departure from that right conduct and, if the
! The Urdu version has been collated with the report in Harijan published under
“Gandhiji’s Bihar Tour Diary”.

% Gandhiji had gone to meet the Governor about an hour before prayer time and
had returned five minutes late for the prayer.
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truth was not recognized and if the infection of the Punjab spread, he had not a shadow
of doubt that they would lose what was within their grasp. He, therefore, expected
Bihar to recognize the fact and do its duty honourably and well.

You must not fight among yourselves and should not Kkill
women, children and old men. Y ou must put a complete stop to these
internal feuds. If you think that these feuds will bring freedom, you
are sadly mistaken. The belief that through internal fight we will attain
freedom is like expecting a barren woman to give birth to a child.

During the last three days | saw that houses had been razed to
the ground, roofs pulled down and a lot of destruction had been
caused. | hear that old men, children and women had been
slaughtered. Our first duty therefore is to repent for our misdeeds. We
should resolve not to commit these horrors again and to prevent
others from doing so. The same thing applies here also. We must first
reform ourselves and then try to reform others.

It was painful for him to find the houses in the same condition in which the
rioters had left them. If they wanted their Muslim neighbours to come back, it was
necessary that proper conditions should be restored and the debris completely cleared.
Every individual who felt it was his duty to make the return of the refugees smooth,
could at once lend a hand in rendering the broken homes habitable once more.

Some poor Muslims had also come to see me today. | advised
them to return to their homes. | assured them that the Ministers were
looking after their interests. | have given them an assurance on your
behalf and asked them to return to their homes. The Muslims can be
safe amidst you, if it isyour wish. Y ou should now start living together
as before and aways remember that | gave the assurance to the
Muslims in your name and on your behalf. | have assured a
flourishing Muslim merchant that he should not be afraid of restarting
his business in full confidence, for | am sure that the Bihari Hindu
would honour that pledge.

I am confident that the recent tragedy will never be repeated. |
shall appeal to the Ministers to keep the interests of Muslims at heart. |
cannot order them. | have never ordered anyone in my life. | only
wish to appeal to everyone.

When nonviolence finds expression through a person, it
influences other people too. | am not a great man. | am just the same
today as | was when | came to Bihar for the first time. Of course there
has been one change. My heart has been steeled now. | have assured
the Muslims on your behalf that no Hindu will abuse them or hurt
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them or think of doing any such thing. Bihar should set an example
of ahimsa which could be followed by other provinces. Rather than
imitating Bengal or the Punjab, you should build a Bihar which
Bengal and the Punjab would like to emulate. | have come to Bihar
from Noakhali, but my heart is still in Noakhali. | used to say there
that | was working for Bihar in Noakhali. Similarly, | have not lost
sight of the work in Noakhali while | am in Bihar.

Gandhijike Dukhe Dilki Pukar—I, pp. 39-41, and Harijan, 30-3-1947

133. FROM THE DIARY*

March 15, 1947

Talked with . . . for an hour. Received . . . ’sletter. Since | took
time to explain why | was not moved by . . . ’'s letter though it was
very loving, | could go to bed only at 11 o’clock. Got up at 2.30 to
visit the toilet. The rest of my time was spent in deciding how | could
convince him about my point. Still, I do not feel exhausted.

[From Gujarati]

Biharni Komi Agman, p. 53

! Omissions in the item are as in the source.
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134. DISCUSS ON WITH SWAMI ANAND AND

KEDAR NATH
[March 15/16, 1947]:

QUESTION : Why did you not, according to your wont, take your co-workers
into confidence and carry them with you before embarking on this novel practice® ?
Why this secrecy ?

GANDHIJI : No secrecy was intended. Everything was fortuitous.
Previous consultation with friends was ruled out by the very nature of
the thing. Besides, | hold that previous consent was unnecessary. At
the same time | should have insisted on ventilating the matter
thoroughly at the very start. If | had only done that, much of the
present trouble and commotion would have been avoided. The
omission was a serious flaw. | was asking myself as to what would be
an appropriate penance for it when Thakkar Bapa came®. Y ou know
the rest of the story.

Q. Theirreparable harm, if you weaken the foundation of the moral order on
which society rests and which has been built up by long and painful discipline, is
obvious. But no corresponding gain is apparent to us to justify a bresk with
established tradition. What is your defence ? We are not out to humiliate you or to
score avictory over you. We only wish to understand.

G. No moral progress or reform is possible if one is not
prepared to get out of the rut of orthodox tradition. By alowing
ourselves to be cribbed by castiron social conventions, we have lost.
The orthodox conception of the ninefold wall of protection in regard
to brahmacharya is in my opinion inadequate and defective. | have
never accepted it for myself. In my opinion even striving after the true
brahmacharya is not possible by keeping behind it. For 20 years |
was in closest touch with the West in South Africa. | have known the
writings on sex by eminent writers like Havelock Ellis and Bertrand
Russell and their theories. They are all thinkers of eminence, integrity

' According to My Days with Gandhi, Swami Anand and Kedar Nath came to
Bihar on March 14, 1947. Their discussion was entirely private and continued the
next two days. Vide also footnote 1, “Letter to Nirmal Kumar Bose”, 17-3-1947

2 Gandhiji’s experiment in brahmacharya, involving Manu Gandhi. Vide
“Letter to Nirma Kumar Bose”, 17-3-1947 also “Letter to Vallabhbha Patel”,
1/2-2-1947

% On February 24, 1947; vide “ Discussion with A. V. Thakkar”, 24-2-1947
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and experience. They have suffered for their convictions and for
giving expression to the same. While totally repudiating institutions
like marriage, etc., and the current code of morals—and there |
disagree with them—they are firm believers in the possibility and
desirability of purity in life independently of those institutions and
usages. | have come across men and women in the West who lead pure
lives although they do not accept or observe the current usages and
social conventions. My research runs somewhat in that direction. If
you admit the necessity and desirability of reform, of discarding the
old, wherever necessary, and building a new system of ethics and
morals suited to the present age, then the question of seeking the
permission of others or convincing them does not arise. A reformer
cannot afford to wait till others are converted; he must take the lead
and venture forth alone even in the teeth of universal opposition. |
want to test, enlarge and revise the current definition of
brahmacharya, by which you swear, in the light of my observation,
study and experience. Therefore, whenever an opportunity presents
itself 1 do not evade it or run away from it. On the contrary, | deem it
my duty—dharma—to meet it squarely in the face and find out where
it leads to and where | stand. To avoid the contact of a woman or to
run away from it out of fear, | regard as unbecoming of an aspirant
after true brahmacharya. | have never tried to cultivate or seek sex
contact for carnal satisfaction. | do not clam to have completely
eradicated the sex feeling in me. But it ismy claim that | can keep it
under control.

Q. We are not aware of your ever having put before the people at large these
ideas of yours. On the contrary we have all along known you to have put before the
public ideas with which we are familiar, and which we have associated with your
striving. What is the explanation ?

G. Even today, so far as the people in general are concerned, |
am putting before them for practice what you call my old ideas. At
the same time, for myself, as | have said, | have been deeply
influenced by modern thought. Even amongst us there is the Tantra
school which has influenced Western savants like Justice Sir John
Woodroffe. | read his works in Y eravada prison. You have all been
brought up in the orthodox tradition. According to my definition,
you cannot be regarded as true brahmacharis. Y ou are off and on
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falling ill; you suffer from all sorts of bodily ailments. | claim that |
represent true brahmacharya better than any of you. Y ou do not seem
to regard alapse in respect of truth, nonviolence, nonstealing, etc., to
be so serious a matter. But a fancied breach in respect of
brahmacharya, i.e., relation between man and woman, upsets you
completely. | regard this conception of brahmacharya as narrow,
hidebound and retrograde. To me truth, ahimsa and brahmacharya
are all ideals of equal importance. They all call for an equal measure
of striving on our part, and lapse in respect of any of them isto me a
matter of equal concern. | maintain that my conduct in no way
constitutes a departure from the true idea of brahmacharya. As
against it, brahmacharya which reduces itsef to a system of
prescriptive do’s and don’ts and which is in vogue amongst us today
has a baneful effect upon society; it has lowered the ideal and robbed
it of its true content. | deem it my highest duty to put these
prescriptive conventions and taboos in their proper place and to
release the ideal from the fetters that have been put upon it.

Q. One last question. If your attitude and practice constitutes such an advance
in the cultivation of true selfrestraint, why does not its beneficial effect show in your
surroundings ? Why do we find so much disquiet and unhappiness around you ? Why
are your companions emotionally unhinged ?

G. | know well the shortcomings as well as virtues of my
companions. You do not know their other side. Y ou jump to hasty
conclusions from superficial observation, which is unbecoming in a
striver after truth.

| am not so lost as you seem to think. | can only ask you to have
faith in me. | cannot give up at your bidding what to me is a matter of
deep conviction. | am sorry, | am helpless.

Q. We cannot say we have been convinced. We feel unhappy. We cannot leave
the matter here. We shall continue to strive with you. Should you again feel prompted
to go against the established rules, just think of your sorrowing friends.

G. | know. But what can | do when | feel impelled by duty ? |
can imagine circumstances when | may feel it my clear duty to go
against the established rules. In such circumstances | cannot alow
myself to be bound down by any commitment whatsoever.

Mahatma Gandhi—The Last Phase, Vol. |, Bk. II, pp. 226-9

VOL. 94 : 17 FEBRUARY, 1947 - 29 APRIL, 1947 121



135. LETTER TO J. C. KUMARAPPA

PATNA,
March 16, 1947
MY DEARKU.,

| have your letter'. | have seen the power of attorney which |
enclose herewith. | suppose you know that it displaces your Chairman
and other members of the Board?® and enables you to play ducks and
drakes with the assets of the Board. So long as you know and realize
the immensity of the power you are taking, | feel quite safe.

| see from the papers that you have become a member of the
Congress Working Committee. There is much to be cleaned
in those stables. | have no doubt that you will count no cost too dear
to perform the cleansing operation. | shall watch your career with
considerable interest.

Send my love to Bharatan® wherever heis. Do you ever hear
from Sita*? Or, has she entirely disappeared from the village life such
asit was?

Y ou will pass on to me all the titbits that you may consider |
should be aware of.

It isjust discovered that you do not need my signature at all. |
had thought that | was the President of the Association. But if | am
not, | am glad of it because so much burden is off my shoulders.®

Love.

BAPU
SHRIJ. C. KUMARAPPA
MAGANWADI
WARDHA
From a photostat : G. N. 10188

! Dated February 1, 1947

2 Of Management of the All-India Village Industries Association

® Addressee’s brother

* Bharatan Kumarappa' s wife

® On March 26, the addressee replied :“ Thanks for the power of attorney which
reached me at Madras. You are still our President but not a Trustee. Only the Trustees
have to sign it. We shall not leave you off so easily from the Association. . . .”
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136. LETTER TO SOLOMON ALEXANDER

PATNA,
March 16, 1947

DEAR FRIEND,
Of course | knew your brother very well indeed. But | plead
with you to spare me at the present moment. | must not divide my
attention for things great or small. It will be time for me to consider
others if I come out safe from the fire which I am trying to quench.
The odds are so great that the fire may quench me, instead of my
guenching it.
Yours sincerely,
M. K. GANDHI
SOLOMON ALEXANDER, ESQ.
BARRISTER-AT-LAW
25 RUETALAAT HARB
ALEXANDRIA
(EGYPT)
From a photostat : G. N. 8037

137. LETTER TO T. R. VENKATARAMA SASTRI

PATNA,
March 16, 1947

DEAR VENKATARAMA SASTRI,

| have your precious letter about the proposed Sastriar
Memorial*.

Let me tell you that | have not identified myself with the
Malaviyaji Memorial although | am deeply interested in the doings of
the Kashi Vishwavidyalaya.

As for the proposal, whilst | am deeply concerned with
everything about Sastriar | wonder if it is necessary to have an
institution in memory of the deceased for political education. Isn’t
that function performed by the Servants of India Society for which he
gave hislife ? Political education is today being given by so many

Y In memory of V. S. Srinivasa Sastri who had died on April 17, 1946
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parties in which | may mention the Socialist Party and the Communist
Party. However much one may differ from their way of thinking, itis
not possible to withhold admiration from them for drawing to their
fold people of learning, industry and self-sacrifice. | intensely dislike
destructive criticism unless it is accompanied at the same time with
constructive suggestions. | clam no exemption for my criticism.
Strictly speaking mine is no criticism. | have simply thrown out a
thought for your consideration. As at present equipped | would say
that it might be a good thing to make an appeal for sustaining and
expanding Sastriar’s last and best beloved institution. That it needs
expansion | have no doubt. | haven’'t thought out how. | will add
however that the donors should earmark their donations for the object
to be particularized in the general appeal. At this juncture when
everything isin the meltingpot and institutions are undergoing rapid
transformation it may be necessary to take the precaution. If you
think that my suggestion is worthy of consideration you will have to
consult the present President* of the Society.

The fact that | have taken deep interest in your project should
not be taken to mean that | shall identify myself with that or any other
project. My views about memorials have undergone change for some
years and experience is daily strengthening them. But thisis not for
engaging you in considering them.

Yours sincerely,
M. K. GANDHI
SHRIT. R. VENKATARAMA SASTRI
“KAUSTUBHA"
EDWARD ELLIOTSROAD
MYLAPORE
MADRAS

From the original : T. R. Venkatarama Sastri Papers. Courtesy : Nehru Memorial
Museum and Library

! Hriday Nath Kunzru
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138. LETTER TO GEORGE WINTHROPLE

PATNA,
March 16, 1947
DEAR FRIEND,

| have your letter. Of course | am interested in everything about
Thoreau and Emerson. My knowledge of Thoreau is confined to
Walden and Civil Disobedience and some stray writings of his. Civil
Disobedience was the work that gripped me. But | do not consider
myself worthy enough for the purpose of identifying myself with any

Thoreau Society.

GEORGE WINTHROPLE, ESQ.
CONCORD

MASSACHUSETTS

From a copy : Pyarelal Papers. Nehru Memorial Museum and Library. Courtesy
: Beladevi Nayyar and Dr. Sushila Nayyar

139. LETTER TO TARABEHN JASANI

PATNA,
March 16, 1947

CHI. TARA,

It isagreat calamity for Manu, you and other members of the
family. | learnt about it only from Satish’s wire. | never expected such
an end to Mohanlal. But do we not see every day that the most
unexpected things happen ? He who is born must die. Knowing this,
we should learn to remain calm.

What more need | write. Write to me.
Blessings from
BAPU

From a photostat of the Gujarati : G. N. 8788
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140. ADVICE TO MUSLIM REFUGEES

PATNA,
Sunday, March 16, 1947

Y ou have my sympathy in your misery. What has happened
should never have happened. But | believe that everything is futile
unless there is a change of heart. | would suggest that you should go
to Noakhali. Go there and find out for yourself if the Hindus have not
been oppressed. If you are convinced about it, engage yourselvesin
relief work and service in that place. Impress upon the minority that
they are your brethren, that they cannot leave the country, and that
they may do so only over your dead bodies. Tell even the oppressors
— let me say they are the members of the [Muslim] League — that
such tyranny would neither bring any benefit to their party nor would
it protect it in any way. And if the tyrants still continue to oppress,
you must lay down your lives to protect your brethren. You must
courageously tell them that they should first strike you before striking
the innocent. Even if there is one such person among you, your fame
would be matchless in all the world and God would shower flowers
over you, and that fragrance would spread in the entire country. | am
merely showing you your duty, since you have come to seek my
advice. | would be the happiest man to see you rising high and to see
Pakistan becoming really pak®. And, if you do this people would
come to you to learn the lessons of nonviolence and love.

[From Guijarati]

Biharni Komi Agman, p. 63

! The refugees, accompanied by S. N. Maulvi, Dr. Azad Hussain and Hakim
Tasadduq Hussain, called on Gandhiji at 2.15 p. m.
? Pure
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141. ADVICE TO MUSLIM WOMEN"

PATNA,
Sunday, March 16, 1947

Y ou should have faith in God. He is the one who looks after
everyone. | am only striving [to do my duty]. Y ou mix with the Hindu
women. Tell the children in your families things which promote love
[among the two communities]. What you can do, men can never do.
Tell your husband, son or father, or whoever is there, that he should
rush to the rescue of the Hindus if they are terrorized by the Muslims
anywhere in the country. Protect the Hindu women and inspire
confidence in them that they are your own sisters. | have described
women as the very embodiment of nonviolence. God has given to
woman a loving heart which man does not possess. Y ou should put it
to good use. It is as clear to me as daylight that as long as women do
not acquire qualities of refinement and do not realize their duty, the
country can make no progress. Women from numerous such Muslim
families have come to me. So many of them are just like daughters to
me. One of them isright in Noakhali. Amtussalaam is just skin and
bones, but she is putting up a brave fight. She undertook a number of
fasts. Raihana who comes from the family of Abbas Tyabji isjust as
brave. Sheis a devotee of Krishna. She reads the Gita and the Koran
together. She understands the meaning of the Gita as much as she
understands the meaning of the Koran. | believe that she has more
Hindus than Muslims among her friends. There are many girls who
have given up distinctions of caste and creed. My advice to you is that
you should forget distinctions of caste and community if you want to
be happy. It is one God who has endowed us with human life. We are
all human beings, all men and women belonging to the same country.
Let usjustify our religion as human beings.

[From Gujarati]
Biharni Komi Agman, p. 64

! The Muslim women came clad in burgas. Gandhiji asked : “Why do you
observe purdah from me ? Women do not observe it with me. The real purdah should
be of the heart.” The women then removed their burgas.
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142. SPEECH AT PRAYER MEETING

PATNA,
March 16, 1947

| did not find time to write my speech for this silence day. | had
told you yesterday itself that Khan Abdul Ghaffar Khan would speak
to you today. He will therefore address you today instead of me.

[From Urdu]
Gandhijike Dukhe Dilki Pukar—I, p. 42

143. FROM THE DIARY*
PATNA,
Sunday, March 16, 1947

Today | was wide awake as it struck two. | did not seem to get
sleep. Then all at once | heard Manudi reciting the shlokas of the
morning prayer. | was startled. | called her a couple of times. Then
she was quiet. She did not say anything, but she was frightened. She
lifted my mosquitocurtain and held my hand. | stroked her for a few
minutes and asked her to be calm. Now she became conscious and
withdrew her hand. | asked her to go to sleep without worrying. | told
her not to worry about the prayers and assured her that | would wake
her up [in time]. That girl is worrying so much about me! She isjust
like an innocent child. It is only because of that quality in her that she
has remained with me in such atrying yajna. | started thinking about
it. | am not happy about the bleeding from her nose. | have asked her
to keep a mud-pack on the back of her neck. | started thinking about
... I did not like the manner of . . .’s questions and the grin on his
face. | started thinking about my dharma and it was already 3.30 a.m.
| started cleaning my teeth and then woke up Manudi . . . Got the
prayers started at 3.55 am.

Held talks between 7.30 and 9.30 a.m. | explained to them my
point of view. In the light of my present views about brahmacharya |
felt that their ideas about brahmacharya were faulty and imperfect. It
is very necessary for them to improve those ideas along my line. |
have never sought the company of a woman with a view to satisfying
my passions. Of course | mentioned one exception. | have made

! Omissionsin the item are as in the source.
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progress by my actions and expect to advance further. | am not in any
way bound to. . . They may continue to write letters. | shall try to
reply. It would be better if only one of them wrote.

[From Gujarati]
Biharni Komi Agman, pp. 60-1

144. LETTERTO SRHUGH DOW

PATNA,
March 17, 1947

DEAR FRIEND,

| was so struck by your reference (strange for a bureaucrat) to
individual conduct that | referred to it on Saturday at my after prayer
speech.*

Yesterday evening | met your Ministers and gave them the
purport of our talk of last Saturday. | told them that

1. you considered them to be dilatory about placating the
Muslims who were so much the injured party;

2. permanent officials interpreted this to mean that the Ministers
did not want them to be prompt in taking energetic action to restore
confidence among the Muslims;

3. the guilty ones were not properly dealt with;

4. the League demands were turned down not on merits but
because they were League demands.

The Ministers present totally refuted all these imputations and
the Chief Minister expressed considerable surprise. The Chief Minister
said that he and his colleagues had often differed from you on several
questions including the minorities. He added, however, that on behalf
of himself and his colleagues he had given you the assurance that in
their handling of the minority question they would readily accept
your advice even though there were differences between you and
them.

I am showing this to the Chief Minister to check up my version
of what the Ministers had said.

My only reason for writing this is not to advertise differences
between you and your Ministers but to remove misunderstandings and
to assist, wherever | can, in promoting goodwill between the retiring
British official world and the Indian politicians who are, and are

! Vide “ Speech at Prayer Meeting”, 15-3-1947
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becoming growingly, responsible for the well being of the people
whom they guide and serve.

| casually referred to the condition of the working men in the
micaindustry. But | shall await your promised note before | can
pursueit fully.!
Yours sincerely,
M. K. GANDHI
H. E., THE GOVERNOR OF BIHAR
Gandhiji's Correspondence with the Government, 1944-47, pp. 228-9

145. LETTER TO VALLABHBHAI PATEL

PATNA,
March 17, 1947

CHI. VALLABHBHAI,

Please read the enclosed papers about Paul and do what is
necessary. | am sorry to have to put you to al this trouble but |
cannot help it. However, if you can find no time at all to read them,
forget about the matter and return the papers. If you do anything
about it, you need not send them back.

Nathji and Swami had been here. We talked at great length.?
They themselves will write to you.

Sushila writes that you are not keeping good health; please be
careful.

Blessings from
BAPU
[From Gujarati]

Bapuna Patro—2 : Sardar Vallabhbhaine, p. 351

! For the addressee’ s reply, vide " Letter from Sir Hugh Dow”, 17-3-1947
2 Vide” Discussion with Swami Anand and Kedar Nath”
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146. ALETTER

PATNA,
Monday, March 17, 1947

Y ou seem to believe that after thousands of years | am the one
born (as an incarnation of God). But | don't think so. | claim that all
those who work with the same earnestness as | do can certainly do
what | have been able to. It should be possible for everyone to be
always vigilant and go on trying ceaselessly. But if what you believeis
true, should | not be able to realize even the physical impuritiesin me
2

Our definition of brahmacharya is imperfect. | am trying to
make it perfect. Even the sharp intelligence of . . . isincapable of
[understanding] brahmacharya. It was clear from the conversation
between us that . . . aso does not know the meaning of
brahmacharya. | cannot express the pain | feel as | write these words.
| am steeling my heart to write this. . . . | claim that except on one
occasion | have not been a victim of passions and that is why | write
the harsh words above.

[From Gujarati]

Biharni Komi Agman, pp. 67-8

147. LETTER TO SATISCHANDRA DAS GUPTA

ON THE TRAIN
March 17, 1947

CHI. SATISBABU,

| have your letter. Write and tell me how the whole work is
going on. | understand about Sardar Jiwan Singh. | had written that
the accounts should be checked first.? But it does not matter if the
money has already been given. Now the balance should tally. Sardar
Jiwan Singh must be staying with you. If he needs special diet, arrange
for it. He requires meat and fish. Let him have these. Everything will
be set right with love.

' Omissionsin the letter are as in the source.
2 Vide “ Letter to Stis Chandra Das Gupta’, 2-3-1947
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Now how do you manage for the cloth? Could you get
handspun yarn? Do the weavers weave it? They are our true support.
Where is Hemprabhadevi*? How is she? She should not worry.

Nathji and Swami had come. They discussed Manu with me at
length.

Blessings from
BAPU
From a photostat of the Hindi : G. N. 8964

148. NOTE TO NIRMAL KUMAR BOSE?

March 17, 1947

Y ou may post it if you wish. There are errors of factsin the
letter. There are other defects to which | would draw your attention. |
would therefore advise you to wait till you have seen my opinion. But
do just as you please.®

My Days with Gandhi, p. 175

149. LETTER TO NIRMAL KUMAR BOSE*
March 17, 1947

CHI. NIRMAL BABU,

Y our letter is full of inaccuracies and unwarranted assumptions.
| had asked you to discuss the thing with me. Y ou could not do it. The
result is bad. I do not mind what opinion you hold, only it must be
well fortified

You should have ascertained my views from me before
accepting second-hand evidence however honest it might be.

| go beyond the orthodox view as we know it. My definition
does not admit of laxity. | do not call that brahmacharya that means

! Addressee swife

2 According to the source, after their discussion with Gandhiji, Kedar Nath and
Swami Anand asked the addressee his views since Gandhiji had mentioned that “his
immediate personal associates did not see anything wrong in his acts’. The addressee
stated his views in aletter and gave it to them for communication to other friends.
Afterwards he placed before Gandhiji a copy of the letter along with the post-script.
As Gandhiji was observing silence, he wrote this note in reply. For extracts from the
addressee’ s letter, vide “N. K. Bose Letter to Kedar Nath and Others’, 16-3-1947

® Vide also the following two items.

* This was written on the train to Masaurhi and handed over to the addressee
who was accompanying Gandhiji.
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not to touch awoman. What | do today is nothing new for me. So far
as | known myself, | hold today the same view | held when about 45
years ago | took the vow. Without the vow in England as a student, |
freely mixed with women and yet | called myself a brahmachari for
the period of my residence there. For me, brahmacharya is that
thought and practice which puts you in touch with the Infinite and
takes you to His presence.* In that sense Dayanand Saraswati? was not.
Most certainly | am not. But | am trying to reach that state and, in
accordance with my belief, | have made substantial progress in that
direction.

| have not become modern at all in the same sense you seem to
mean. | am as ancient as can be imagined and hope to remain so to
the end of my life. If this displeases you, | cannot help it. Let me
appear to you and others as naked as | can.

Y ou have not done justiceto A, B or C. You do not know them
fully. Have you any right to judge them before you have taken the
trouble of knowing them as fully as possible? That you may not want
to or that you have no time, | would appreciate. But that very fact
should prevent you from passing judgement on them.

| am amazed at your assumption that my experiment im- plied
any assumption of woman’s inferiority. She would be, if | looked
upon her with lust with or without her consent. | have believed in
woman’s perfect equality with man. My wife was ‘inferior’ when she
was the instrument of my lust. She ceased to be that when she lay with
me naked as my sister. If she and | were not lustfully agitated in our
minds and bodies, the contact raised both of us.

Should there be difference if it is not my wife, as she once was,
but some other sister ? | do hope you will acquit me of having any
lustful designs upon women or girls who have been naked with me. A
or B’s hysteria had nothing to do with my experiment, | hope. They
were before the experiment what they are today, if they have not less
of it.

The distinction between Manu and others is meaningless for our
discussion. That she is my grand-daughter may exempt me from
criticism. But | do not want that advantage.

“Experiment” or prayog is an ill-chosen word. | have used it. It
differs from the present in the sense that the one could be stopped by

»Vide also “Letter to Amrit Kaur”, 18-3-1947
2 Founder of Arya Samaj
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me, the other being dharma could not be. Now comes the stop.

That | should take the public in my confidence before | do
anything new is [not] novel to me. In the present case there is nothing
new.

BAPU
My Days with Gandhi, pp. 176-8

150. NOTE TO NIRMAL KUMAR BOSE!

March 17, 1947

When must you go? There is no immediate hurry, is there? Let
us wait till the three days' tour is over.

My Days with Gandhi, p. 178

151. SPEECH AT PRAYER MEETING *

MASAURHI,
March 17, 1947

It is not necessary, perhaps, to tell you that | have undertaken
this tour not for pleasure but out of sorrow. | visit only those places
where Muslims have suffered in some way or the other at the hands of
Hindus. Everywhere | appeal to Hindus to atone for their sins.

A large number of Hindus attacked a handful of Muslims and
killed women and children. This is not bravery but cowardice. It is
cowardly to kill a person even under an apprehension that heis likely
to kill us. We have to show true repentance for whatever has
happened. If a brother of ours commits a crime, we cannot escape the
responsibility. | include myself when | say “we”. No one should
think that he has committed no crime and this old man is
unnecessarily implicating him. When one man commits a crime, all
mankind becomes responsible for it. Hence even if a single Hindu has
misbehaved here, all the Hindus will be put in the dock.

What the Muslims have done in Noakhali or what the Hindus

! After receiving the letter dated March 17, vide the preceding item, the
addressee told Gandhiji that he “might have to Oleave him earlier than by the end of
the month”. Vide also “Letter to Nirmal Kumar Bose”, 18-3-1947

> The meeting was attended by more than thirty thousand people. A very
large number of people participated in the Ramdhun for which Gandhiji congratul ated
them.
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have done in Bihar brings no benefit to India; on the contrary it is an
obstacle to India's independence. | have been told that people
shouted Mahavirjiki jai and Gandhijiki jai while committing these
heinous crimes. Such people have not understood me. | am appealing
to Hindus here that whoever has committed a crime should confessiit.
Those who have committed robbery, arson or murder should come to
me and make a confession. | am no police officer; nor have | come
here to prosecute you. Y ou should not hesitate to make a confession
before me at any rate. | shall not report the names of the criminals to
the Ministers here, even though they are my friends. You should
display your courage by confessing your guilt and ennoble your soul
by atoning for it.

Hindus have written to me that they have indeed committed the
crimes, but they plead that they have had enough provocation.
According to them, the Muslims took the offensive and the Hindus
retaliated in selfdefence. Now, | pose this question before you.
Suppose a man speaksill of me or abuses me, should | retaliate by
abusing him and soil my own tongue? If a man turns into a devil,
should I confront him by becoming a devil myself? One who attacks
another person is a coward, but it would be an act of bravery to refuse
to be provoked even in the face of an attack. One should realize that if
the aggressor commits a shameful act one should not oneself commit
asimilar act.

I know the people of Bihar very well and | have visited this
province very often. | had built great hopes on Bihar but this time the
people here have dashed them to the ground. The only thing left to us
now is to confess honestly that we are guilty of a serious crime. We
should atone for the crime and declare that it would never be
repeated. A Hindu friend has said, “| agree that you should have
fought with those Muslims who had provoked you; but what is the
justification for thousands of Hindus killing innocent women and
children? Even if you had resorted to violence, you should have done
it in a brave manner.”

Muslims complain that the Provincial Government’s hands are
aso not clean and the Ministers participated in the atrocities
committed on the Muslims. It is difficult for me to believe this; |
cannot also believe that the Chief Minister had a hand in this. Hindus
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152. LETTER TO AMRIT KAUR

PATNA,
March 18, 1947

CHI. AMRIT,

| had your letter. | wanted to write to you at once but never got
the chance. It is avery strenuous time | am having here. But do not
worry.

Y ou remember those two notebooks containing rich treasures
from the Bible and other Christian literature. If they have not taught
you and me to be anxious for nothing and nobody, they have taught
nothing worth learning, for our faith in the living God is to be
measured by the extent of freedom from anxiety of any kind
whatsoever and full faith in God requires an accurate knowledge of
His laws and corresponding obedience thereto. Thisis the sum total of
nature cure. The supreme law, making others superfluous, is heart-
assimilation of Ramanamain every fibre of our being. The truth of
thisis verified in everyday experience.

| note what you say about your suffering and about Dr. Jacob’s
treatment. | hope to be able to learn some day that you have shed all
your illnesses.

Tell Shummy* that he belies the teaching of the Bible which
among our company he seems to know best.

Sardar* must not have any swelling whatsoever. But his
obstinacy is very great.

| have asked you to pay me a brief visit. You might be of some
use in the work that is being done here. That means your sparing a
fortnight at the most. But | do not want you to neglect the duty you
have undertaken, of course with my full consent.

Who told you that | had consented to take some rest? That rest
must certainly come some day. Meantime | am learning day by day,
though little by little, that all work, without any the slightest trace of
anxiety, istrue and living rest.

Jajuji has sent me a copy of your letter about the Secretaryship.

| want you to give me a full and accurate account of the big
tragedy that is going on in the Punjab.

Surely you cannot be called “Her Highness” as Catlin cals

! Shumshere Singh, addressee’ s brother

2 Vallabhbhai Patel
® Shrikrishnadas Jaju, Secretary, A. 1. S. A.
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you.

Lastly about myself. | had an affectionate but mournful visit
from Nathji and Swami Anand. | gave them as much time as | was
capable of giving. Our discussions were full, frank and cordial. Y ou
will have no difficulty in accepting at its face value my statement that
not one of our company knows the full value and implications of
brahmacharya, and that among these ignoramuses | am the least
ignorant and the most experienced. With one solitary exception | have
never looked upon a woman with a lustful eye. | have touched
perhaps thousands upon thousands. But my touch has never carried
the meaning of lustfulness. | have lain with some naked, never with the
intention of having any lustful satisfaction. My touch has been for our
mutual uplift. | would like those who have felt otherwise, if there are
any, truly to testify against me. Even the one solitary instance referred
to by me was never with the intention of despoiling her. Nevertheless
my confession stands that in that case my touch had lustful ness about
it. | was carried away in spite of myself and but for God' s intervention
I might have become a wreck.

My meaning of brahmacharya isthis:

One who never has any lustful intention, who by constant
attendance upon God has become proof against conscious or
unconscious emissions, who is capable of lying naked with naked
women, however beautiful they may be, without being in any manner
whatsoever sexually excited. Such a person should be incapable of
lying, incapable of intending or doing harm to a single man or
woman in the whole world, is free from anger and malice and
detached in the sense of the Bhagavadgita. Such a person is a full
brahmachari. Brahmachari literally means a person who is making
daily and steady progress towards God and whose every act isdonein
pursuance of that end and no other.

You say K.* and N.2 had agreed to withdraw their boycott. From
the letters | have, such is not my impression. Nor did | gather that
impression from N[athji] and S[wami].

Love.

BAPU

From the original: C. W. 3702. Courtesy: Amrit Kaur. Also G. N. 6511

! Kishorelal Mashruwala and Narahari Parikh; vide “ Telegram to Kishorelal G.
Mashruwala’, 9-2-1947
?|bid
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153. LETTER TO NIRMAL KUMAR BOSE!
March 18, 1947

CHI. NIRMAL BABU,

If you must leave today | must not stand between you and your
duty as you conceive it. You made me so used to you that | shall miss
you. Pyarelal | cannot have just now. He must be in his place. If you
leave today, | suppose you have arranged to hand over all papersin
perfect order. The only one who can take charge is Dev.

Y our explanation does not give me satisfaction. But | must not
argue. If you want me to do so, | could do it through correspondence
which perhaps better suits your nature. Of course you are at liberty to
discuss the whole of me and my writings with anybody you like. This
applies equally to the three letters’. | simply drew your attention to
what appeared to be a hasty decision and that too in order to see as
much perfection in you as possible.

“Haste is waste” .*

BAPU'S
blessings
My Days with Gandhi, p. 181
154 LETTER TO JAG PARVESH CHANDAR
PATNA,

March 18, 1947
DEAR JAG PARVESH CHANDAR,

| have tried desperately to overtake your letter received on the
26th ultimo. It is remarkable that you have not dated your letter.*

| did get your book Is Grouping of Provinces Compulsory? and

! Thiswas in reply to the addressee’ s letter written after along discussion with
Gandhiji. For extracts from the letter, vide Appendix V.

2Vide “Letter to Nirmal Kumar Bose”, 17-3-1947; also “Letter to N. K. Bose”,
7-2-1947

® The addressee explains: “At a quarter to three in the afternoon | bade good-
bye to Bapu. . . . He blessed me and said, “Y ou have taken your decision in haste.”

* Thiswasin reply to the addressee’ s undated |etter which read: “Ever since
December 22, 1946 | am confined to bed due to nervous breakdown. All my limbs are
tied with the strings of fear. | am under the treatment of expert doctors but a few words
of advice from you will carry more weight than anything else. Once the late Shri
Mahadev Desai suffered from nervous breakdown and he was under your care. Please do
spare a few minutes and let me know the treatment that Shri Desai underwent.”
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| noticed that you have answered the question in the negative. A
trained lawyer in Nagpur has done likewise.

Mahadev | suppose did not have the same malady that you seem
to have. In any case unless | know more fully | can’t guide you.
Moreover, Mahadev had put himself under an Ayurvedic physician at
that time, staying in bed. Of course he did so with my consent.
Therefore you will see that | cannot appropriate full credit for such
recovery as Mahadev had.

You will seethat | am just now in Bihar for the same cause
which took me to Noakhali which means that | have to attend to two. |
would like you to tell me all about the tragedy that is still going onin
the Punjab. Has your portion of Lahore also been affected?

SHRI JAG PARVESH CHANDAR
8 JBLOCK
MODEL TOWN
LAHORE
From a copy: Pyarelal Papers. Nehru Memorial Museum and Library. Courtesy:
Beladevi Nayyar and Dr. Sushila Nayyar

155. LETTER TO VINODINI

PATNA,
March 18, 1947

CHI. VINODINI?,

How isit that you have still not sent to Chi. Jaisukhlal the letters
regarding Pyarelal? He is perturbed and is drawing unfavourable
conclusions against you both and Pyarelal. Pyare- lal of course has
written to say that all the letters should be sent. What objection can
you have, then? And that, too, when you have to show the letters to
your own father? | would advise you to send the letters immediately to
Jaisukhlal and apologize to him for the delay.

| trust both of you are well.

Blessings from
BAPU
[PS]

For the present | shall have to stay on in Bihar. | shall be touring
the different parts, but the headquarters will be at Patha. Manu is well.
She also is angry with you, but will of course calm down.

BAPU

From amicrofilm of the Gujarati: M.M.U./XXIV

' Daughter of Jaisukhlal Gandhi
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156. LETTER TO JAISUKHLAL GANDHI

PATNA,
March 18, 1947

CHI. JAISUKHLAL,

| got your letter. | have written to Vinodini again.' There must
be some misunderstanding. That she would deliberately withhold the
lettersis not the impression | have of her. However, | have written
quite strongly to her.

Manu is getting on quite well. She wins everybody’s heart by
her spirit of service. | am quite hopeful that her health will become
perfectly normal. She is being treated with my remedies only—earth,
water, ether, fire and air. If Ramanama sinks deep into her heart, it will
be easy enough for her to benefit from these five elements. She is
quite regular, of course, in her lessons.

Y ou need not worry at all regarding Pyarelal. | do not see the
slightest need for Manu to give up her lessons, etc., owing to this.
Manu’s good will be Pyarelal’s good. Manu is firm in this matter.
There will be reason for fear only if | am proved mistaken.

Blessings from
BAPU

From amicrofilm of the Gujarati: M.M.U./XXIV

157. DISCUSSION WITH MUSLIM REFUGEES

MASAURHI,
March 18, 1947

REFUGEES. Please give us an assurance that our lives, property and honour
will be protected.?

GANDHIJ: Efforts are being made in this direction. | shall advise
the Government to hold all the Hindus in avillage responsible for any
harm to its Muslim minority and to punish them strictly according to
law.

R. Securities should be taken from gangsters and influential people in the
locality so that they may not foment riots again.

! Vide the preceding item.
> Most of the houses in Masaurhi were razed to the ground during the riots and
all but 25 out of a population of 1,000 had fled from the village.
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G. Those persons who had led the riots should be held
responsible for law and order in the locality to prevent recurrence of
riots. Asit is not right to hold everyone responsible for the riots, it
would not be right to punish everyone for the riots; nor would it be
easy to do so. But if you can recognize and prove anyone's
participation in the riots, the law will certainly punish him.

R. We should be issued licenses to possess arms for self-protection.

G. It isstrange that | am hearing the same arguments here which
| used to hear in Noakhali. | shall certainly oppose this. | can never
understand why some or all of you should be given arms. Thisis not
the way of creating an atmosphere of friendship. | had told the
Hindus in Noakhali that they could not live there nor could the local
Government protect them if the entire Muslim population was hostile
to them. Should the Government kill 80 per cent of the population to
protect them? No government can do this today. | would like to tell
you that my ways are different. | believe that a man should become
brave but bravery consists not in killing but in getting killed and that
too without hatred for the killer. Muslims were no cowards, but they
are terrified today and that too on account of us—this makes me hang
my head in shame. If my staying here has any meaning, you should
shed your anxiety. | shall not go away till you yourself ask me to go,
and assure me that Hindus and Muslims are living like brothers again.

R. There should be some arrangement so that all Muslims can live together.

G. Thistalk of ‘pockets’ is not new to me. As soon as | arrived
in Bihar, | went to see the leader of the Muslim League, Barrister
Abdul Aziz of Patha. He explained to me everything. Earlier | used to
oppose the idea of ‘ pockets’; but now | understand the logic behind
the demand. | can very well understand that one just cannot stay at a
place where one’s relations and friends have been massacred. Hence if
people want to shift to villages where there is a large number of
Muslims, they can migrate there with mutual consent.

| have advised the Government to build houses for displaced
persons or give them funds for the purpose if they so choose. If you
demand, however, that the Government should provide you
everything, it may not be in a position to do so because it would mean
acquisition of some people’s lands. And this would lead to all sorts of
complications. If there is any vacant piece of land and you can settle
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there, you may certainly do so. A big landlord from North Bihar was
ready to take as many Muslims as would like to stay on his lands. If
you agree | shall writeto him.

R. We should receive compensation for whatever we have |ost.

G. Even the Government would go bankrupt if it agreed to this.
Some people claim they have lost lakhs, some others claim they have
lost crores. How can we evaluate the actual loss? | think the
Government would not be in a position to pay even onefourth of the
claims. It can only provide shelter or give money to enable people to
stand on their own feet. In Noakhali, many weavers and fishermen had
practically nothing to support themselves. There | had suggested that
the local Government should advance them loans which could be
repaid in easy instalments. Money alone has no value. You are al
farmers, a hard working lot. If you take courage in both hands, you
will forget in no time what you have undergone. Moreover a
commission is being set up. Its object is not only to record whatever
has happened, but also to examine the steps that are being taken and
to recommend measures for the future.

R. 50 per cent of us should be taken in the police force.

G. | am totally opposed to such demands. | told Hindus in
Noakhali: “I will not put in aword for a Hindu police officer. Does it
make any sense that an officer is removed just because he is a
Muslim? Of course, he should certainly be removed if he is
inefficient. And after all, the officers are going to carry out only what
the Chief Minister of Bengal, Shaheed Suhrawardy Saheb, wants them
to do. If Shaheed Saheb is good, the officers will be good; but if he
himself is bad, how can they remain good?”

R. The Government or the Congress should pay us compensation or loansin
proportion to the size of our business.

G. The Government should only advance loans and not pay
compensation.

R. Stolen goods are being recovered. This work should be done swiftly and
firmly. Aid should be given to those who want to buy looms and yarn. They should be
given free rations as long as they do not earn enough for their sustenance.

G. All efforts must certainly be made to recover looted property.
To those whose tools and properties have been totally destroyed
Government must provide shelter and foot till they can stand on their

142 THE COLLECTED WORKS OF MAHATMA GANDHI



own feet. But if someone argues that the Government should go on
providing everything free, then that will not be feasible. It will mean
the Government should provide everything free to an exmillionaire
until he starts earning his millions. Thisis aridiculous proposition.

R. Adeguate arrangements should be made for recovering abducted girls.

G. Certainly. Please give the names and addresses of such girlsto
me. | shall immediately try to trace them. Hindus have been writing to
me to let them know even if there is one such girl; and they will move
heaven and earth to recover her.

R. We should have complete freedom to practise our religious rites, as we used
to enjoy before theriots.
G. Certainly, it should be so.

R. The Government should make early and adequate arrangements to repair or
rebuild before the rainy season such houses as were damaged during the riots.

G. Certainly, thiswork should be finished early.

The following decisions taken at the meeting of the refugees were placed
before Gandhiji for his comments:

1. Therelief camps should be situated near police stations instead of inside the
towns. Gandhiji should be requested to depute two special workers for each camp.

G.| agree.

2. We shall, besides Government help, raise volunteers with the cooperation
of Hindus for our protection, clearing of our houses and so on.

G. Right.

3. Panchayats will be formed which will perform such functions as scotching
false rumours, settling internal disputes, returning mortgages and striving to recover
stolen goods and so on.

G. Formation of panchayats is welcome. If people cooperate
among themselves, | shall help them in every possible way.

4. The loans for relief should be advanced in a spirit of mutual help.

G. Right.

5. Women volunteers should also be recruited from among the Muslims as well

as Hindus and they should, in addition to other work, strive to recover abducted
women.

G. Right.

6. After constructing the houses, essential things like utensils, cots, small
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tables, etc., should also be provided.
G. Right.

7. Licences for arms should be issued on the recommendations of the
panchayat. They should not be issued to persons who do not need them or who want
them for sport.

G. That’sright.

[From Urdu]
Gandhijike Dukhe Dilki Pukar—11, pp. 4-9

158. SPEECH AT PRAYER MEETING

BIR,
March 18, 1947

| saw today the wreckage caused by us at Masaurhi. | had read
in newspapers the Muslims League version of the happenings at
Masaurhi, and | confess that | thought the version was grossly
exaggerated. | did not believe that man could be so depraved or that
Biharis could stoop so low. But today | withessed it with my own eyes.
When Muslims fled you either looted their property or destroyed it.
They had not harmed you in any way. | have come here with the
resolve or serving the Muslims. | am a servant of God and therefore
consider it my duty to serve all human beings.

It is very unfortunate that our hearts have not yet been cleansed.
I concede that the Muslims behaved very viciously in Calcutta and
Noakhali. But how can that be avenged in Bihar? It was a very wrong
decision to observe a Noakhali Day here.* Had | known it, | would
never have allowed such an observance in Bihar. | am very sorry that
my name was falsely dragged into this affair and | was maligned.

My statements were presented to the public in a twisted and
distorted form. When Pandit Jawaharla Nehru constituted the
Provisional Government at Delhi,? people wished to celebrate the
occasion like Diwali. When | heard this, | said we should do no such
thing because Jawaharlal and his colleagues had put on a crown of
thorns.®* The Muslim League had not joined the Government and it
was a pity that riots had broken out in Noakhali. But my statement was

1 On October 25, 1946

% On September 2, 1946
® Vide “ Speech at Prayer Meeting”, 2-9-1946
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distorted and people were told that Gandhi wanted them to observe a
Noakhali Day. | had never even dreamt of this. And when the
Noakhali Day was observed, people were so much excited that they
thought they were expected to settle the Noakhali scores with the
Muslims.

Hindus and Muslims used to live here as good neighbours. They
had mutual love and affection. They might have quarrelled
occasionaly, but that did not affect their relations. They used to
become friends again soon. It is an altogether different story now.
Today celebration of any Day leads to fratricide. | have said that this
must not happen while | am alive. | can never be a witness to
fratricide. If this thing is repeated in Bihar | shall perish in that
conflagration. | have heard that the Muslims here are panicstricken
over the Punjab Day to be observed on the 23rd. | hope thisis afalse
alarm. | assert that we must not observe a Punjab Day. If we do this, it
will lead to dreadful consequences. The freedom of our country will
become a distant dream. | pray to God that He must never let me live
to witness that day. | am awakening the whole of Bihar through these
words addressed to you.

While | was coming to the village of Bir, the residents of two
villages stopped me on the way and handed over to me two letters.
The first letter was addressed jointly by the Hindus and Muslims of
Sain. They also contributed Rs. 55 for the relief of distressed Muslims
in Bihar. | wish to read out to you their letter. They write:

We the residents of Sain are pained to see you in anguish which has
been caused by our foolishness. We are extremely sorry for what has
happened. Here, however, we Hindus and Muslims lived like brothers despite
the prevailing lawlessness and we are happy and proud to tell you that we are
living as brothers even today. We seek your blessings that we may continue to
livein love and affection.

The other letter was given to me by the residents of Barni. They
write:

When the riots were going on all around we formed a peace committee.
No one was harmed here and no disturbance was caused in our area. Thereis
absolutely no difference between Hindus and Muslims. We are working on the
same lines even today, and we assure you that we will always continue to live
like brothers.
The residents of this village also were not involved in any riot;
and yet they are feeling sorry. This has made me very happy.
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Some of our Muslim brothers have said that they are afraid of
returning to their homes. Thieves and dacoits have carried away their
goods. According to me, even the thieves and dacoits are our brothers.
It would be ideal if they gave up their profession. But if that is not
possible, they should at any rate not rob the innocent people whom we
have beaten away from their homes.

Now you should contribute as much as you can for the relief of
the Muslims in distress. | cannot collect the donations myself, because
that exhausts me, besides | shall have to work during the night also.
Volunteers are going round for collection. Please donate the
maximum amount you can and thereby earn the merit for it and at the
same time atone for your sins.

[From Urdu]

Gandhijike Dukhe Dilki Pukar—I1, pp. 10-2

159. TELEGRAM TO SATISCHANDRA DAS GUPTA

PATNA,
[March 19, 1947]*

SATISCHANDRA DASGUPTA
KAZIRKHIL
RAMGANJ
IF YOU CAN SPARE  BISEN? AND IF HE WISHES HE CAN
JOIN ME PATNA IMMEDIATELY.

GANDHI

From a photostat: G. N. 7713
160. LETTER TO NIRMAL KUMAR BOSE
BIR,

March 19, 1947

CHI. NIRMAL BABU,

Now that you are gone, | must say | did not like your abrupt
departure. Manu was disturbed and Y asked if she had been the cause
of your sudden departure. | told her | did not think so; but there was
an uncertain ring about my ‘no’. If you went without any other cause

! From the reference to the telegram in the letter to the addressee; vide p. 128.
? Shiv Balak Bisen
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than the call from the University,* | have nothing to say.

What is Freudian philosophy? | have not read any writing of his.
One friend, himself a professor and follower of Freud, discussed his
writings for a brief moment. Y ou are the second.

| do not want to emphasize my impression? that you jump to
hasty conclusions. Y ou ought to know the three more fully. You are
not just to them.

Have you in the light of my letter® and discussion accepted my
position that | am not guilty of modernity? If you hold on to the view
you have expressed in your letter* to K. you owe it to me to explain
your standpoint and enable me to understand myself more fully than
| do.

Blessings from
BAPU
My Days with Gandhi, p. 183

161. DISCUSSION WITH CONGRESS WORKERS

BIR,
March 19, 1947

Shah Uzair Munimi, President of the District Congress Committee, described
the devastation in Patna district. According to him the district of Patna was the worst-
hit in Bihar. After listening to his report, Gandhiji said:

What should we do now? Have you thought of something?

Shah Saheb replied that if they could get even afew honest men, things could
be set right. Thereupon Gandhiji asked:

Isitorisn'tit afact that quite alarge number of Congressmen
took part in the disturbances? | ask this question because people are
making this allegation. But the Congressmen assembled here can
themselves tell the truth. How many of the 132 members of your
Committee were involved? It would be a very great thing if all of you
assert that none of you was involved. But this assertion cannot be
made. These 132 are supposed to be the elected representatives of the
people. But | learn there is alot of fraud involved in this. There are
many in the Congress who register bogus members by paying four

! As stated by the addressee in his letter dated March 18; vide Appendix V.
2 Vide “ Letter to Nirmal Kumar Bose”, 18-3-1947

% Vide” Letter to Nirmal Kumar Bose”, 17-3-1947

“Vide “N. K. Bose's Letter to Kedar Nath and Others’, 16-3-1947

® This was held in the morning.
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annas from their own pockets and thus become elected
representatives. | have also worked in the Congress. Today | am not
even a fouranna member. But there was a time when | was a member
of the Working Committee and | was virtually all in al. Hence | know
the Congress inside out. This Police Station has jurisdiction over 300
villages which have elected 132 representatives. They can do
substantial work if they so choose.

| wish to ask you, how could you live to see an old woman of
110 years being butchered before your eyes? How could you tolerate
it? | do not wish to talk about anything else. | have vowed to do or
die. I will not rest nor let others rest. | would wander all over on foot
and ask the skeletons lying about how all that had happened. Thereis
such afireraging in me that | would know no peace till | have found
asolution for al this. You know what happened when | reached
Sodepur*. | had not gone there for rest. Hence | left for Kazirkhil and
Chaumuhani. Chaumuhani is a big Station. What was the use of
waiting there? Kazirkhil had been devastated. But the station-master
there had transformed it into some sort of an ashram. So | requested
him to take me to some place where there were no amenities. Hence |
proceeded to Srirampur?. It was a predominantly Muslim area with
only a sprinkling of Hindu houses which had been burnt down. The
Muslims welcomed me. Even then | hurried from there and wandered
from village to village. | am afraid | will have to go through the same
ordeal in Bihar. If | find that my comrades are deceiving me, | will be
furious and | shall walk barefoot on and on through hail or storm. |
would throw away the soft seat and other amenities which you have
offered me. After all, it was in Bihar that | had renounced similar
comforts earlier. When | came to Champaran in 1917, though
Rajendra Babu and other leaders were my friends, they used to have
their meals in separate kitchens. | asked them why we should eat
separately when we were all engaged in rendering service. Then | set
up a common kitchen. My wife Kasturba, Mahadev Desai’'s wife
Durgabehn, and Narahari Bhai’s* Manibehn all of them together used
to cook and all of us had our meals together. | would never get more
loyal and hearty co-operation in the whole world than what | got from
Rajendra Babu, Brijkishore Babu, Janak Babu, Dharani Babu and
Gorakh Babu. As a result of this there was a transformation in
Champaran. The British indigo planters lost their hold. But | am told
the Indian planters today have become even more powerful. The
lesson we learnt in Champaran was the result of the hardships

» On October 29, 1946
2 0On November 20, 1946
® Narahari Parikh
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undergone by the people of Bihar. Without them | could not be what |
am nor could my achievements be worth much. | am a bird of
passage. God has not allowed me to stay at one place. We have to
work in the same spirit today with which Brijkishore Babu had
worked. Today | do not find that honesty or loyalty. | once again
appeal to you to work only if you can do so truthfully. My words
may sound harsh, but you must realize that even if you forsake me, |
shall not leave Bihar. It is difficult to force me out of Bihar. During
the Champaran satyagraha, the Commissioner of Tirhut notified me
that |, being an outsider, should leave the area.* | told Brijkishore
Babu and Rajendra Babu that | wished to challenge the Government
and that they would have to give up their legal profession and become
my clerks or interpretersif they decided to back me up. | gave them a
night’s time to think it over. Rajendra Babu had been offered a
judicial post. But the next morning itself he and Brijkishore Babu
announced that they had decided to give up their legal practice and to
become my clerks and interpreters. The Bihar of today is the result of
the transformation of their hearts. It is now for you to decide whether
| should go in the car or travel on foot. Of course | prefer walking.
When Muslims in Noakhali taunted me to go to Bihar, | used to feel
hurt. Some Muslims look upon me as an enemy of Islam. Some
people expressed doubts whether | could achieve what | wanted to in
Noakhali. But | had no doubts. Even today | believe that | can work
for Noakhali and the whole of India from Bihar. The non-violent
fight which |1 had launched against injustice and oppression in
Champaran had sent new life pulsating throughout India. The work in
Bihar thistimeis far more difficult and significant. Thistime it seems
I will have to strive to the utmost to prove that Hinduism and Islam
can exist side by side. Thisis being put to test today. Many people
believe that they cannot and one will have to remain subordinate to
the other. | do not think so. If the Hindu Mahasabha insists that
Muslims should remain subordinate to Hindus or if the Muslim
L eague insists that Hindus should subordinate themselves to Muslims,
this will not do. No one need live as subordinate to another. All have
to live together as equals. Even Jinnah Saheb has now declared that
the minorities will be shown greater consideration in regions where
Muslims constitute the majority.

Q. All people lived like brothers in Bihar before the trouble started in Bengal.
Later on Noakhali turned everyone’'s head. The events in the Punjab are also casting
their shadows. It is necessary that we go and live among the people to prevent the
outside evil influence from spreading and to maintain cordial relations. But today

' Vide “Letter to District Magistrate, Champaran”, 16-4-1917 and Appendix
“N. K. Bose's Letter to Kedar Nath and Others’, 16-3-1947
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many Congressmen do not wish to serve the people; they want power for themselves.
They join the Congress for their own selfish ends and indulge in intrigue and
